FINAL REPORT ofthe STATE
CAPITOL COMMISSION

TO THE GOVERNOR AND THE FIFTIETH GENERAL
ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

CONTAINING A HISTORY OF THE CONSTRUCTION AND FURNISHINGS OF
THE STATE CAPITOL BUILDING

STONE CARVING ON GRAND STAIRWAY

Together With a Summary Statement of the Cost of the Building, Grounds and Furnishings and a
Detailed Report of the Expenditures for the Biennial Period Ending December 31, 1918.



Resolved, that the report of the State Capitol Commission Board be included as a mseparate
Appendix to the Journals of the Legislature and that 5,000 additional copies, illustrated, be printed for
general distribution.

R. E. L. MARRS, Secretary.
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HISTORICAL:

The first seat of government of Missouri pending its admission into
the Union was located in St. Louis in 1820, and the first building occupied
in that city as a state capitol was the Mansion House on the northeast
corner of Third and Vine Streets. In it was held the convention which
framed the constitution for the prospective state.

The second state capitol building was the Missouri Hotel on the
southwest corner of Main and Morgan Streets, St. Louis. It consisted of
three stories and a basement. It was used as a capitol from September,
1820, until June, 1821. In this structure the first legislature was held, the
first election returns for governor were canvassed and the first two United
States Senators were elected.

During this session of the legislature a bill was passed locating the
temporary seat of government at St. Charles until 1826, and a special
session of the legislature was held in that city in June, 1821. A brick
building was erected. It was two stories, twenty by thirty feet and with a
saddle back roof.

In 1826 the permanent capitol was located in Jefferson City. It was
provided that the building should be suitable for the residence of the
Governor, and that it should contain also two large rooms, with two
fireplaces, the one on the first floor for the House, and on the second floor
for the Senate. The structure was to serve as the fourth capitol, and was to
cost not to exceed $25,000. In 1825, the sum of $18,573 was appropriated
to its construction. It burned in 1837.

A new capitol building was finished in 1840. It cost S350.- 000. It was
85x192 feet, had two stories and a basement and a dome one hundred and
thirty feet high. It was said to have been one of the three handsomest public
buildings in the United States at that time. It was enlarged in 1888 by the
addition of two wings each seventy-six by one hundred and nine feet and
the dome was increased to 185 feet high, all at the total cost of $220,000. It
burned February 5, 1911. Its floor space was about 50,000 square feet. The
new building which has just been finished has a floor space in its five
stories of 500,000 square feet, or ten times that of the old one, and has cost
over six times as much, or $3,600,000, outside of the grounds and
furnishing. But the new building is much more substantial in construction
and ornate in architecture.
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THE STORY OF THE NEW STATE CAPITOL.

On the evening of February 5, 1911, a flash of lightning struck the
dome of the state capitol, and although the fire at first was no larger than a
man’s hand, within an hour the building was inflames, and despite all
efforts to arrest them the structure, with most of its contents, was swiftly
consumed, leaving only the walls standing.

The Forty-sixth General Assembly, being then in session, passed an
act authorizing the issuance of $3,500,000 of bonds, of which $3,000,000
and interest were to be used in the erection of a new building, and as much
as was necessary of $300,000 in furnishing the same, and $200,000 for the
purchasing of additional grounds. The proposition was submitted to a vote
of the people at a special election held August 1, 1911, and was ratified by
a vote of 144,664 for to 45,468 against.

The State Capitol Commission Board.

In accordance with this act, approved March 24, 1911, the board of
the permanent seat of government, consisting of Herbert S. Hadley,
Governor; Cornelius Roach, Secretary of State; James Cowgill, State
Treasurer, and John P. Gordon, State Auditor, appointed a bi-partisan State
Capitol Commission Board, consisting of E. W. Stephens, Columbia, and
J. C. A. Hiller Glencoe, Democrats; and A. A. Speer, Chamois, and
Theodore LacafT, Nevada, Republicans. The duties of the commission
were to purchase additional ground, to let all contracts for the construction
of the building and to superintend its erection. The commission met on
October 6, 1911, and organized by electing
E. W. Stephens Chairman and A. A.. Speer Vice-Chairman. On
November 3, 1911, J. Kelly Pool, Democrat, of Centralia, was elected
Secretary and on December 13, 1911, L. Baylor Pendleton of St. Louis was
made advisory architect, and on April 12, 1912, Roy T. Davis of Ewing,
assistant secretary. On April 29, 1912, John T. Short, of Jefferson City,
was elected superintendent of construction. J. K. Pool resigned as Secretary
in the spring of 1917, and Edwin S. Austin, Republican, of Jefferson City
was chosen to succeed him. In 1918 John T. Short resigned
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as superintendent and Louis Landman of Jefferson City was elected to the
vacancy.

Additional Grounds.

Under the law authorizing the construction of the new capitol it was
provided that it should occupy the site of the old one. The General
Assembly obtained an option at $190,000 on a block and a half of ground
south of the old structure to be added to the campus. One of the first acts of
the commission was to purchase these additional grounds, at an outlay of
$171,- 150, or $18,850 less than the optional price. The Board felt that
additional grounds were needed for the site of a power house. Therefore,
out of the $18,850 saved upon the grounds already purchased they
expended $17,700 for a tract 330x250 feet west of the old grounds, the two
tracts south and west thus costing $188,850, or $1,150 less than the option
obtained by the General Assembly upon the southern site alone.

By this purchase the capitol campus was more than doubled in size, a
fine front yard was secured and not only a space obtained for the power
house, but the encroachments of factories upon the west side obviated. The
grounds when thus enlarged comprise about seventeen acres.

Temporary Capitol.

Pending the erection of the present building there was provided a
temporary capitol building which was built in 1912, at a cost of $51,000,
being a special appropriation by the General Assembly. It fronted east and
stood upon the state capitol grounds east of the new capitol. It was
constructed of stucco and was torn down in 1917.

Delayed by Failure to Sell Bonds.

The Board suffered considerable delay in proceeding with its work by
the inability of the Board of Fund Commissioners to market the bonds at
the low rate of 3 1-2 per cent interest, at which they were issued. In order to
sell them it became necessary for a refunding act to be passed by the
legislature and for commissions finally reaching $153,000 to be paid for
that purpose.

These commissions were paid out of the Capitol Building
F. und. But the General Assembly afterwards reimbursed the
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ARCH OF LEGISLATIVE LIBRARY

fund to the extent of $133,000, and also with the interest upon the
undelivered bonds. The sum of $20,000 yet remains to be
returned, but we hope will be.

Visits to Other States and to Quarries.

The commissioners visited, as the law required, other cap-
itols, including those of Arkansas, Mississippi, Kentucky, lowa.
Minnesota, Wisconsin, Indiana, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island,
Ohio, New York, Massachusetts and Illinois with the view of
obtaining information as to planning and building. They also, as
the law provided, visited the principal stone quarries of the slate
in order to post themselves as to the best quality of stone.

Selection of Architects.

The law directed that the plans should be obtained by a
competitive architectural contest. This contest was held under the
rules of the American Institute of Architects. There were two
competitions, one preliminary, in which there were sixty- eight
competitors. From these were selected ten competitors and from
these ten the architect of the building was chosen.
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The last contest was anonymous. In each lhe Board was assisted by a jury
of eminent architects, and in both decisions Ihe conclusions of the Board
were in conformity with the findings of the juries, and were unanimous.
The final choice fell to Tracy & Swartwout of New York City, who were
chosen on October 6, 1912. They were paid a fee of six per cent
commission which finally aggregated over $200,000.

While this sum seemed large, yet the very low price at which the
building has been constructed, the lowest of any state capitol of equal size
and construction, has been due in no small degree to the skill and efficiency
of the architects. The price paid is the scale fixed by the American Institute
of Architects, comprising over eighty-five per cent of the architects of the
country, and includes in addition to the fees of the architects those of the
mechanical and structural engineers. The originality of the design, the
economy and skillful arrangement of space, the modern conveniences and
the classic and beautiful architecture are largely the results of the genius
and fidelity with which the architects did their work.

Breaking of Ground and Contracts for Building.

On May 6, 1913, the ceremonies of the breaking of the ground were
held upon the site of the structure. E. W. Stephens, Chairman of the
Commission, presided. Speeches were made by Governor Elliott W. Major,
Judges W. W. Graves and Henry Lamm of the Supreme Court, Attorney-
General John T. Barker, Secretary of State Cornelius Roach, State Auditor
John P. Gordon, Representative A. T. Dumm, Senator Allee and A. A.
Speer of the Capitol Commission Board. The first spade full of dirt was
thrown by Commissioner Theodore LacafT and the spade with which he
did the work was handed him by Commissioner J. C. A. Hiller.

The contract for the foundation was let to T. H. Johnson & Sons of
Sedalia on April 21, 1913, for $91,321, which was afterwards increased to
over $100,000 on account of extras. There were fourteen competitors, the
highest bid being $170,653.

The contract for the power house was let on August 16, 1913, to A.
Anderson & Co. of St. Louis County for $42,495, which was afterwards
increased by additions to $46,000. The highest bid was $85,382.
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The foundation was completed in 1913, and the power house early in
the spring of 1914.

The contract for the superstructure was let November 18, 1913, to
John Gill & Sons Company, Cleveland, Ohio, for a total of $2,710,200,
including alternates. There were six bids, the highest being over three
million dollars. By the addition of extras the cost of the superstructure was
increased to $2,944,409.

The Stone and Contractor.

By an unfortunate controversy over the quality of stone to be used, a
delay of nearly a year was caused. But all differences were finally adjusted
without prejudice or loss to the state or injustice to the contractor, who, we
are pleased to state, did his work in a highly efficient and creditable
manner. The stone used both in the exterior and interior was Burlington
limestone from the quarries at Carthage, Missouri, with the exception of the
interior of the third or legislative floor, which was from Phenix Quarry,
Greene County, Missouri.

Laying of the Corner Stone.

The laying of the corner stone was with appropriate ceremonies
conducted by the Grand Lodge of Missouri A. F. and A. M. on June 24,
1915. Addresses were delivered by Grand Commander Cotton, Governor
Elliott W. Major, Judge Henry Lamm, and others; and in addition to the
Masonic fraternities present there was a large attendance of citizens of the
state. E. W. Stephens, Chairman of the Capitol Commission Board,
presided. A procession, led by several bands, in which state officials,
Masons and citizens joined, marched from the corner of Madison and Main
Streets east to Monroe, south to High, west to Broadway and north to the
capitol grounds. One of the features of the ceremonies was the depositing
by A. A. Speer, Vice-Chairman of the Commission Board, of many public
documents into a copper sealed box which, by the Masons, was placed in
the corner stone, and the fact was afterwards inscribed upon the stone.

Delayed by Stone Controversy.

By the terms of the contract the superstructure of the building was to
be completed July 1, 1916, and it would have
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been finished by that time but for the controversy over stone. It was
practically finished by July 1, 1917, and in September of that year the
contractor was paid in full, except some money reserved to complete
certain sub-contracts and to remedy defects caused by salt stains in the
stone. These stains were caused in December, 1915, by salt being placed,
without the authority of the Board, in the lewis holes, upon a theory that it
would prevent the water from freezing and cracking the stone.

Length of Time in Building.

A building of this magnitude, beauty and importance must necessarily
rise slowly. We know of no state capitol building of equal size and value
that has been finished in so short a period. The state of lowa was 9 years in
building her capitol; Minnesota 13 years; Wisconsin 12 years; Arkansas 14
years; Illinois 21 years; New York 33 years.

But we feel assured that not one of these, nor any other state has
gotten more for the money expended.

The Board, with pardonable pride, directs attention to the fact that the
building, including the furnishings and terraces and all necessary
equipment, has been finished within the appropriation voted by the people,
and that it could not be duplicated for double the amount at this day. The
work was done at unusually low cost at the time, most of the large
contractors it is claimed losing money on their investments.

The Terrace.

In May, 1917, the Board let a contract to Pope & Kersting of
Jefferson City for a concrete terrace in the sum of $133,000, having
previously let a contract to Mr. Joseph Pope for the lower bank of steps on
the front portico aggregating some $23,000. This terrace was finally
finished in September, 1918, and is one of the most attractive features of
the building.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE BUILDING.

The new capitol building occupies the grounds upon which stood the
old building, the exact location being a little south of the former structure.
The site is commanding, overlooking the Missouri river for many miles and
a wide expanse of lansdcape of wonderful beauty. No state capitol is more
finely situated. It is sufficiently removed from the railroad tracks, which
skirt the river in front of it, to avoid the noise and smoke which were a
great annoyance to the occupants of the old building.

The landscape scheme of the architects provides ramps extending
from the building to the railroad tracks and a viaduct or arcade over these
tracks and for the descent by steps to the river. The appropriation made by
the state was not sufficient to permit the construction of this striking and
beautiful improvement. By all means it should be built at no distant day.
When completed it will not only fully protect the building from the noise
apd smoke of passing trains, but it will be the most unique and attractive
feature of any capitol building in the world. The grounds upon which the
building stands cover seventeen acres. The only other structure upon them
is a power house of handsome design and architecture.

The Exterior and Location.

The building is an imposing symmetrical structure of the Roman
renaissance style of architecture, surmounted by a dome of unusual beauty
and has practically four fronts, the northern front being upon the Missouri
River and the southern or main front upon High Street. Its longitudinal axis
is Main Street and the terrace approaches upon the east and west ends give
it the appearance of fronting that street from its two ends.

It stands opposite the Supreme Court building, its north and south
axis running through the center of that structure. The facade effect from all
sides is strikingly beautiful.

It is constructed upon the exterior of Carthage Missouri stone, a pure
white crystallized limestone marble of hard and enduring texture. Engaged
fluted columns constitute the exterior of its walls, while noble free-standing
fluted columns surmount it$ north and south porticos and its eastern and
western fronts.
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It is surrounded by a beautiful concrete terrace twelve feet wide and
extending almost entirely around the building. The wide esplanade is
enclosed with a handsome balustrade and is finely lighted. The walls of the
terrace are bush-hammered in fine imitation of stone.

Foundation and Dimensions.

The building stands upon 285 concrete piers of varying sizes, which
extend to solid rock at depths ranging from twenty to fifty feet. It is 437
feet long by 200 feet wide in the wings and 300 feet through the center. It
is 88 feet from the floor of the basement to the top of the exterior wall and
262 feet from the basement floor and 400 feet from the Missouri river level
to the apex of the dome.

It has four stories besides the basement, of heights as follows:
basement, 13 1-2 feet; first floor, 17 feet; second floor, 18 feet; third floor,
12 feet; fourth floor, 10 2-3 feet.

The building covers approximately three acres, has nearly
500,0 feet of floor space and its dimensions are 9,000,000 cubic feet. It
cost, exclusive of grounds and furnishings, $3,600,000 or about 40 cents
per cubic foot.

Deducting architectural, administrative, and incidental expenses the
actual cost of mechanical construction did not exceed $3,200,000 or thirty-
five cents per cubic foot.

Some of Its Parts in Detail.

As conveying some idea of its magnitude and the material that went
into it, the following figures may be of interest:

The frame work is of steel of which there are 5,200 tons which cost
the state $354,448.73. At this time, if this steel could be obtained at all,
which is improbable, it would cost three times that amount.

There are 240,000 cubic feet of stone in the building. There are
70,000 cubic feet upon the interior. The total cost of the stone was
$774,900. The contractor estimates it would cost over $250,000 in excess
of this amount at this time.

The number of brick in the structure is 4,650,000, costing
$125,136.84.

The heating, plumbing and ventilation cost $276,838; the plastering,
$163,980, and the painting, $16,763. There were
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PART OF MAIN ROTUNDA

30,876 barrels of cement used in the superstructure and 12,500
barrels of cement and 9,000 cubic yards of crushed stone in the
basement.

The number of square feet of polished plate glass is 17,372,
of emery ground glass 8,379 and of colored cathedral glass 5,715.

The diameter of the dome at its greatest dimension is 104
feet, and there are thirty two colums around drum of dome three
feet in diameter and 24 feet high.

The height of the shell of dome and lantern is 90 feet and the
diameter of shell is 78 feet. There are sixteen highly carved
panels around drum of dome, five feet high by nine feet wide.

There are three hundred feet of sculptural frieze work eight
and nine feet high in front and rear porticos. There are 24,000
cubic feet in carving.

There are 47 stones that contain from 100 to 326 cubic feet
each.

There are 1,400 feet of dentil course around the building and
90,0 cubic feet of special moulding.

There are 200 carved medallions on rear and front porticos.

There are ninety thousand cubic feet of special moulding.

15
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There are two pent houses over Senate and House, respectively. Their
large cathedral glass windows from three sides send a flood of mellow
light into those chambers.

There are reentrant angle pylons at the four corners of the exterior of
the building.

There are twelve monoliths in lantern of dome nine feet high by
eighteen inches in diameter.

The ceilings of the porticos and dome are highly decorated in
ornamental plaster.

There are one hundred and thirty-four colums in the entire building.
Of these there are six on the rear portico, forty-eight feet high and eight
upon the front portico, forty-eight feet high, the diameter of the columns
upon both porticos being four feet eight and a half inches. They are
surmounted by Corinthian capitals seven feet two inches wide by five feet
three inches high.

There are thirty-two engaged columns, forty feet high, and twenty
free-standing columns in end wings. One-fourth of all the stone in the
structure is in columns.

The steps of the main entrance are 120 feet at the greatest length.

The number of car loads of stone in the exterior was 721 and in the
interior 44.

The exterior rooms and legislative halls and dome are flooded with
light from windows.

Striking Features.

The outlines of the building are classic and symmetrical to a high
degree. The beautiful fluted columns, free and engaged, entirely
surrounding the structure, give the appearance of a Grecian temple erected
in the halcyon days of ancient architecture.

The dome is one of unsurpassed beauty. The architect has devoted
much study to this feature and has achieved a glorious success. The carving
upon its exterior is exquisite. Not only is it in size and contour and finish in
fine harmony with the building, but when burnished by the rays of the
morning or evening sun, or better still when its background is a mass of
storm clouds, it is a picture of peerless grandeur. No American capitol has
a dome which excels or equals it. Every detail of it is of purest architectural

design.
id
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By a system of searchlights which are thrown upon it from the outside,
it can be seen for many miles and stands out in the darkness in vivid and
startling effect.

The feature of accessibility has had special attention. There are
entrances to the basement from three sides, to the first floor from four sides,
and to the second floor from two sides. Automobiles and other vehicles can
reach the basement from the east, and the first floor by a porte cochere. In
addition to the six elevators are two stairways from the basement, eight
from the first floor, and four from the second and third floors, besides the
grand stairway.

A whispering gallery in the dome more fully described by the architect
elsewhere, the only one in any building scientifically schemed, is one of the
unique and interesting features.

An equipment of fire and burglar proof vaults is provided for all the
principal offices and there are many storage rooms.

All the doors are mahogany, substantially constructed and provided
with substantial and ornamental locks and hinges and surmounted with
transoms of ground plate glass.

The walls of the rotunda and the corridors and vestibules of the first,
second and third floors and of the grand stairway are lined with Carthage
and Phenix marble. The floors of all the corridors, rotundas and all the
treads of the stairways are of solid Carthage marble, which makes as
attractive an interior as it does an exterior finish.

The heavy overhanging arches in and around the rotundas, and the
numerous piers encased in marble give an appearance of massiveness and
strength in contrast with the columns usually to be found in similar places
in public buildings.

The windows are large and of plate glass, so hung as to be easily
elevated or lowered.

A merit of the building that must not be overlooked is that it is
fireproof, and is built with a strength and solidity that will render it
impregnable to injury or destruction by any natural cause short of an
earthquake.

Basement and Other Features.

Although the law did not so require, the Board added a basement to
the plans, at an extra cost of fully $200,000, as they deemed it necessary not
only for purposes of storage, additional room and for the placing of the
various heating and ventilating

17
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pipes and machinery, but also in order to elevate the building to a height to
make it commanding and in correspondence with its environments. This
basement, which covers nearly three acres, is underlaid with a cement floor
and is the finest basement of any state capitol in the country. There is an
entrance from Main street on the east into which automobiles or freight
wagons may be driven and from which all parts of the building may be
reached by elevators. A similar entrance, if needed, can be provided on the
west. A large door wide enough to admit vehicles has been placed in the
west and steps built for pedestrians. With small expense a driveway can be
provided.

Between the engaged fluted colums which enclose the building are
plate glass windows extending from the ceiling to the floor which afford an
abundance of light and ventilation to the offices which have a uniform depth
of 26 feet with varying widths and all of which line the exterior and are
lighted from the outside. There are no inside offices, all the space upon the
inside being used either for storage rooms or toilets or corridors, stairways,
legislative assembly rooms, museums and rotunda.

There are circulating corridors twelve feet wide on every floor
extending alike entirely around all the stories and lighted externally at each
end, or internally from ground glass partitions in adjoining rooms.

All the glass, except the cathedral, is plate whether ground or
transparent.

Rotunda and Museums.

The rotunda is sixty-eight feet in diameter. It is noble in proportions, is
finely lighted in the day time by a series of twelve windows and adjacent
corridors and at night by standards and a magnificent chandelier. Leading to
it upon the first floor from either side east and west are two corridors 60 feet
wide by 112 feet long, extending upwards through two stories, the ceilings
being 40 feet. These are fine monumental features, purely original with this
building, and the purpose is to use one as a Historic and the other as a
Resources museum, in which may be displayed the history and resources
natural and artificial of the state in such manner as may be hereafter
determined. It is to be hoped that future general assemblies and executive
officials will appreciate the opportuniges these spaces will afford
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CAPITALS OF COLUMNS, MAIN ROTUNDA

for exploiting the history and the wealth of the state. They are
immediately under the House and Senate chambers. This space,
usually occupied by store rooms and left in darkness, is thus
utilized for monumental purposes.

Between the rotunda and either museum supporting the
bridges and arches are four large red granite columns eight in all,
from Graniteville, Missouri. All the other columns, except those
in the House and Senate, are of either Phenix or Carthage stone.

In the center of the rotunda upon the floor is a large seal of
the state, wrought in bronze.

There are six elevators from the basement to the roof, and
also a system of drinking fountains supplied with water cooled by
a refrigerating plant located in the basement.

There are seventy-two time clocks in the corridors and the
principal rooms.

Water, Heating and Ventilation.

Hot and cold water is carried to every floor and lavatory and
the building is supplied on every floor with many public and
private toilets.

10
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The building is heated by steam from a power house located four
hundred feet distant. This power house is built of limestone and concrete, is
94x72 feet in size and is 34 feet high. It has five large boilers equipped
with smoke consuming stokers and has a full equipment of dynamos,
pumps and engines to adequately heat and light the capitol and Supreme
Court buildings and Governor’s mansion at all times and have ample
reserve machinery left in case of breakage or other accident.

Provisions for ventilation of the main building have been made
through large fans in the basement. The general offices have direct
radiation through radiators which are concealed in the walls: the large
assembly rooms have indirect radiation with air washing system.

The power house is connected with the railroad track by a coal pocket
100 feet long and with the building by a tunnel 380 feet long and 7x7 feet
in size.

There is a complete system of vacuum cleaners, by which at a
minimum expense it will be possible to keep the entire structure in a
cleanly and dustless condition at all times.

There is a telephone and electric lighting system extending to all the
rooms and corridors and also interphones in the larger departments.

Planned by Eminent Engineers.

The mechanical equipment and its structural work were planned under
the direction of the architect by two of the most reputable and capable
engineering firms in the country, the mechanical equipment by R. D.
Kimball & Son and the structural engineering work by Aus & Company,
both of New York.

The Carving.

Special attention should be called to the handsome carving of the
stone work which cost the state $75,000 and which the contractor says cost
him $48,000 more. The carvings of the capitals of the exterior columns are
especially fine. There are also beautiful carvings over the doors of the
Governor’s reception room and upon the walls near the Grand Stairway.

Grand Stairway and Front Door.

Probably the most monumental feature of the building is the grand
stairway 30 feet wide, which starts at the entrance from the
20
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front portico and extends to the third or legislative floor. It is lighted from
above by a splendid cathedral skylight the most decorative feature of the
structure and is lined on either side by large columns of Phenix stone or
Napoleon gray marble. It is over sixty-five feet from the wall on one side to
the wall across the stairway to the other side. This is said to be the widest
stairway in the world. At the entrance stands the bronze front door 13x18
feet in size, said to be the largest since the Roman era. From this door and
from the portico in front it is possible to see into the dome. This is a
splendid monumental feature without parallel in any other public bidlding.
This mammoth door, with two adjacent bronze doors, cost §15,000. The
view of the Legislative Library across the rotunda and the golden light
which filters through the glass in the ceiling of the library is a specially
beautiful feature. The architect has wrought a wonderful effect here. It is 65
feet from the foot of this grand stairway to the ceiling.

How the Different Stories are Utilized.

The four stories above the basement have been planned in such
manner as to best conserve the efficiency and convenience of the public
service. Those offices which bear closest relation, or which involve
corresponding or co-ordinate duties, are placed in proximity to each other.

First Floor.

The custodian of the building, the Fish and Game, Utilities,
Insurance, Banking and Library Commissions and the Labor Bureau and
Coal Oil Inspector occupy the first floor. On this floor, fronting the river, a
dining room and kitchen with full equipment have been provided, such as
are used in the capitol in Washington and many state capitols. This is a fine
semicircular shaped room capable of providing for several hundred diners.

Executive Floor.

The second story is set apart for the elective officials. The Governor’s
rooms are upon the north overlooking the river, and constitute, as they
should, the central feature not only of this floor, but of the entire building.
The Governor’s reception room

21
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is elliptical in form and is finished in oak with the seals of the different
states carved in the frieze. A handsome oriental rug. costing $2,800, is upon
the floor and the suite is furnished in Circassian walnut. The wood carving
in this room is very fine.

The Governor’s private secretary’s room, the Governor’s private room
and board and stenographers’ rooms complete this suite and are finished in
an artistic manner. Upon the west of the Governor is the Secretary of State
and upon the east the Auditor. The Auditor and Secretary of State’s offices
are opposite each other at the two ends of the corridor.

The State Treasurer, the Superintendent of Education and the General
Board rooms complete the rooms upon this floor.

The view of the rotunda and of the museum rooms from this floor is a
very pleasing effect, and when filled with people affords a scene of rare
animation and interest. The Governor’s rooms are reached from the lower
floor by two circular marble stairways, from the landing of which will be a
platform upon which to address a multitude of people assembled in the
rotunda and adjoining corridors.

Legislative Floor.

The third, or legislative floor, is in many respects the most attractive
of the building. The scene in the corridor between the two assembly rooms
is inspiring to a high degree. A mellow light from the cathedral glass lends
subdued effect, while the great dome above and the splendid chandelier
suspended from it is majestic and inspiriting. The assembly rooms are
opposite each other. The ceilings in each room are 50 feet above the floor.
The floor space of the Senate is 68x70 feet and of the House 70x78 feet.
The Senate is furnished with walnut desks and chairs and rostrum and
provides for 50 senators. The House is furnished in mahogany and provides
for 150 members. Ample galleries for visitors are in both chambers. The
rostra of both are ornate specimens of architecture and workmanship.
Twelve noble granite pillars line either side of the House chamber and 16
marble pillars extend around the gallery and stand behind the President’s
rostrum in the Senate. Both chambers are lighted by art glass windows that
extend above the roof, a feature peculiar to this capitol and which
splendidly lights them at all times. Special attention has been paid to the
matter of acoustics. Prof. Sabine of Harvard, an expert in that line,
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directed this feature of the work, which has been highly successful. The
acoustics in both chambers are admirable.

Both the House and Senate are provided with lounging or retiring
rooms for the members. These rooms are among the handsomest in the
building. That for the Senate is finished in oak and the one for the House in
marble. Both are furnished with leather divans and chairs and attractive
carpets, electric fixtures and tables and are convenient to the two chambers.
Each lounging room is divided into two apartments, one large and the other
small, and they will prove of great value during the sessions of the
legislature.

Upon this floor are rooms for the presiding officers and secretaries of
the two houses and also many rooms for committees, and for the press,
telegraph and telephone and post office. Midway between the two assembly
rooms and upon the north overlooking the river is the Legislative Library
room, another original feature of this building. It is one of the most
attractive rooms in the building and will be a great convenience as a
reference library to the legislators. If this floor is preserved for the uses of
the legislature as it should be, it will prove of great value to that department
of the state government.

Fourth Floor and Roof.

The fourth or top story is set apart for committee rooms, the Adjutant-
General and such other departments of the public service as may be
assigned to it. Among these are the Boards of Agriculture, of Pharmacy, of
Health, Beer Inspector, Bureau of Mines, Building and Loan, Tax
Commission, Board of Charities and Highway Commission.

There are over 100 rooms in the entire building and there is not one
that is not so located and appointed that it will not be of service to the state.

The roof is of slate, and is so constructed that it may be used on
occasions for large assemblages. The parapet wall upon the roof extends to
a height of eleven feet. It will be possible to put another story upon the
building should this one not prove adequate for the public service.
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INSCRIPTIONS.

In the construction of the building it became necessary to provide
certain inscriptions for special spaces. While it is possible to insert only a
limited number of letters in these spaces, it was a somewhat difficult matter

to adjust the mottoes to fit the spaces. These are the inscriptions to date:
On the entablature over the south front portico in bold letters is the motto of
the state:
Salus Populi Suprema Lex Esto.
Over the bronze front door:
Erected, 1917.
On cheek blocks on either side of portico:
Territory Organized, 1812.
Admitted into Union, 1821.
On cornices upon outside south front:
Crescat Civitas.
Fiat Voluntas Populi.
On cornices upon outside north front:
Justitia Omnibus.
Honor Opus Habet.
In the lower rotunda at entrance:
Where there is no vision the people perish.
In the lower rotunda over Governor’s stairs:
Righteousness exalteth a nation.
Party expediency is party honesty.
On walls of lower rotunda:
Ideas control the world.
Property is the fruit of labor.
On lower rotunda at entrance to Historic Museum:
Lord God of hosts, be with us yet lest we forget.
In lower rotunda at entrance to Resources Museum:
The earth is the Lord’s and the fullness thereof.
At entrance to Senate:
Not to be served, but to serve.
At entrance to House:
Progress is the Law of Life.
Inside of Senate:
Nothing is politically right that is morally wrong.
Free and fair discussion is the firmest friend of truth.
Large inscription around the upper part of rotunda, the following from
Washington’s farewell address:
In proportion as the structure of a government gives force to public
opinion it is essential that public opinion should be enlightened.
On outside over eastern entrance to basement:
Be just and fear not.
Inside House of Representatives and over the large pillars and under penthouse
windows on both sides extending full length of room are these words: Enterprise,
Liberty, Justice, Law, Virtue, Education, Temperance, Charity, Progress, Honor,

Truth, Knowledge, Equality, Fraternity.
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Inside the Historic Museum, intending to trace the history of the state from its
discovery until its admission into the Union and giving the names most
conspicuously identified with its history during that period are the following
inscriptions:

1541—Discovered by Spanish.
DeSoto.
1683—Acquired by France
LasSalle.
1705—Explored by French.
Laclede.
1763—Ceded to Spain.
Napoleon.
1800—Ceded to France.

At the east end of this Museum upon an entablature are inscribed these words
from Thomas Jefferson with reference to Missouri: “A  choice
country
with room enough.”

1803—Purchased from France.
Jefferson.

1805—L ouisiana Territory.
Lewis.

1812—Missouri Territory.
Clark.

1820— Organized as a state.
Boone.

1821— Admitted into Union.

At the west end is this inscription, just above the entrance and in the interior
of the room:

Honor to those who have honored Missouri.

In the Resources Museum in west wing are inscribed two mottoes at either
end; on the west:

Labor is the great producer of w’ealth.

On the east:

The composite and cosmopolitan state.

These inscriptions, practically covering the state’s material, moral and
educational resources, are all cut into the solid marble:

On the south:

Onyx, Sandstone.
Forestry:
Forests and Cereals.
Agriculture:
Burlington Limestone.
Climate:
Lead, Zinc, Coal, Iron.
Mining:
Red Granite, Marble.
On the north:
Manufactures
Railroads
Religion
Missouri State University, Schools.
Literature, Science and Art, Institutions.

NaAivisna Cranl, Nainina
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FURNISHINGS.

In 1916 the Supreme Court of Missouri rendered an opinion that the
law creating the State Capitol Commission Board did not vest it with
authority to purchase the furnishings for the building. It was necessary,
therefore, to await legislative action before such furnishings could be
purchased. But for this delay the building could have been furnished and
ready for occupancy by July 1, 1917.

The Forty-ninth General Assembly, as one of the last acts of its
session, by an act approved April, 1917, authorized the State Capitol
Commission Board to purchase the furnishings out of the $300,00C set
apart by the original act for that purpose, but also specifically forbade the
commission employing any expert or architect or assistant to aid it in such
purchase. This placed a delicate and difficult duty upon the Board, which it
discharged to the best of its ability.

The number of commissions and other departments of the government
which had taken occupancy of the building had greatly increased since the
passage of the act appropriating money for the construction and furnishing
of the capitol until the population had grown tenfold. However, the Board
succeeded in adequately furnishing every department in floor coverings,
draperies, wood and steel furnishings and electric light fixtures for a sum
not exceeding $260,000, enabling it. under the law to apply the remaining
$40,000 upon the terrace, as it was authorized to do by the law.

There was close and considerable competition for these various
furnishings which was based upon the quality of the articles furnished and
not upon cost, the Board naming the amount that would be spent for each
kind.

The successful bidders were as follows:
Floor coverings and draperies

J. Kennard & Sons Carpet Co., St. LOUIS .....cccueiirieriiiiiieeecisee e $50,000
Electric Light Fixtures

St. Louis Brass Manufacturing Co ...........ccccuriiriiiiiniiciic s 60,000
Wood and steel furnit ire and repairing old furniture

Globe-WemicKe C0., St. LOUIS......c.coviiiieiiiiiieieeits ettt es e ereens 106,000

By subsequent additions these furnishings were increased, the floor
coverings to $52,451.08, electric fixtures to $64,812 and the furniture to
$122,316.46.
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The furniture in the elective offices is walnut, while that in the
appointive offices is mahogany, and all is substantial, artistic and up-to-
date.

The floor coverings in the offices are battleship linoleum, and cork
carpet and rugs or carpets according to the purpose for which the offices
are used. Only high grades of floor coverings and window hangings were
purchased.

The electric light fixtures are of elaborate and elegant design.

The building, with the exception of the offices of the Governor, the
Lieutenant-Governor, Speaker of the House, Secretary of State, Auditor,
Treasurer and Superintendent of Education, is furnished in mahogany. The
Governor’s reception room and private offices are furnished in Circassian
walnut. The rooms of the other elective officers are furnished in American
walnut. The furniture in the Governor’s reception and private rooms and in
the House and Senate lounging rooms is upholstered.

The Assembly room of the House is furnished in Mahogany and of
the Senate in walnut. The desks in both rooms are in size and construction
similar to those in the larger and finer State Capitol Buildings, and are
modern and substantial and tasteful in design. Swivel chairs are provided
for the members of the House. Stationary chairs similar to those in the
New York and Massachusetts and the National Senate rooms and the
President’s cabinet at Washington were chosen for the Senators. The
presiding officers’ chairs are of special design and are quite handsome and
artistic.

The contracts for most of these furnishings were let in July, 1917,
with specific limitations for their delivery within six or eight months. But
owing to difficulties of transportation and the securing of labor and
material, caused by the war, all of them were not finally delivered until
over a year afterward.

In addition to the above furnishings, a system of interphones and of
electnc fans was placed in the offices.
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Architect's design for the ultimate grounds improvement and covering of railroad tracks on northern front.

IMPROVEMENT OF GROUNDS.

The Forty-ninth General Assembly appropriated $25,000 for
the improvement of the capitol grounds and directed that the
money be expended under the direction of the State Capitol
Commission Board. The Governor consented to sign the ap-
propriation on condition that convicts in the state prison be
employed at S1.50 per day to perform the labor. As the dirt had to
be removed by wheelbarrows, the work moved more slowly and
expensively than if it could have been done with graders and
scrapers and labor-saving machinery. But within sixteen months
all the buildings upon the newly purchased grounds and the
Temporary Capitol have been removed and much of the necessary
grading and some of the walks and drives completed. To finish the
grounds in proper form and provide drainage and light and trees
and other ornamental features will require a considerable
additional appropriation from $50,000 to $100,000, and we
earnestly recommend that such appropriation be at once made so
that the grounds may correspond with the edifice itself and may
not detract from its beauty.

Under the law no part of the appropriation voted by the
people could be used for the improvement of the grounds. They
are susceptible of fine adornment, and a beautiful plan has been
prepared for that purpose by the architect of the building, which
should be adopted and followed.
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MISSOURI MADE-NEEDED DECORATIONS.

The law creating this commission and authorizing the con-
struction of the capitol directed that in the awarding of contracts
preference should be given to Missouri material and labor. The
Board has strictly followed this provision of the law. Where it has
been possible to do so the employment of Missouri labor has been
required, and nearly all the material in the building, stone, brick,
cement, plastering, lumber and steel have been of Missouri growth
and manufacture. The furnishings were all bought of Missouri
firms. It is, as far as could be, a Missouri- made building.

Importance of Decoration.

Before concluding this report we wish to lay special emphasis
upon the necessity of decorating the building both with artistic
colorin'g of the walls of the rotunda and corridors and monu-
mental rooms and with mural paintings in many places, and
adorning it with appropriate statuary. It is with profound regret
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that the funds at our command have not been sufficient to enable us to
supply these essential features. There are many spaces where decoration
could be fittingly applied and which would bring out in strong relief and
fine emphasis the striking and classic architecture. Its absence is a painful
lack and a sore disappointment. The beautiful state capitols of Minnesota,
Massachusetts, Wisconsin and Pennsylvania and numerous other public
buildings of the country are forceful illustrations of the value of artistic
adornment. The Missouri building has possibilities of this nature equalling
any public edifice and Missouri has a history and scenery and resources
and an artistic spirit which would furnish rich themes for illustration upon
the walls of her capitol. The building could be made eloquent with this
aesthetic demonstration of Missouri history and wealth and culture. We
sincerely hope that at once the state will inaugurate a scheme of decoration
of her capitol that will equal those of any of her sister states and will be
commensurate with the architecture of the building and the progressive
spirit of her people.

While there is an absence of this superficial and pictorial adornment,
such is the quality of the architecture and of the workmanship that it makes
the building itself a thing of beauty, even though unadorned.

There is a simplicity, a quality, a refinement about the structure and an
individuality in its design that place it in a class to itself, and which
challenge the admiration of connoisseurs, and the approval of those who
appreciate its practical features. It combines culture in architecture with
wisdom and practicability in arrangement. The absence of “’gingerbread” in
its ornamental features and of waste of space in its utilization of room is
specially marked. Such is the originality of the scheme and the purity of the
architecture and the practicability of the plan that the best of judges
pronounce it in a class to itself.

In Conclusion.

At the end of seven years of strenuous service it is a pleasure to state
that while the differences and troubles incident to every great work have
been among the experiences of this one, all have been satisfactorily
overcome and adjusted without loss to the state and without criticism from
the public. We are con
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scious of surrendering a trust that has been marred by no act of which we or
the people we have served will have cause to be ashamed.

Respectfully submitted,
EDWIN W. STEPHENS, Chairman.

ALFRED A. SPEER, Vice-Chairman.
JOSEPH C. A. HILLER,

THEODORE LACAFF,
State Capitol Commission Board.

Attest:
EDWIN S. AUSTIN, Secretary.
Jefferson City, February 5, 1919.
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THE MISSOURI STATE CAPITOL.

By Egcrton Swartwout, Architect of the Building.

All state capitols have essentially the same requirements.
They must house the Legislative and the Executive Departments
of the State and in some instances the Judicial Department. The
Legislative Department consists of two large halls for the Senate
and Mouse, with the necessary committee rooms, lobbies, etc.,
while for the Executive Department there must be provided a
large number of well-lighted connecting offices. These require-
ments necessitate the placing of the Legislative Department on a
floor higher than the entrance floor, as there must be at least two
and in some cases three floors of offices below. There is
consequently on each of the lower floors a large amount of un-
lighted space in the center of the building, under the legislative
chambers, and in most State Capitols this unlighted space is
wasted or is used for closets, store rooms and vaults.

One of the features of the Missouri State Capitol is the utili-
zation of this unlighted space. By throwing the two executive
floors into one at these points angeby the utilization of borrowed
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light from the dome above and from the side corridors, two lofty and
comparatively well-lighted museums have been formed, one at either side
of the lower rotunda, one of these museums being for the display of the
natural resources of the State and the other for the preservation of its
historical relics. These museums with their alcoves are each about 120 feet
long by 60 feet wide and about 40 feet high. The walls are entirely lined
with Missouri marble, and the ceilings will be enriched with mural
paintings.

Another feature in which the Missouri Capitol differs from other
capitols is the approach to the main rotunda. This rotunda, which is very
properly a feature of all State Capitols, is naturally on the legislative floor,
serving as a great lobby for the Senate and the House of Representatives. It
is therefore two stories or about 40 feet above the entrance of the ground
level, and is in most capitols reached by interior staircases situated either in
the rotunda itself or in corridors at either side. In either case, the
monumental effect of the rotunda is largly lost, because one of the
important features in a rotunda is the approach.

In the Missouri State Capitol the approach is directly from the
exterior. Ascending a monumental flight of steps, the entrance is through
an eight-column portico into a great stair hall which leads directly to the
rotunda, up a broad flight of stairs some 30 feet wide. This stair hall is an
integral part of the rotunda and is lighted by a magnificent, richly-colored
skylight, in which are pictorially displayed the resources of the state. The
rotunda itself is about 65 feet in diameter and about 140 feet in height. The
walls are lined with Missouri marble, and the upper portion will be richly
decorated with mural paintings.

A feature of the rotunda is the lighting effect that has been secured by
the simplest means. The windows in the upper portion of the dome as well
as the great semi-circular windows over the entrances to the Senate and
House of Representatives are filled with cathedral glass of a delicate purple
shade, the color being so slight as to be indistinguishable in itself, the
effect being merely of a soft subdued light. At the back of the rotunda,
opposite the great staircase, is a semi-circular room for the accommodation
of the legislative library. The large skylight of this room is filled with
brilliant golden cathedral glass and being so situated that it is itself
invisible from the main rotunda,
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sheds a bright golden glow over the legislative library, and brings out in
striking relief the screen of columns which separate the library from the
rotunda, the effect of golden glow being intensified by the soft subdued
light in the rotunda itself.

Another feature of the rotunda is the whispering gallery, which is
above the main cornice, about 65 ieet from the floor. There have been
instances of similar whispering galleries, notably the one in the Cathedral
of St. Paul’s in London, but these have been fortuitous accidents. The
whispering gallery in the Missouri State Capitol was carefully,
mathematically laid oul by a celebrated expert on acoustics, and this is
undoubtedly the first time on record that such a thing has been done
successfully. A person standing in this gallery can hear the faintest whisper
from directly across the rotunda, a distance of 65 feet, the sound following
the curve of the gallery.

The Senate Chamber and the House of Representatives are large, lofty
rooms, well adapted for the seating of a large number of people, and are
perfect acoustically. It is only within the last decade that acoustics has been
elevated to the rank of an exact science. The Mediaeval Churches and in
fact most modern churches are melancholy examples of the disregard of the
underlying principles of this science. In the past, rooms intended for
auditoriums have been constructed merely with the hope that through some
happy chance the speaker would be heard by most of the audience. Almost
any room, if the ceiling is low enough, and if it is filled with people, will be
good enough acoustically, but for a perfect room it is necessary to provide
for those times when the room will be practically empty. The State Capitol
Commission Board wisely sought the advice of the greatest expert on
acoustics in the world, and as the result of his skill the legislative chambers
in the Missouri State Capitol are acoustically perfect.

Another distinctive feature of the legislative chambers is the lighting.
Practically all such rooms in other State Capitols are lighted merely by
skylights, which is generally unsatisfactory. In the Missouri State Capitol
the legislative chambers extend a considerable distance above the roof, so
that an opportunity is given to introduce large windows in the side walls,
giving direct light and ventilation on three sides of each chamber. The
practical and .artistic value of these windows can not be overestimated. The
chambers themselves are dignified in
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treatment. The Senate has a semi-circular colonnade of richly veined
marble, resting upon a high marble base, and in the House of
Representatives the walls are lined with marble and the galleries are
screened from the room by a colonnade of polished granite columns.

The legislative chambers are entirely surrounded by a series of
committee rooms, lounging rooms, and other spaces devoted to the use of
the legislature. On the two lower floors of the building there are
accommodations for the Executive branch of the State Government—Ilarge
well-lighted offices with ample vault accommodations. The Governor’s
suite is imposing, centering around an elliptical reception room, 30 by 50
feet. This room is lined with oak, and the frieze is richly carved with the
seals of all the States in the Union.

The exterior of the Capitol is composed entirely of limestone from the
southwestern part of Missouri. The front portico has eight large Corinthian
columns, 48 feet in height, exactly similar in size and character to the
columns of the Temple of Jupiter Stator in Rome. The dome is entirley con-
structed of stone and is about 9J feet in diameter and 250 feet from the
terrace level to the top. The building itself rests upon a terrace about 15 feet
above the level of the ground. This terrace not only gives a firm board base
to the building, raising it to the level of High Street in front of the Capitol,
but it also provides enormous storage space for valuable records.
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BIENNIAL REPORT.

Detailed statements of disbursements for the years 1911- 1912, 1913-
1914 and 1915-1916 were published in the biennial reports made to the
Forty-seventh, Forty-eight and Forty-ninth General Assemblies.

There is herewith submitted a detailed statement of the disbursements
for the years 1917-1918, the final biennial period.

IMPROVEMENT OF GROUNDS. 1917-1918.

IMIISSOUNT PENITENTIATY ...ttt $22,533.27
Vouchers. 1005. 1030. 1031, 1040. 1075, 1100, 1104. 1122. 1128. 1141, 1242, 1207,
1294, 1328. 1356, 1363, 1386. 1387, 1509.

LOUIS LANAMAN ..ottt 895.00
Vouchers. 1014, 1042, 1067, 1088, 1139, 1231. 1350.

WV. SIITOVET bbb 1,222.70
Vouchers, 136 7, 1382, 1467.

August Bruto .... 29.50
Vouchers, 1383. .

OO REINKE ...ttt bbbttt b sttt b st bbbt et bbb e bens 1.40
Voucher, 1384.

HENEY J. VEHEE ..o 5.60
Voucher, 1426.

B IMIOTTOW ...t b bbb bbbt 67.00
Vouchers, 1427, 1460.

GOFFE WOITEIL....iiiiiii bbbttt 15.50
Vouchers, 1429. 1462, 1477.

JONN WYTICK oottt 1.20
Voucher, 1428.

L8 HEMEIL ...ttt 77.30
Vouchers, 1461. 1432.

Pope Construction COMPANY ...ttt ettt 97.92
Vouchers, 1468, 1475.

GEOFQgE D. HOPE ..o 11.75
Voucher, 1392.

L. C. Lohman.... 32.78
Vouchers, 1. .

PRITTIPD OF .ottt 3.55
Voucher, 1476.

CATTES GASCRNE ...ttt 6.00
Voucher, 1491.

TORAL ottt ene $25,000.37
FURNITURE FUND.

Account furniture and fixtures..... $132,935.05

Oliver-Heinrlchs, furniture. ouche

voucher, 1120. Globe Wernicke, furniture. $131,890.20.1 vouchers, 977, 1055,
1117, 1140, 1165. 1274, 1323. 1357, 1362. 1447.!

1488. 1513,1175, 1177, 1193. 1207, 1216, 1257. 1217. 1224, 1235. 1244.}

1358. Pittsburg Plate Glass Company. Board of Health Laboratory,:

$76.00; voucher. 1516. Walter-Wymore, chairs for Legislative!

Committee rooms, $250.85; voucher 1512. i
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FURNITURE FUND—Continued.

ACCOUNt ElECTE ICAI FIXTUNES.......cuiiiiiiiiciii s

Saint Louis Brass Mfg. Company, fixtures; vouchers. 1135, 1149, 1269 1437, 1492,
1510, 1508, 1186, 1209, 1260.

Account inter-telephone fIXTUIES ..o

Commercial Electrical Company, telephone supplies, $1,777.20; vouchers 1276,
1355, 1360, 1438, 1455, 1247, 1259. Kellogg Switch Board Company, $1,107,45;
voucher, 1439.

Account Carpets and AIAPETIES ...........cierviueirieieirieie ettt ettt
Trorllcht-Duncker Carpet Company, $710.00; voucher, 1000. J. Kennard Company,
$52,352.08; vouchers, 1078, 1107, 1137, 1138, 1164, 1173, ** 1425, 1192, 1194, 1195,
1215, 1218.

Account Freight @Nd EXPIESS ........c.iiiiciiiiiieii s
D. C. McClung, $5.07; vouchers, 1126, 1293, 1204. Missouri Pacific. $35.80;

vouchers, 1127, 1479. Hub Transfer Company, $2.03; voucher, 1129. Wells-
Fargo Expresss Company, $20.94; vouchers, 1303. 1354, 1370, 1420, 1198, 1243.
American Express Company. $8.94; vouchers, 1296, 1197. Duke Diggs, $13.00;
voucher, 1494. Chicago & Alton, $3.96; voucher, 1478.

Account telephone and telegraph .............ccceiiiiiiiiec e ,

Western Union Telegraph Company, $36.06; vouchers, 1143, 1169, 1390, 1200, 1202,
1223. Postal Telegraph Company, $1.98; voucher, 1191 Capital Telephone
Company, $205.50; vouchers, 1298, 1144, 1166, 1332, 1352, 1388, 1449, 1489,
1198, 1245, 1262.

ACCOUNT PAINTING ...ttt bbbttt
Charles Horner, $72.81; voucher, 1514. Western Decorating Company $72.50;

voucher, 1395. Ross Brothers, $140.00; vouchers, 1351, 1454, 1515.

Account advertising financial statement and proposals.............ccceovieriniinienneinns

Kansas City Journal, $24.30; voucher, 1006. Kansas City Star, $74.00; vouchers,
1007, 1049, 1084, 1145. Globe-Democrat, $118.55; vouchers, 1008, 1051, 1085,
1170. St. Louis Republic, $97.15; vouchers, 1012, 1083, 1222, 1266. Capital
News, $14.40; vouchers, 1096, 1264 Daily Post, $1.95; voucher, 1098. Democrat
Printing Company, $1.80; voucher, 1097.

Account printing, stationery and office SUPPIIES ...........cccoviiiiiiicecee e
Paul Hunt, $6.05; vouchers, 1077, 1172, E. S. Austin, for postage, $15.00; vouchers,

1157, 1325. 1248. Hugh Stephens Printing Company, $2.35; voucher, 1246. Botz
& Son, $31.50; voucher, 1517.

ACCOUNT ON TEITACE ...ttt
Pope Construction Company, voucher, 1470.

ACCOUNT PIUMDING ..
P. Bishopberger. $207.38; voucher 1223. Standard Sanitary, $20.00 voucher 1280. F.

W. Graham, $364.00; voucher 1417. Sid Linken- meyer, $467.87: voucher 1297.
H. O. Nelson, plumbing in kitchen $423.26; vouchers. 1171, 1278, 1419, 1504,
1184, 1196, 1259.

MiSCEHANEOUS BCCOUNTES ...t

Newton Hoit Company, blue prints, $80.40; voucher, 998. A. S. Aloe, blue prints,
$30.61; vouchers 999, 1125. Walforf-Hafner & Schultz, blue prints, $19.68;
voucher, 1010. Mr. L.'S. Canlan, blue prints $1.50; voucher 1059. W. F.
Goldammer, work on furniture, $40.00; voucher 1116. Ernest Braun, carpenter
work, shelving in storage vaults, $466.50; vouchers, 1123, 1502, 1525. Phillip
Ott, lumber, $80.00; voucher 1503. C. E. Salich, glass, $49.50; voucher, 1240.
George D. Hope, lumber, $54.06; voucher, 1473. Ed. Unwin, hardware, $42.55;
vouchers, 1275, 1507. Schleer Brothers, hardware. $4.32; voucher, 1417. Elton
Franklin, carpenter work, $5 60; voucher, 1289. Natsch Brothers, tinners,
$12.00; voucher. 1505. Lee Hemmell, carpenter work, $2.80; voucher, 1385.
Stone and Stone, carpenter work on cabinets, $198.05; voucher, 1472. Henry J.
Vetter, work on vaults, $20.00; voucher, 1524. Capitol City Planing Mill,
carpenter work. $90.00; voucher, 1374. August Bruto, carpenter work. $46.35;
vouchers, 1290, 1373. E. M. Plump, inspecting rostra,) $48.75; vouchers, 1176,
1214. L. P. Katz, inspecting furniture $26.21; voucher, 1219.
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$64,245.00

2,884.65

53,062.08

89.74

243.54

285.31

332.15

54.90

40.093.37
1,482.51

1,318.88
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FURNITURE FUND—Continued.

ACCOUNT CIEFICAI SAIATIES........eviiiiitiiieiee ettt $224.00
Lillian Powers, stenographic work, $2.00; voucher, 1341. Florence Schott, clerical
work, $27.00; voucher, 1497. H. R. Loeffler. clerical work, $33.00; voucher,
1498. F. R. Shelton, clerical work, $33.00; voucher, 1496. James Settel. clerical
work, $33.00; voucher, 1501. Omega Colyer, stenographic work, $30.00;
voucher, 1500. Mrs. H. E. Funk, stenographic work, $40.00; vouchers, 1396,
1499. Gus Moeller, janitor, $20.00; voucher, 1310. Minnie Luff, laundry work,
$6.00; vouchers, 1173, 1205.
TOMAL ..o
$297,251.18
BUILDING FUND.
ACCOUNT SUPETSEIUCTUIE ...ttt neen $267,849 09
The John Gill and Sons Company. $255,810.47: vouchers, 927. 940, 955 957, 959,
1011, 1101, 1302, 1304, 1336, 1466. T. H. Johnson Company, foundation,
$1,045.00; voucher, 1032. Herring-Hall Marvin Safe Company, $10,220.40;
vouchers, 974, 1009. State Prison Board, building vault in basement, $774.12;
vouchers, 1147, 1327.
Account Architect fees 28.908.29
Tracy & Swartwout, architects; vouchers, 8 41
1039, 1057, 1072, 1090, 1119, 1105, 1150, 1503, 1239 1236 1237 1238 1308
.1359, 1368, 1465. 14/1.
Account inspection cement, steel and stone .. 203.18
R. W. Hunt & Company, vouchers, 971 1053 1065 1082. 1115.1124. 1182 1206
1241, 1270, 1309, 1372,1424.
Account telephone, telegraph and POSTAGE...........cccvuruiiiiiiiiiireeee e 145.19
Capital Telephone Company, $88.95; vouchers, 919, 959, 950, 970, 987,
1003,1025,1057,1074,1095,1121, 1421. Postal Telegraph Company, $12.44;
vouchers, 951, 1213. Western Union Telegraph Company, $28.80; vouchers,
972, 1004, 1044, 1076, 1169, 1348, 1450. Postage account, $15.00; vouchers,
1081, 1069.
ACCOUNT WALEE AN ICE ...ttt 22.60
Capital City Water Company, $12.45; vouchers. 969, 1001, 1024, 1046, 1073. H. A.
Swift Ice Company, $10.15; voucher. 1099.
Account advertising financial statement and proposals..............cccooeeiceieiicinciniiciices 74.18
Kansas City Journal, $43.05; vouchers, 930, 1168. St. Louis Republic, $25.10;
vouchers, 929. 11167. St. Louis Globe-Democrat. $3.75; voucher, 973. Kansas
City Post, $2.28; voucher, 968.
Account express and FreiGNT ..o i 56.39
Duke Diggs, $28.50; vouchers. 1086, 1152. Wells Fargo, Express Company, $13.66;
vouchers, 967, 1151, 1272. Missouri Pacific, $12.44; voucher, 975. American
Express Company, $1.79; voucher, 1435. 1050.
ACCOUNT PAINTING .ttt
H. McCasland, $100.50; vouchers, 1349, 1397. Ross Brothers, $689.50; vouchers, 1.464.60
1190, 1261, 1295, 1422, 1106. Claud Johnson, $503.85: vouchers, 1155.1183,
1211,1249. Charles Horner, $115.15; voucheis, 1393, 1394. G. G. Asel, $55.60;
voucher. 1210.
Account tablets and bulletin DOArdS.............ccoiiiiiiiiii e
John Williams, tablets, $1,526.00; vouchers, 1451, 1452, 1453. Charles Mace, crediting 1.902.91
tablets, $35.66; voucher, 1485. Manhattan Brass Company, bulletin board,
$301.52; voucher, 1442. Corham Company, bronze letters, $39.73; voucher,
1369.
Account plumbing
Thomas Keirns, $479.05; vouchers, 1045, 1431, 1493, Si 702.05
voucher, 1185.
Account eleCtriCal SUPPIIES.......o.cuiiieeeiiricte s
1.041.61

.Gross Chandelier Co., fixtures, $314.94; voucher. 976. R. Huddleston, telephone
inst., $111.50; voucher. 1102. Commercial Electrical Company, $615.17;
vouchers, 1103, 1146, 1271, 1322.
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BUILDING FUND—Continued.

ACCOUNT FIAGSTATT......c.cvieicii s $319.23
Crane Company, pipe for flagstaff. $107.56; voucher, 1460. James Glasscock, work on
flagstaff, $5.95; voucher, 1400. Lee Hemmel, work on flagstaff, $43.20;
vouchers, 1340, 1412, 1431. H. Hudt, work on flagstaff, $61.20; voucher 1221.
Otto Relke, work on flagstaff, $42.00; vouchers, 1307, 1324, 1365. Charles
Kleselbauch, work on flagstaff, $52.12; vouchers, 1364, 1413, 1430. Otto
Conrad, work on flag staff, $7.20; voucher, 1402.
MISCEIIANEOUS BCCOUNTS. ......viiiiiitiiici bbb
Walforf, Hafner & Schultz, blue prints, $42.60; vouchers, 952, 1058. Hugh Stephens, 2,310.21
$6.50; voucher, 953. Shaplelgh Hardware Co., $13.80; voucher, 978. F. W.
Grahams, electric work, $41.75; voucher, 1048. Elton Franklin, carpenter work,
$13.12; vouchers, 1292, 1306, 1326, 1490, 1506. August Bruto, carpenter work,
$287.40; vouchers, 1291, 1305, 1325, 1339, 1366, 1398, 1410, 1436. Henry J.
Vetter, work on grates, $59.75; vouchers, 1142, 1208, 1329, 1391, 1483. E.
Morrow, carpenter work, $32.20; vouchers, 1401, 1411, 1433. Capitol City
Wagon Company, iron work, $193.15; vouchers, 1279, 1486. Ed Unwin,
hardware, $79.49; vouchers, 1201, 1300, 1330, 1350, 1464. Phillip Ott & Son,
lumber, $3.50; vouchers, 1281, 1448. George D. Hope, lumber, $25.09; vouchers,
1301, 1333. Manchester Iron Company, iron grating. $186.00; vouchers, 1347.
B. H. Linhardt, rehanging doors and supplying new locks and hinges, $893.10;
vouchers, 1361, 1441. H. W. Hirdbreder, carpenter work, $32.48; voucher,
1268. Blumber Cabinet Company, extra work on rostra, $119.00; voucher,
1321. Chas. Graham, electrical wiring, $153.63; voucher, 1222. Natch Bros.,
tinners, $26.10; voucher, 1495. Scherer, Slate & Patterson, replacing stone in
Senate, $24.30; vouchers, 1265, 1430, 1480. Capitol City Planing Mill, moulding
$4.50; voucher, 1312. Jefferson City Light, Heat and Power Company, piping,
$24.00; voucher, 1153. C. E. Salisch, glass, $19.25 voucher, 1174. Schleer Bros.,
hardware, $15.90; voucher, 1484 Lee Jordan Lumber Company, cement,
$13.00; voucher, 1331. Gus Fischer, soap, $1.60; voucher, 1320.
Account terrace and frONT STEPS .........ouiuiiiiiiiiiiee s
Pope Construction Company, vouchers, 942, 962. 1002, 1029, 1052, 1060, 1079, 1080,
1081, 1118, 1154, 1212, 1234, 1469.
Account salaries, transportation EXPENSE ...........ciiriiriiririiiiriieirie e
E. W. Stephens, commissioner, $4,845.98; vouchers, 921, 935,944, 958, 984, 990,
1020, 1033, 1061, 1094, 1110, 1133, 1161, 1180. 1225, 1256, 1288, 1313,
1346,1377, 1403, 1459, 1522. A. A. Speer, $4,675.45; vouchers. 920, 937, 943,
959, 986, 991, 1021, 1034, 1063, 1091, 1109, 1132, 116$, 1179, 1228, 1253, 1286,
1316, 1345, 1378, 1404, 1458, 1520. J. C. A. Hiller, $5,088.00; commissioner, 922, 29,800.32
936, 945, 961, 985, 993. 1023, 1036, 1062,1092, 1108, 1131, 1162, 1178, 1226,
1255, 1287, 1350, 1344, 1379, 1405, 1456, 1521. Theo. Lacaff, commissioner,
$5,169.55; vouchers. 923. 934, 946, 960, 983, 992, 1022, 1035, 1064, 1093, 1111.
1130, 1160, 1181, 1227, 1254, 1285, 1314, 1343, 1380, 1406, 1457, 1523. E. S.
Austin, secretary, $2,526.75; vouchers, 1016, 1037, 1071, 1089,1114,
1134,1159,1189, 1230, 1252, 1284, 1318, 1338, 1376, 1408, 1446, 1519. Louis
Landman, superintendent, $2,374.50; vouchers, 926, 933,948, 964. 982, 996,
1113, 1156. 1187, 1.283, 1317, 1337, 1375, 1407, 1443, 1487. 1519. John T. Short,
superintendent, $3,328.00; vouchers. 924. 931. 947, 966. 980. 995, 1017, 1041,
1066, 1087, 1112, 1136. J. Kelly Pool. $958.30; vouchers, 935, 932, 949, 965, 981,
994. Leland Womack, salary assistant secretary, $500.00; vouchers, 963, 979,
997, 1015, 1038, 1070. Reub White, janitor, $60.00; vouchers. 1019,1043,1068.
Gus Maoeller, janitor, $120.00; vouchers, 1262,1342, 1371,1414,1445, 1481.
Minnie Luff, laundry work, $16.30; vouchers. 1371. 1414,1445, 1481. Minnie
Luff, laundry work, $16.30; vouchers. $5.00; voucher, 1148. Omega Colyer,
stenographer, $12.00; voucher, 1319. Bessie Hawkins, stenographer, $25.00;
voucher, 1381. Price Waterhouse, accountant, $95.49; voucher, 1440.

94,176.54

TIOTAL .. $428,977.29



MISSOURI CAPITOL COMMISSION BOARD

SUMMARY, 1917-1918.

Disbursement from Building Fund............................. $428.977.29
Disbursement from Furniture Fund............ccccceceiee 297.251.18
Disbursement from Improvement of Grounds 25,000.37

TOtAl e S751.228.84
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MISSOURI CAPITOL COMMISSION BOARD FINAL

REPORT.

Summary statement of expenditures for the purchase of land,
construction and furnishings of the Missouri State Capitol from October 11,

1911, to February 5, 1919.

SUP BT STEUCTUT .ttt etttk ettt h ettt h et b et s bbbt e st et e e b e et e e ebeeb e b et e b enrers

$2,944,409.12

Foundation

100,786.40

Excavating, terrace and grading

146,285.20

Building power house and coal pockets

56,595.06

202,706.18

Expense of architectural competition and blue prints..

16,440.67

Carpenter work and material

7.781.91

Printing, stationery, office supplies and furnishings

1,823.50

297.00

741.20

269.09

702.05

1,529.60

PURCHASE OF LAND.

COST OF FURNISHINGS.

Electrical and inter-telephone fIXtUIES ... . oot e e se s sieeeneas

SUMMARY.

294.32
922.83
1.902.91
5,025.41
69,322.77
33,786.02

$3,591,671.24

$190,937.34

$133,475.05
70,980.50
53,062.08
89.74
243.54
285.31
1,482.51
332.15
54.90
132.19
1,186.69
220.95

$261,544.71

$3,591,671.24
190,937.34

261.544.71
$4,044,153.29

The foregoing is a full discharge of every account for the purchase of grounds, the construction, and
the furnishings of the Capitol so far as this Board is advised. There yet remains over S600.00 unexpended,
which is held in reserve to pay any item of expense which may possibly have been overlooked, or which it
may be found necessary to incur before this Board retires from office. The above statement includes some
S9.000 still in the treasury, but which will be paid out on contracts not quite completed at the time of tiling

this report.
46



IN MEMORIAM.

It was scarcely possible that an enterprise of this magnitude could be
carried to completion without the sacrifice of human life. Over a thousand
persons were employed upon the building during its construction.

Prior to the erection of the superstructure, A. Anderson of St. Louis,
contractor for the power house and tunnel, died as the result of a pulmonary
trouble, the fatality of which may have been hastened by the strenuous
work incident to his contract.

During the erection of the building the following were Killed as the
result of accidents:

S. C. HYDE, September 13, 1913.
HENRY GREEN, September 25, 1913.
SAMUEL RITCHIE, August 10, 1914.
AUGUST BAKER, May 4, 1917.

These men, all workmen, gave up their lives at the post of duty and
deserve to be remembered for their fidelity and patriotism as much as
though they had died upon the field of battle.
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JOHN PICKARD, President

Capitol Decoration Commission

Born in Concord, New Hampshire, October 12, 1858; A. B., Dartmouth College. 1883; A. M., Dartmouth, 1886; studied in the
universities of Leipzig, Berlin, Munich and in the American Schools of Classical Studies in Athens and in Rome; Ph.D., Munich, 1892;
Doctor of Fine Arts. Washington University, 1925; married Jeanie Austin Gerrish of Portsmouth, N. H., July 15, 1889; one daughter,
Caroline Gerrish; many trips to Europe for Art Study; president of the Missouri Society of the Archaeological Institute; for five years
president of the College Art Association; member of the Federated Council on Art Education; author of numerous articles on art;
lecturer on art; professor of the History of Art, University of Missouri since 1892.



WILLIAM KEENEY BIXBY, Vice-President

Capitol Decoration Commission

Born Adrian, Michigan, January 2, 1857. Graduate of the Adrian High School. M. A., Amherst College, 1912, LL. D., University of
Missouri, 1907. Married Lillian Tuttle, San Antonio, Texas, June 13, 1881. Has seven children. First President of American Car and
Foundry Company, President Laclede Gas Co., one of the receivers of the Wabash R. R., has held many other important business
positions. Charter member American Red Cross, President City Art Museum, St. Louis and of Washington University. Vice-President
American Federation of Art, Director of National Art Gallery, Washington, D. C., member American Antiquarian Society, American
Historical Association, Bibliophile Society, American School of Classical Studies in Rome, St. Louis Artists’ Guild.
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Capitol Decoration Commission
ss'tate of Sflissouri OFFICERS
+ - JOHN PICKARD
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ARTHUR A KOCIAN

COLUMBIA. MISSOURI
December 1, 1928

Hon. Sam A. Buker,
Executivo Offices,
Jefferson City, Ho.
My Dear Governor Baké&r:
The Capitol Decoration Commission has the
honor to submit herewith the report of its

labors.
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ARTIHI'R A. KOCIAN, .Secretary

Ca pilot Decoration Commission

Horn St. Louis, Missouri, July i, 1875. Educated in the public schools of St. Louis. For thirty years lias been a dealer in paintings
and other works of art. He has had much experience with works of art and had a wide acquaintance with artists. In many journeys in
this country and abroad he has carefully studied all the great Art Galleries and Museums. Is a member of the St. Louis Artists* Guild
and the Missouri Historical Society.



The Capitol Decoration Commission

(¢}

When, as the Commission which built the Capitol was completing its
labors, it was discovered that there was in the Capitol ‘fax Fund a surplus
over and above what was required to complete the building and to pay
principal and interest on the bonds which had been issued to secure funds for
the erection of the Capitol, and when it was decided that this money could
lawfully be used only upon the Capitol, the Forty- ninth General Assembly
passed a law authorizing the appointment of a Capitol Decoration
Commission and authorized this Commission to proceed with the decoration
of the Capitol. The act further appropriated to the use of this Commission all
moneys which had accrued or should accrue in the C'apitol Tax Fund in
excess of the amount necessary to pay the interest and principal of the
Capitol Tax Bonds.

Governor Frederick D. Gardner approved this act and appointed the
following Commissioners:

W. K. Bixby, St. Louis.

J. F. Downing, Kansas City.
Arthur A. Kocian, St. Louis.
Mrs. W. R. Painter, Carrollton.
John Pickard, Columbia.

On June 16, 1917, the Commission held its first meeting and organized
by electing the following officers:
John Pickard, President.
W. K. Bixby, Vice-President.
Arthur A. Kocian, Secretary.

The law requires that the term of office shall be four years, but these
officers have been re-elected at the end of each quadrennium.

Since the money for the use of the Decoration Commission was derived
solely from the Capitol Tax Fund and could only be made available after this
tax had reached the State Treasury, it has been necessary for each General
Assembly since 1917 to appropriate for the use of the Decoration
Commission whatever balance was found in the Capitol Tax Fund available
for this purpose.

For nearly twelve years the Commission has been carefully expending in
the decoration of the Capitol the appropriations which the General Assembly
has from time to time made for its use.

The Commissioners serve without salary, being reimbursed only for actual
expenses incurred in the performance of their labors.
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JOHN FRANKLIN DOWNING

Copilot Decoration Commission

Born August 24, 1854. in Virginia, Cass County, Illinois. B. S.. lllinois College. Jacksonville. Illinois, in 1879; A. M., Illinois
College, 1910. In 1898 was married to Miss Jessie Burnham. llis lirst employment was with the Fanners National Bank of Virginia,
Illinois. On March 8. 1882, lie came to Kansas City and entered the Armour Banking Company as a teller. On January 1, 1889, lie
liecame Vice-President «>I the New England Safe Deposit it Trust Company. On January 1. 1890. lie became its President. This com-
pany was later converted into the New England National Bank, lie has been connected with this bank and its successor, tile New England
National Bank .V Trust Company, as President and Chairman of the Board up to the present time. Director and Treasurer'of the Safety
Savings-l.uan Association and the Kansas City Art Institute. Holds other important business positions. Trustee of Illinois College.
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Practical Matters

For the protection of the building, it has been found necessary to
repainttwice in the last ten years all the exterior wood and iron work of the
Capitol.

The walls, ceilings, and woodwork in all the offices in the Capitol have
also been painted.

The plain painting of all corridors and public rooms has been cleaned
and renewed from time to time and kept in good condition.

When the roof of the Capitol began to leak in such a manner as to
threaten serious injury to the interior of the building, and especially to the
beautiful decorations, the Commission secured the services of an expert who
repaired the roof and guaranteed his work for ten years.

Again when the concrete terrace which surrounds the building opened in
such a way as to permit streams of water to pour into the basement,
endangering the very foundations of the building, the Commission again
came to the rescue. A waterproof concrete slab was placed over all the
terrace and joints were carefully caulked to prevent the recurrence of this
calamity.

The large space under the wide stairway which leads up to the State
entrance to the Capitol had only an earthen lloor. Water leaking through the
joints in the steps made this damp and foul. I'nder the direction of the
Commission this space was cleaned out, a granitoid lloor was laid and the
joints in the steps were properly caulked. Thus a valuable storage room was
secured for the use of the departments housed in the Capitol.

The electric lights in the Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Museum and in the
Resources Museum were found inadequate for the proper lighting of the
valuable paintings there installed. Suitable fixtures were procured and brass
railings were also placed in these museums for the protection of the
paintings.

The lighting systems in the Senate Chamber, in the House of Repre-
sentatives, and in the chandelier of the great dome were found by experience
to be entirely inadequate. Kxpert advice was secured and these lighting
fixtures were remodeled with very satisfactory results.

The lighting system of the Capitol grounds having entirely broken
down, the Decoration Commission installed an entirely new system which is
giving very adequate illumination.

The steam heating system of the Capitol had not been equipped with
metal radiator shields. In consequence, the hot air, laden with dust, passed
directly up the walls over the radiators, seriously discoloring them. To
prevent this, the Commission has secured the installation of proper radiator
shields.

The window draperies and some of the furnishings in such public places
as the Governor’s offices, the Senate lounge and the House lounge have by
long years of service become worn and shabby. The Commission has caused
these furnishings to be replaced.
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MRS. WILLIAM ROCK PAINTER
Capitol Decoration Commission

Mrs. William Rock Painter (Cora Herndon), is a native Missourian from a long line of distinguished Colonial and Revolutionary
Virginia ancestors. Married to former Lieutenant-Governor Painter. January- 12. 1888. To this union four children were born. She is a
member of the Baptist Church and stands for all that is uplifting and refining. Her old colonial home is proverbial for its gracious
hospitality. Honorary State Regent of the Daughters of the American Revolution, to her goes much of the credit for marking early
Missouri highways and many historic spots. She is State President of the N. S. United States Daughters of 1812. Through her efforts the
St. Joseph Lead Company gave to the State the old Herculaneum Shot Tower. She is Chairman of the Arrow Rock Tavern Board. Also
member of the Colonial Dames XV1I Century, United Daughters of the Confederacy, American War Mothers, League of American Pen
Women.
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To add to the comfort of visitors while inspecting the paintings,
mahogany benches have been placed at intervals in the mezzanine floors of
the museums and in the Central rotunda. (Page 29)

Experience having shown that the slamming of the heavy office doors by
the wind was loosening the door frames anti injuring the walls, pneumatic door
checks and door stops were purchased anti fitted to the doors.

The finish of many of the mahogany doors was being injured by affiixing
written or printed notices to the tloors by means of gummed paper. Attractive
bronze holders were designed, made, and placed upon the doors in w'hich cards
with the desired information can be placed.

When it w*as discovered that the swinging of the tloors at the entrances of
the Senate and of the House and that the opening of the heavy steel doors of
some of the departmental vaults was injuring the walls, adequate “stops” were
procuretl and placetl in position for these tloors.

The small casters upon the legs of the swivel chairs in the Senate were
cutting into and injuring the carpet. These were replaced by larger and better
rollers.

On the grounds on the river front of the Capitol, shrubs anti plants had
been placed in unsightly wooden tubs. These tubs were replaced by
handsome urns made of artificial stone, bulbs anti shrubs were also procured
for the decoration of the Capitol grountls.

Through the co-operation of the Tower Grove Park Commission in St.
Louis rare and beautiful lilies have been placetl in the fountains on the
Capitol grounds.

With the assistance of the State Fish anti Game Department, gold fish
have been added to these fountains.

Advisory Committee.

In 1922, in connection with certain practical questions affecting the
work of the Capitol Decoration Commission, it was decided to form an
Advisory Committee. The Commission, therefore, invited Governor A. M.
Hyde, Lieutenant-Governor Hiram Lloyd, Senator William Irw'in, Lester
Shepard Parker, and Hugh Stephens to serve in this capacity. The members
of this Committee were ready at all times to render assistance. Two of these
in fact, the late Lester Shepard Parker and Hugh Stephens, because of their
residence in Jefferson City, because of their profound interest in the Capitol
and its decoration, and because of their deep appreciation of art in its relation
to life, have rendered to the Commission and to the State invaluable service.
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Frederick D. Gardner ILniiorr W. Major
Hersert S. HapLey
Arthur M. Hyde Sam A. Baker
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The Administrations Concerned With the Erec ion and
Decoration of the Capitol

During the period 1911-192X, while the Capitol was being erected and
decorated, five C.overnors held office in Missouri.

1. Herbert S. Hadley—1908-1912.

In this administration the old C'apitol was burned, the funds for the new
C'apitol were voted by the people, and the C'apitol building Commission was
appointed.

2. Elliott W. Major -1912-1916.

Cnder this administration the corner stone of the new C'apitol was laid
with appropriate ceremonies conducted by the C.rand Lodge of Missouri A.
F. and A. M. on June ‘24, 1915. Addresses were delivered by Grand Master
Tolman \V. Colton, Governor Klliott \Y. Major, Judge Henry Lamm and
others.

3. Frederick D. Gardner -1916-1920.

In accordance with a law passed by the 49th General Assembly,
Governor Gardner appointed the C'apitol Decoration Commission in May,
1917.

4.  Arthur M. Hyde-1920-1924.

During this administration the C'apitol was dedicated with stately
ceremonial in the presence of a vast throng of people on October 0, 1923.
Eloquent addresses were delivered by former Governors A. M. Dockery,
Herbert S. Hadley, Klliott \Y. Major, Frederick 1). Gardner and by Governor
Hyde.

5. Sam A. Baker—1924-1928.

Under Governor Baker the decorations were completed and the Capitol
Decoration Commission made this its final report.
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Description of the State Capitol
Exterior and Location

The style of architecture of the Capitol is renaissance surmounted by a
dome of unusual beauty. It has practically four fronts, the northern front
being upon the Missouri river and the southern or main front upon High
Street. Its longitudinal axis is Main Street, or Capitol Avenue as it is now
called, and the terrace approaches upon the east and west give it the
appearance of fronting that street from its two ends.

It stands opposite the Supreme Court building, its north and south axis
running through the center of that structure. The facade effect from all sides
is strikingly beautiful.

It is constructed upon the exterior of Carthage, Missouri, stone, a pure
white crystalline limestone marble of hard and enduring texture. Engaged
fluted columns ornament the exterior of its walls, while noble free-standing
fluted columns surmount its north and south porticos and its eastern and
western fronts.

It is surrounded by a beautiful concrete terrace twelve feet wide,
extending almost entirely around the building. The wide esplanade is
inclosed with a handsome balustrade and is finely lighted. The walls of the
terrace are bush-hammered in imitation of stone.

The Story of the New State Capitol

On the evening of February 5, 1911, a flash of lightning struck the dome
of the state capitol, and although the fire at first was no larger than a man’s
hand, within an hour the building was in flames, and despite all efforts to
arrest them, the structure, with most of its contents, was swiftly consumed,
leaving only the walls standing.

The Forty-sixth General Assembly, being then in session, passed an act
authorizing the issuance of $3,500,000 of bonds, of which $3,000,000 and
interest were to be used in the erection of a new building, and as much as was
necessary of $300,000 in furnishing the same, and $200,000 for the
purchasing of additional ground. The proposition was submitted to a vote of
the people at a special election held August 1, 1911, and was ratified by a
vote of 144,664 for to 45,468 against.

The State Capitol Commission Board

In accordance with this act, approved March 24, 1911, the board of the
permanent seat of government, consisting of Herbert S. Hadley, Governor;
Cornelius Roach, Secretary of State; James Cowgill, State Treasurer; E. W.
Major, Attorney General, and John P. Gordon, State Auditor, appointed a bi-
partisan State Capitol Commission Board, consisting of E. W. Stephens,
Columbia, and J. C. A. Hiller, Glencoe, Democrats; and A. A. Speer,
Chamois, and Theodore Lacaff, Nevada, Re-
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publicans. The duties of the commission were to pure** ‘e additional ground,
to let all contracts for the construction of the . uilding and to superintend its
erection. The commission met on October 6, 1911, and organized by electing
E. W. Stephens, Chairman, and A. A. Speer, Vice-Chairman.
Selection of Architects

The law directed that the plans should be obtained by a competitive
architectural contest. This contest was held under the rules of the American
Institute of Architects. There were two competitions, one preliminary, in
which there were sixty-eight competitors. From these were selected ten
competitors and from these ten the architect of the building was chosen. The
last contest was anonymous. In each*the Board was assisted by a jury of
eminent architects, and in both decisions the conclusions of the Board were
in conformity with the findings of the juries, and were unanimous. The final
choice fell to Tracy and Swart- wout of New York City, who were chosen on
October (>, 1912. They were paid a fee of 0% commission which finally
aggregated over $200,000.

Length of Time in Building

By the terms of the contract the superstructure of the building was to be
completed July 1, 1910, and it would have been finished by that time but for
the controversy over stone. It was practically finished by July 1, 1917, and in
September of that year the contractor was paid in full, except some money
reserved to complete certain sub-contracts and to remedy defects caused by
salt stains in the stone. These stains were caused in December, 1915, by salt
being placed, without the authority of the Board, in the lewis holes, upon a
theory that this would prevent the water from freezing and cracking the
stone.

A building of this magnitude, beauty and importance must necessarily
rise slowly. We know of no state capitol building of equal size and value that
has been finished in so short a period. The state of lowa was nine years in
building her capitol; Minnesota, thirteen years; Wisconsin, twelve years;
Arkansas, fourteen years; Illinois, twenty-one years; New York, thirty-three
years.

Not one of these, nor any other State, has received more for the money
expended.

The building, including the furnishings and terraces and all necessary
equipment, was finished within the appropriation voted by the people, and it
could not be duplicated for double the amount at this day. The work was
done at unusually low cost.

Foundations and Dimensions

The building stands upon 285 concrete piers of varying sizes, which
extend to solid rock at depths ranging from twenty to fifty feet. It is 437 feet
long by 200 feet wide in the wings and 300 feet through the center. It is 88
feet from the floor of the basement to the top of the exterior wall, and 262
feet from the basement floor and 400 feet from the Missouri river level to the
apex of the dome.
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It has four stories besides the basement, of heights as follows: basement,
13}4 feet; first floor, 17 feet; second floor, 18 feet; third floor, 12 feet; fourth
floor, 10f feet.

The building covers approximately three acres, has nearly 500,000 feet
of floor space and contains 9,000,000 cubic feet. It cost, exclusive of grounds
and furnishings, $3,600,000, or about 40 cents per cubic foot.

Deducting architectural, administrative, and incidental expenses, the
actual cost of mechanical construction did not exceed $3,200,000, or thirty-
five cents per cubic foot.

Some of Its Parts in Detail

As conveying some idea of its magnitude and the material that went into
it, the following figures may be of interest:

The framework is of steel, of which there are 5,200 tons which cost the
state $354,448.73. At this time, if this steel could be obtained at all, which is
improbable, it would cost three times that amount.

There are 240,000 cubic feet of stone in the building. There are 70,000
cubic feet upon the interior. The total cost of the stone was $774,900 and it
would be over $250,000 in excess of this amount at this time.

The number of brick used was 4,650,000, costing $125,136.84.

The heating, plumbing and ventilation cost $276,838; the plastering,
$163,980; and the painting, $16,763. There were 30,876 barrels of cement
used in the superstructure and 12,500 barrels of cement and 9,000 cubic
yards of crushed stone in the basement.

The number of square feet of polished plate glass is 17,372; of emery
ground glass, 8,739; and of colored cathedral glass, 5,715.

The diameter of the dome at its greatest dimension is 104 feet, and there
are thirty-two columns around the drum of the dome three feet in diameter
and twenty-four feet high.

The height of the shell of the dome and lantern is 90 feet and the
diameter of the shell is 78 feet. There are sixteen highly carved panels around
the drum of the dome, five feet high by nine feet wide.

There are three hundred feet of sculptural frieze work, eight and nine
feet high in front and rear porticos. 24,000 cubic feet are in carving.

There are 47 stones that contain from 100 to 326 cubic feet each.

There are 1,400 feet of dentil course around the building and 90,000
cubic feet of special moulding.

There are 200 carved medallions on rear and front porticos.

There are two pent houses over Senate and House. Their large cathedral
glass windows from three sides send a flood of mellow light into these
chambers.

There are re-entrant pylons at the four corners of the exterior.

There are twelve monoliths in the lantern of the dome nine feet high by
eighteen inches in diameter.

The ceilings of the porticos and the dome are highly decorated in
ornamental plaster.
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There are 134 columns in the entire building. Of these there are six on
the rear portico, forty-eight feet high, and eight upon the front portico, forty-
eight feet high, the diameter of the columns upon both porticos being four
feet eight and a half inches. They are surmounted by Corinthian capitals
seven feet two inches wide by five feet three inches high.

There are thirty-two engaged columns, forty feet high, and twenty free-
standing columns in end wings. One-fourth of all the stone in the structure is
in columns.

721 carloads of stone were used in the exterior and 44 in the interior.

The steps of the main entrance are 120 feet in the greatest length.

Striking Features

The outlines of the building are classic, and symmetrical to a high
degree. The beautiful fluted columns, free and engaged, entirely surrounding
the structure, give the appearance of a C.recian temple erected in the halcyon
days of ancient architecture.

The dome is one of unsurpassed beauty. The architect has devoted much
study to this feature and has achieved a glorious success. The carving upon
its exterior is exquisite. Not only is it in si/e and contour and finish in fine
harmony with the building, but when burnished by the rays of the morning or
evening sun, or better still when its background is a mass of storm clouds, it
is a picture of peerless grandeur. No American capitol has a dome which
excels or equals it. Kvery detail of it is of purest architectural design.

The feature of accessibility has had special attention. There are
entrances to the basement from three sides, to the first floor from four sides,
and to the second floor from two sides. Automobiles and other vehicles can
reach the basement from the east, and the first floor by a porte cochere. In
addition to the six elevators are two stairways from the basement, eight from
the first floor, and four from the second and third floors, besides the grand
stairway.

A whispering gallery in the dome, the only one in any building which
has been scientifically planned, is one of the unique features.

An equipment of fire and burglar proof vaults is provided for all the
principal offices and there are many storage rooms.

All doors are mahogany, substantially constructed, provided with strong
ornamental hard A are and surmounted with ground plate glass transom.

The walls of the rotunda and the corridors and vestibules of the first,
second and third floors and of the grand stairway are lined with Carthage and
Phenix marble. The floors of all the corridors, rotundas and all the treads of
the stairways are of solid Carthage marble, which makes as attractive an
interior as it does an exterior finish.

The heavy overhanging arches in and around the rotundas, and the
numerous piers encased in marble give an appearance of massiveness and
strength in contrast with the columns usually to be found in similar places in
public buildings.
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A merit of the building that must not be overlooked is that it is fireproof,
built with a strength and solidity rendering it impregnable to injury or
destruction by any natural cause short of an earthquake.

Rotunda and Museums

The rotunda is sixtv-eight feet In diameter. It is noble in proportions, is
finely lighted in the daytime by a series of twelve windows and adjacent
corridors, and at night by standards and a magnificent chandelier. Leading to
it upon the first floor from either side east and west are two corridors sixty
feet wide by 112 feet long, extending upwards through two stories, the
ceilings being 40 feet. These are fine monumental features, purely original
with this building, and the purpose is to use one as a Historic and the other as
a Resources museum, in which may be displayed the history and resources,
natural and artificial, of the state in such a manner as may be hereafter
determined. They are immediately under the House and Senate Chambers.

Between the rotunda and either museum supporting the bridges and
arches are four large red granite columns, eight in all, from Graniteville,
Missouri. All the other columns, except those in the House and Senate, are of
either Carthage or Phenix stone.

In the center of the rotunda upon the floor is a large seal of the state,
wrought in bronze.

There is a system of drinking fountains supplied with water cooled by a
refrigerating plant located in the basement, and there are 72 time clocks in the
corridors and the principal rooms.

Grand Stairway and Front Door
{Page 1U)

Probably the most monumental feature of the building is the grand
stairway 30 feet wide, which starts at the entrance from the front portico and
extends to the third or legislative floor. It is lighted from above by a splendid
cathedral skylight and is lined on either side by large columns of Phenix
stone or Napoleon gray marble. It is over sixty-five feet from the wall on one
side to the wall across the stairway to the other side. This is said to be the
widest stairway in the world. At the entrance stands the bronze front door 13
by 18 feet in size, said to be the largest since the Roman era. From this door
and from the portico in front it is possible to see into the dome. This is a
splendid monumental feature without parallel in any other public building.
This mammoth door, with two adjacent bronze doors, cost $15,000. The view
of the Legislative Library across the rotunda and the golden light which
filters through the glass in the ceiling of the library is a specially beautiful
feature. The architect has wrought a wonderful effect here. It is 65 feet from
the foot of this grand stairway to the ceiling.

How the Different Stories Are Utilized
The four stories above the basement have been planned in such manner
as to best conserve the efficiency and convenience of the public service.
Those offices which bear closest relation, or which involve corresponding or
co-ordinate duties, are placed close to each other.
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First Floor

The custodian of the building, Public Service, Insurance, Finance,
Library and Workmen’s Compensation Commissions and Board of Agri-
culture occupy the first floor.

Executive Floor

The second story is set apart for the elective officials. The Governor’s
rooms are upon the north overlooking the river, and constitute, as they
should, the central feature not only of this floor, but of the entire building.
The Governor’s reception room is elliptical in form and is finished in oak
with the seals of the different states carved in the frieze. The wood carving in
this room is very fine.

The Governor’s private secretary’s room, the Governor's room and
board and stenographers’ rooms complete this suite and are finished in an
artistic manner. Upon the west of the Governor is the Secretary of State and
upon the east, the Auditor. The Auditor and Secretary of State’s offices are
opposite each other at the two ends of the corridor.

The State Treasurer, the Superintendent of Education, Corporation
Department, Motor Vehicle Department, VVocational Training Department,
and General Board offices complete the rooms upon this floor.

The view of the rotunda and of the museum rooms from this floor is a
very pleasing one, and when this central area is filled with people it affords a
scene of rare animation and interest. The Governor’s rooms are reached from
the lower floor by two curved marble stairways, the landing of which forms a
platform from which to address a multitude of people assembled in the
rotunda and adjoining corridors.

The Legislative Floor

The third, or legislative floor, is in many respects the most attractive of
the building. The scene in the corridor between the two assembly rooms is
inspiring to a high degree. A mellow light from the cathedral glass lends
subdued effect, while the great dome above and the splendid chandelier
suspended from it is majestic and inspiring. The assembly rooms are opposite
each other. The ceilings in each room are 50 feet above the floor. The floor
space of the Senate is 68 by 70 feet and of the House 70 by 78 feet. The
Senate is furnished with walnut desks and chairs and rostrum and provides
for 50 senators. The House is furnished in mahogany and provides for 150
members. Ample galleries for visitors are in both chambers. The rostra of
both are ornate specimens of architecture and workmanship. Twelve noble
granite columns line either side of the House chamber and 16 marble
columns extend around the gallery and stand behind the President’s rostrum
in the Senate. Both chambers are lighted by art glass windows that extend
above the roof, a feature peculiar to this capitol. Special attention has been
paid to the matter of acoustics. Professor Sabine of Harvard, an expert in that
line, directed this feature of the work, which has been highly successful. The
acoustics in both chambers are admirable.
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Both the House and Senate are provided with lounging or retiring rooms for
the members. These rooms are among the handsomest in the building. That for the
Senate is finished in oak and the one for the House in marble. Both are furnished
with leather divans and chairs and attractive carpets, electric fixtures and tables
and are convenient to the two chambers. Each lounging room is divided into two
apartments, one large and one small, and they have proven of great value during
the sessions of the legislature.

Upon this floor are rooms for the presiding officers and secretaries of the
two houses and also many rooms for committees, and for the press, telegraph and
telephone and postoffice. Midway between the two assembly rooms and upon the
north overlooking the river is the Legislative Library room, another original
feature of this building. It is one of the most attractive rooms in the building and
is a great convenience as a reference library to the legislators.

Fourth Floor and Roof

The fourth or top story is set apart for committee rooms, the Adjutant-
General and such other departments of the public service as may be assigned to it.
Among these are the Boards of Charity, of Pharmacy, of Health, Bureau of Mines,
Tax Commission, Building and Loan, Food and Drug, Board of Managers of State
Eleemosynary Institutions and of Labor Statistics.

There are over 100 rooms in the entire building and there is not one that is so
located and appointed that it will not be of service to the state.

The roof is of slate, and is so constructed that it may be used on occasions
for large assemblies. The parapet wall upon the roof extends to a height of eleven
feet. It will be possible to put another story upon the building should this one not
prove adequate for the Public Service.

A PLACE OF REST
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HISTORICAL

The first seat of government of Missouri pending its admission into the
Union was located in St. Louis in 1820, and the first building occupied in
that city as a state capitol was the Mansion House on the northeast corner of
Third and Vine Streets. In it was held the convention which framed the
constitution for the prospective state.

The second state capitol building was the Missouri Hotel on the
southwest corner of Main and Morgan Streets, St. Louis. It consisted of three
stories and a basement. It was used as a capitol from September, 1820, to
June, 1821. In this structure the first legislature was held, the first election
returns for governor were canvassed and the first two United States Senators
were elected, David Barton and Thomas H. Benton.

During this session of the legislature a bill was passed locating the
temporary seat of government at St. Charles until 1820, and a special session
of the legislature was held in that city in June, 1821. A brick building was
erected. It was of two stories, twenty by thirty feel and with a saddleback
roof.

In 1820 the permanent capitol was located in Jefferson City. It was
provided that the building should be suitable for the residence of the
Governor, and that it should contain also two large rooms, with two
fireplaces, the one on the first floor for the House, and on the second floor
for the Senate. The structure was to serve as the fourth capitol, and was to
cost not to exceed $25,000. In 1825, the sum of $18,373 was appropriated to
its construction. It burned in 1837.

A new capitol building was finished in 1840. It cost $350,000. It was 85
by 192 feet, had two stories and a basement and a dome one hundred and
thirty feet high. It was said to have been one of the three handsomest public
buildings in the United States at that time. It was enlarged in 1888 by the
addition of two wings each seventy-six by one hundred and nine feet and the
dome was increased to 185 feel high, all at the total cost of $220,000. It
burned February 5, 1911. Its floor space was about 50,000 square feet. The
new building has a floor space in its five stories of 500,000 square feet, or
ten times that of the old one, and has cost over six times as much, or
$3,000,000 outside of the grounds and furnishing. But the new building is
much more substantial in construction and ornate in architecture.

Inscriptions

The Commission under whose direction the Capitol was erected added
an important decorative element by inscribing on the walls of the corridors
and public rooms some of the choicest epigrams and quotations to be found
in the English language, such as: “The earth is the Lord’s
and the fullness thereof;” “Nothing is politically right that is morally wrong;”
“Be just and fear not;” “Righteousness exalteth a nation,” “Lord God of
Hosts, be with us yet, lest we forget.”

3
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THE DECORATIONS OF THE CAPITOL

The subject of all the decorations of the Capitol is Missouri.

Here we find Missouri legends and Missouri history, Missouri men and
Missouri women, Missouri cities and Missouri country, Missouri landscapes
and Missouri rivers, Missouri in war and Missouri in peace, Missouri’s
distinguished sons and Missouri’s achievements as a state, Missouri ideas
and Missouri ideals, Missouri at all stages of her existence and development.

No other state in this section of our country is so rich as Missouri in
picturesque legend and colorful history.

For the starting point of our discussion we will go to the river front of
the Capitol and view the representation of the signing of that treaty which
rendered the Missouri of today possible.

THE RIVER FRONT OF THE CAPITOL
THK SIGNING OF THE TREATY By KaRrRL BITTKR, N. A.
(Pages 32 and /.jS)
THK FOUNTAIN OF THK CKNTAURS By ApoLiMI ALKXANDKR WKINMAX,

N. A., of New York {Paw 34)

The great relief commemorating the signing of the treaty by which the
United States acquired the Louisiana Purchase was designed and executed in
stall by the eminent sculptor, Karl Bitter. It formed an important part of the
decorative sculpture of the Louisiana Purchase Exposition in St. Louis.

Since Jefferson’s acquisition of Louisiana was epoch-making for this
whole western country, since without this purchase Missouri as we know it
could never have come into being, it was deemed fitting that this group
should be cast in imperishable bronze and placed among the decorations of
the Capitol. Mrs. Bitter, widow of the sculptor, graciously gave her approval
of this plan.

No more appropriate location could be found than the one the relief
now occupies. It is on the brow of the bluff overlooking the great river which
drains a large part of the territory purchased by Jefferson. Up the river and
past the point where the group stands, Lewis and Clark traveled on their
journey across the continent.

By conquering Spain, Napoleon had secured all her possessions in
North America, including what is now known as “The Louisiana Purchase.”
The United States could ill afford to see a strong European power in control
of New Orleans and of the commerce of the Mississippi River. Therefore,
President Jefferson authorized Robert Livingston, our Ambassador to
France, to negotiate with Napoleon for the purchase of New Orleans by this
country. James Monroe, afterwards President, was sent to Paris to assist our
Ambassador.
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In 1803 Napoleon was in need of money. England, Mislress of the Seas,
was on the eve of declaring war with France. The first act of that war would
be the seizure by England of these new possessions of France in the New
World. Marbois, Napoleon’s treasurer, advised their sale, saying: “Why
should we hesitate to make a sacrifice of
that which is slipping from us?” So not New Orleans, but the entire
possessions of France in North America, were offered to our Commission for
S 15,000.000. Neither Jefferson nor the Commissioners had authority to
make the purchase. Nevertheless, the purchase was made.

At its conclusion, Livingston could well say: “We have lived long, but
this is the noblest work of our lives. From this day the United States take
their place among the powers of the first rank.”

The relief shows the dimax of the discussion. The artist has eliminated
all unnecessary accessories and superlluous figures. The
audience chamber is suggested by the table. The candelabrum upon it hints at
the protracted nature of the negotiations. Three figures only are represented.
But what figures they arc! These men belong to the immortals. Livingston is
standing, Monroe is seated. Marbois. for France, is signing the document.
This is one of the (‘rises in the world’s history. By that signature a vast
empire, with resources richer than the dreams of avarice, changed hands. By
that signature the United States of today became possible. With what
consummate skill the artist, by the omission of non-essentials, drives home
this one great thought. The group is a masterpiece in composition and in
expression.

The designing of the setting for Bitter’s relief, the superintendence of
the casting of his group, and the entire construction of the fountain and its
decorative sculpture were entrusted to Adolph Alexander Weinman of New
York. (Page 3/y)

The massive granite, with its tinge of ruddy color, forms a superb
background for the “Signing of the Treaty.” The oval fountain adds the
attraction of water to the scene.

In the sculptured figures of his fountain, Weinman has sought for
contrast with Bitter’s work. He has gone back to the time when the world
was young and the vivid imagination of the old Greek peopled the woods
and the streams with many a fantastic being. Here the artist has envisioned
the wild untamed life of the vast forests primeval which covered these hills
and spread over these plains in the long ages before the white man came. He
has re-created the fabled centaurs, half man, half animal, and placed in his
fountain these two straining powerful figures in fierce struggle w'ith serpent
and wilh fish, while roguish sea-urchins, one might well say sea-gamins.
delightedly throw streams of water over the muscular brutes. These
wonderful centaurs symbolize for us the barbaric forces which in the distant
past contended with primitive nature in this fair land of ours. The urchins
suggest the joyousness of young animal life even in those distant days.

Across the spacious fountain between these fabled creations of a distant age
we gaze at the serene, gracious dignity of Bitter’s relief and feel that here is
adequately typified the culture and the civilization which Jefferson’s purchase
brought to the mighty west.
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NORTH FRIEZE
By Herman A. McNEIL, N. A., of New York

The north frieze, extending beneath the portico, faces the Missouri
River, which for unnumbered generations served as the great highway
between the east and the west. On its bluffs mound builders raised memorials
to their dead. Upon its waters for centuries Indians passed to and fro. Up this
stream also the white man’s civilization came.

It is fitting, therefore, that this frieze should represent an allegory of the
changing civilizations, should show how the best of the old order was
replaced by the best of the new.

Its panels are not arranged in regular order from left to right, but are
designed to balance each other in composition and theme.

Primitive Man (Page 36A)

A small panel at the extreme eastern end of the frieze, on the side of the
great pillar facing east, and at right angles to the river, represents primitive
man wielding a club against a bear. This is the first step towards man’s
supremacy, the first movement along the road over which the human race, by
the development of its latent powers, has painfully ascended.

From Generation to Generation (Page 381')

On the extreme west, also at right angles to the river, in a fine panel of
two figures, we are taught the theory of progress.

The young man with stick and bundle facing the rising sun, eager for
the journey of life, pauses for a moment for the Godspeed of the seated old
man and to receive the accumulated wisdom of the older generations.

Missouri Welcoming the Culture from the East (Page 36B)

This is the large panel outside the portico on the east.

On the right, with the state seal in the background, is seated the classic
figure of Missouri holding by her side a boy typifying the coming
generations. She welcomes, in order from left to right, Philosophy and
Music, then Science, who bears a victory whose pedestal is already prepared.
The plow (below at the left) suggests the glories of Agriculture. The temple
(between the feet of Science) prophecies the splendors of Architecture.

Missouri, the Mother of the West (Page 380)

This is the panel outside the portico on the west.

The covered wagon, with its strong horses, forms the background.

Missouri, a stately seated figure, has the cornucopia of prosperity in her
left hand and the eagle of authority in her right. Out of her abundance she is
equipping and sending forth the sturdy pioneers with axe and gun, secure in
the promise of plenty and of power, for the winning of the West.



38

COMPLETE REPORT OF THE

NORTH FRIEZE (See Page 39)



CAPITOL DECORATION COMMISSION 39

Aboriginal Religious Development
The Hopi Snake Dance {Page S6C)

The large panel just under the portico on the east.

These Indians have advanced beyond the nomadic stage. They dwell in
stone and adobe huts and seek to make a livelihood through agriculture.

Here they are engaged in a religious ceremony beseeching the Great
Spirit for rain. The Snake and Antelope clans go forth north, east, south, and
west, gather up rattlesnakes, and, returning to the consecrated place, perform
their religious rites. On the ninth day they seize the snakes in their mouths
and engage in the well known ceremonial dances. They are often bitten, but
experience no ill effects, owing to an antidote known only to themselves. As
the snakes drop from their mouths they are gathered up and, at the
conclusion of the ceremonies, are taken back to the places from which they
were captured.

In the Indian sign language the snake, the flash of lightning and the
river are represented by the same compound curved line. Hence they pray
through the snake to the lightning to send rain.

This ceremony is typical of the religious life of the Indians in the entire
Southwest.

The High Point of Aboriginal Intellectual Development (Page 88N)

The panel corresponding to the last is just under the portico to the west.

The figures represent the ancient inhabitants of Central America with
their curiously carved altars and temples which reveal a high state of
mathematical attainment.

With strange ceremonial and abstruse calculations the future of the
warrior’s offspring is being forecast.

The Grand Motive

The long space extending in a curve under the portico contains a
masterful composition.

We will commence at the eastern corner and move to the right towards
the center.

The ornate caravel of the time of Columbus has landed. The
commander and two followers press forward over the prostrate body of an
Indian. To the right the astronomer, with the light of science in his left hand
and the book of learning in his right, bends over the globe, representing the
earth, now for the first time proven to be a sphere.

Next the warrior, eager-eyed and strong, guided by winged victory,
tramples beneath his feet the dragon of ignorance and superstition. Then the
crouching slave is freed from his shackles and taught to lift his face to the
light and to raise his hands towards the radiance of Divine Energy. Next the
serene figure in Apostolic garb lifts the cross high and the virgins before him
stand in the attitude of adoration. {Page 86DEFGH)

So these figures on this side of the curve deal with the imagination, the
intellect, and the spirit. They tell us of discovery, of learning, of fighting for
the light of truth, of the equality of man, of the necessity of faith, and of the
beauty of worship.
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Leaving the central space we begin at the western end of the curve and
move to the left towards the center.

First are the inventions of the Mechanical Age. Strong figures stripped to
the waist are using the wheel and the lever.

Then comes the Age of Electricity, a figure of power with bolts of lightning
in his outstretched hand. Partly visible beneath his cloak is a man shackled by his
ankle to a pillar to suggest the forces and uses of electricity still undiscovered.

Next are figures with sickle and with cymbals following a cart laden with
sheaves. Maidens bear baskets of flowers. This group, led by a pioneer with an
axe, portrays the achievements and the joys of agriculture.

The strongest motive of life is the mating instinct. The next group presents
the betrothed pair in partial embrace, while the rival maiden, dejected, crouches
at the feet of the groom.

The figures on this side of the curve, then, deal with man’s conquest and
enjoyment of the material things of earth. But through the divinity of human love
we are again taught to look to the radiant being in the center of the curve. {Page
38M L K J)

This stately figure, seated upon a throne, is flanked on either side by angels,
the one with the cup of consecration, the other with the crown of life. In his
hands are the tablets of Faith, Law and Justice; of Love, Truth and Peace. From
him cut deep and strong emanate the rays of divine energy.

This is not Moses, nor does the figure represent any personality. It
symbolizes rather the white man’s consciousness of a Supreme Being. It stands
for the instinct to worship, which is inherent in the human soul.

This figure of “Radiant Energy” (illustrated bebw) consecrates the white
man’s civilization which, for the uplifting and upbuilding of our race, has
supplanted the best that the red man knew. {Page 411)

T s, ...

——

SR AR S R R S S AR e D A e 3

I—RADIANT ENERGY




< OMI'LLK I K KKI'OR I OI- 'T III-;

FOUNTAIN OF THE SCIENCES (Srr Iiires 43 and 26)



CAPITOL DECORATION COMMISSION

SOUTH FRONT OF THE CAPITOL
TWO STATELY FOUNTAINS
1. Of the Sciences

2. Ofthe Arts
By RoBerT I. AITKEN, N. A, of New York

These fountains are placed within the lawn, one on each side of the
central approach which leads from High street to the main entrance of the
Capitol.

They are nobly proportioned to their surroundings, and are characterized
by simplicity and dignity. The stone of which they are made harmonizes
admirably with that used in the construction of the Capitol.

Each fountain has two basins, a lower, 35 feet, and an upper, 11 feet in
diameter.

In the center of each a massive pillar with appropriate architectural
mouldings supports the upper basin, and is further ornamented with four
beautiful sculptured figures. Those in the fountain to the east of the drive
represent the Sciences; those in the western fountain portray the Arts.

The Sciences
Geometry, Geology, Chemistry, Astrology (Pages 2(> and J;2)

Geometry (E), the first and noblest of the Sciences, is a fine male figure
of ripe maturity. This is on the side facing the Capitol building. He bears in
his left hand the compasses, in his right a weighty sphere. With introspective
look his intellectual head is bent in profound thought as he ponders over the
wonders of mathematics.

On the opposite side of the pillar is another male figure of equal dignity
and worth. This is Geology (G), whose function it is to trace the story of
earth through the long cycles of time. He is earnestly studying the crystals
which his hammer has just broken from the ledge of rock against which he
leans.

Contrasting with these beautifully modeled male figures are two richly
draped female figures.

Chemistry (F), of distinguished bearing, with the lamp of investigation
in her right hand, is earnestly studying the contents of the test tube which she
holds in her left.

The fourth science is not Astronomy (H), fascinating as the study of the
stars has become in these later years, but it is her elder sister, Astrology. This
lovely alluring figure with exquisite classic drapery, takes us back into the
days of mystery and romance, to the time of the Philosopher’s Stone and of
the alchemist.

She has consulted the Astrolabe which she holds in her left hand. Now
she lifts the veil and gazes into the distant stars as if she would read the
horoscope of man.
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The Arts

Architecture, Sculpture, Painting, Music. (Pages and I/,t>)

In the western fountain we will first consider, on the side facing
the Capitol building, Architecture (A), for Architecture is the father of
all the Arts. In the prime of vigorous youth he stands firmly, easily
supporting with his hands a (‘.reek pillar with richly foliated capital.
Serene, confident, competent:, and masterful, he is alert and ready for
his task.

On the opposite side is Sculpture (C), vigorous and active. Sure of
himself and of his goal, he steps forward with chisel and mallet to free
his ideal from the inert mass of encumbering stone.

between these two, in fine contrast, is Painting (B), a stately woman
with palette and brush. Of almost masculine proportions, with strong
and thoughtful face, she pauses for a moment to contemplate the noble
work of her hands.

The fourth figure of the group is beautiful Music (I)'). W ith her in-
strument for a moment at rest she stands in absorbed attention as if
she were catching the distant strains of aeolian harps, or listening to the
divine harmony of the “Music of the Spheres.”

The Arts and Sciences must ever be guardians of the welfare of the
state, so these two fountains stand as sentinels on either side of the
entrance to the Capitol.

THE FLAG POLES
Designed by Eciskton syvarTwouT, 0f New York
Modeled by rRaimiaki. Miincont, of New York
(Page 1d())

Among the famous Hag poles of the world those standing in front of
St. Mark’s Cathedral in Venice are worthy of special mention. Their
bronze bases are justly famous. Naturally the details and ornamenta-
tion of these are derived from Venetian symbols and Venetian legends.

The Hag poles of St. Mark’s are the prototypes of our Missouri
Hag poles. Of course American symbols have replaced the Venetian
in the ornamentation. These two poles, placed symmetrically in front
of our Capitol, are of Oregon pine and rise fifty feet above the ground.
They are set deep in massive foundations of cement. These are
surmounted by octagonal plinths of Missouri marble fourteen feet in
diameter. On these rest the beautiful bronze
bases, nine feet in height.

These bronze bases, (for the two poles and

two bases are identical) are fine in design, beau-
tiful in modeling, and are splendid examples of
the bronze caster’s art. Among the rich orna-
mental designs we find the state seal and the
American eagle. On the four sides of each base
are representations of the four seasons. A bronze
American eagle is placed on the top of each pole.

“Old Glory” floats from the one, the Missouri
State flag from the other.
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FIGURE ON THE DOME
By SHERRY Fry, of New York (Page 54)

Standing on the top of the lantern of the dome 260 feet above the
ground, is an ideal figure in bronze by the sculptor, Sherry Fry. Though
intended to be seen only at this great height, the figure is most carefully and
beautifully modeled.

It is Ceres, who of all the classic divinities is best qualified to be the
patron goddess of this great agricultural state.

Her graceful garments seem in perpetual motion as the breezes of
heaven play about her.

She is a truly gracious and beneficent being. The thoughtful face bends
slightly forward. The kindly eyes look down on her votaries as they move to
and fro on the earth below. On her left arm she bears a sheaf of grain. Her
right hand extends forward and downward in perpetual blessing.

THE PEDIMENT OVER THE MAIN ENTRANCE
By ApoLprH ALExaNDER WEINMAN, N. A., of New York {Page 40)

This splendid jewel on the brow of the Capitol is worthy of its proud
position.

In the center is a noble figure of Missouri enthroned. Her left arm rests
on a shield bearing the coat of arms of the state. At her right stands a boy
with a winged globe, the "Spirit of Progress." (A)

At the right of this central group is “Agriculture,” represented by a
sturdy husbandman driving a powerful yoke of oxen, full of life and action.
A youth in the background bears a sheaf of grain. (B)

This group is followed by "Learning” (C), a female figure teaching a
child. Next comes “Art” (D), a female figure leaning upon a capital and
supporting a harp.

On the left of the central group is "Commerce,” typified by Hermes
guiding the "Steeds of Industry” which are characterized by spirit and
energy. (E)

Behind this group is a vigorous reclining male figure, "Law,” con-
templating the tablets on which are inscribed the Ten Commandments,
supported before him by a child. (F)

Then comes "Order,” a reclining female figure in the act of crushing the
serpent of Anarchy. (G)

The figure at the extreme left behind "Order” represents the "Genius of
Justice.” The figure at the extreme right behind "Art” symbolizes the
"Genius of Light.”

This great gable group is remarkable for its conception, its symmetrical
composition, and the rhythmical vitality of its action.

Here is the great commonwealth with the genius of progress supported
on the one side by light, art, learning, and agriculture, and on the other by
justice, order, law, and commerce.
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THE GREAT RIVERS
By Robert Aitken, N. A., of New York (Pages .'tS*-49)

The magnificent colossal reclining bronze figures on either side of the state
stairway in front of the Capitol symbolize Missouri’s great rivers. The splendid
female figure on the west with the corn, the wheat, and the fruits of the earth
fittingly represents the great Missouri. The noble male figure on the east with the
rudder of commerce and the cadu- ceus, the magic wand of Hermes, adequately
typifies the “Father of Waters.”

The four sides of the bronze bases on which these great figures repose are
decorated with beautiful low reliefs representing the action of the elements.

On the first, long side (A) in the center stands the sun god before the
glowing disk of the sun with its life-giving rays. The sacred serpent is coiled
about him. On the right vague liquifying figures with streaming hair suggest the
melting snows. On the left powerful forms represent nature’s forces opening the
rocks so that beneficent streams of water may gush forth.

On the second long side (B) the sun god with the sacred serpent occupies the
center as before.

On the right soft, lovely forms suggest the rising mists and vapors being
lured away in cloud forms by the gentle zephyrs. On the left are the storm winds
armed with lightning beating down the clouds into torrential rains.

On the one end (C) “Water is power.” Figures in vigorous action symbolize
the force of water or the rivers carving the continent.

On the other end (D) "Water is life.” Here we see the life-giving service of
water to man, to beast, and to plant.

END VIEW OF FIGURES



SOUTH FRIEZE (Sec Paye 51

LeiQ) DYOCED] fof Y LIN'Y >



CAPITOL DECORATION COMMISSION 51

THE SOUTH FRIEZE

By ALEXANDER STIRLING CALDER, N. A, of New York {Pages 50, 52)

The subject of this frieze, 138 feet long by C feet wide, is the history of
Missouri. Its treatment is realistic—decorative. The story is summarized in
typical periods and dramatic episodes. The interesting compositions are in
rhythmic groupings which emphasize human effort in variety, expressed in
bold masses of light and shade. The frieze is divided by the architectural plan
into thirteen panels of different lengths. The theme has been handled in such
a manner that the incident of the transfer of the Louisiana Purchase to the
United States is above the main entrance to the building. Thus all that
portion of the frieze to the left of the center applies to events before its
acquisition, all to the right to events since its acquisition by Jefferson.

Beginning at the extreme left on the western end of the frieze:

A. Aboriginal Indian Prayer to the Rising Sun. Primitive man in all
ages has been a sun-worshipper. So this rude figure of a rude age, with
uplifted hands, is in yearning salutation to the great power of light and life.
{Page 50)

B. Hernando DeSoto and His Fortune Hunters — Discovery of the
Mississippi River in 1541. This is one of the beautiful panels. The lonely
tragedy of DeSoto’s search for fabulous wealth, such as was found by
Pizarro in Peru and by Cortez in Mexico, is a fascinating chapter in the age
old story of the passion for gain which stills ways men. Page 50)

The captain of the greatest military power of the sixteenth century with
his gallant company of cavaliers has toiled through the virgin wastes and
thickets of a new land, beset by unseen and insidious forces of savagery,
privation and disease. Here on horseback at the head of his men he presses
forward even to the brink of the “Father of Waters” with arm outstretched
toward the "Chimaera of Affluence” floating away into the rays above the
setting sun. The dead body of an Indian guide lies at his feet, presaging that
DeSoto would find his last resting place beneath the waters of the great river
he discovered. {Page dO)

C. The Primitive Indian Buffalo Hunt. The Indians had neither fire-
arms nor horses, so they set fire to the grass of the prairies and forced the
buffalo within easy arrow range. {Page dO)

In the relief the surging power of the great brutes as they rise one above
the other is admirably shown.

D. Sieur de la Salle, "The Strong Colonist cf France." He was the first
white explorer of the Mississippi, and in 1682 he took possession of the
whole of Louisiana, naming it after Louis XIV, King of France. {Page 50)

E. The Primitive Log Cabin. The rugged manhood and womanhood
that adventured into the wilds of privation which only great strength and
courage could endure here find expression in the toil of building a refuge
from the elements, the first log cabin. Two men, old and young, are cheerily
working at their task, wife and mother with her babe looks approvingly on.
{P-age 50)
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F. Pioneer Ploughing and Prospecting for Ore Under Renault in
1720. The first attempt at breaking the soil for cultivation and the first
prospecting for lead are here represented, and the scene is laid in that portion
of the state which is still the greatest lead producing region in the world. At
the right Renault is standing above the workman who is sinking a shaft into
the earth. (Page 60)

G. The Founding of St. Louis by Laclede, 1764—77/e Transfer of
Louisiana to the United States, 1S04—The Lewis and Clark Expedition,
1804+ G is the longest of the panels. (Page 62)

On the extreme left are settlers, drovers and boatmen landing cattle
from New Orleans, at some point near what is now St. Louis. To the right of
these on high ground stand Laclede and Chouteau with map and flag
prepared to slake out the future city.

The central portion of this panel directly over the great door represents
the transfer of Louisiana to the United States.

When on March 9, 1804, the United States troops under Lieutenant
Worrell, Adjutant for Captain Stoddard, crossed over the Mississippi from
Cahokia to St. Louis, the Spaniards still had constructive possession and
DeLassus, the last Spanish Lieutenant Governor, was in charge.

A one-story government house of logs stood near the present corner of
Main and Walnut streets, where the Spanish flag was floating. De- Lassus,
having instructions to represent France, delivered a proclamation in the form
of a contract to Captain Stoddard, which both signed. Thus the vast domain
of more than seven hundred fifty million acres passed into the hands of the
United States. The flag of Spain was lowered and the flag of France was
raised. Then, after Captain Stoddard had replied to the address of DeLassus,
Old Glory was raised to the salute of guns from the Fort of St. Louis, near
the present site of the old Court House.

In the relief the interior of the government building is suggested, in
which Captain Stoddard (on the right) is receiving the contract from
DelLassus (on the left). The coats of arms of Spain, France, and the United
States are introduced in the accessories.

On each side of the building stands a sentinel, on the left the Spanish
soldier leaning on his gun as if dejected, on the right the American
vigorously alert, looking outward.

The right third of this panel represents the Lewis and Clark Expedition
in boats going up the Missouri river on their memorable journey. Lewis is
represented using a telescope. The smaller boat is being rowed, the larger
poled, permitting an interesting play of parallel lines. The lower edge of a
sail toward the bow of the larger boat is visible.

H. The Admission of Missouri into the Union in 1821. This represents
a scene which may have happened when the news of the definite and final
admission into the Union was confirmed. A great public meeting of the
citizens is organized. The first draft of the Federal proclamation signed by
James Monroe, President, is read. A state trophy is raised amid the joyous
acclamation of all the people. (Page 30)

I. Laying of the Corner Stone of the State University at Columbia,
July 4> 1840. The University city of Columbia is the scene of this panel.
The comer stone of the first University building is being laid.
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The orator of the occasion, realizing the importance of the event, describes in
glowing terms the advantages which will be placed at the disposal of students,
and by his eloquence summons before the minds of his audience the symbols of
those branches of learning which collectively form a university. {Page 60)

Students are gathered there, citizens are assembled, the state flag is floating
on the breeze and workmen are lowering the stone.

J. Mark Twain, the Mississippi River Pilot. His years spent as a pilot on a
river boat were eventful years of observation and experience, an unusual
apprenticeship for his career as an author, to which we attribute much of the
native flavor of his humor. He is standing at the wheel in his pilot house,
observant and ready. (Page 62)

K. Doniplum's Expedition in 1846. This was one of the most remarkable
military achievements in the annals of history. It was organized in Missouri at the
time of the Mexican War, assembled at Fort Leavenworth and set out 1,000
strong for the long journey of 900 miles to Santa Fe. New Mexico. This was
completed in fifty days. Santa he was captured. All of New Mexico and Arizona
were conquered from Mexico and made a part of the I’nion. (Page 62)

The panel represents the commander and his aide rounding a defile. L. The
Louisiana Purchase Exposition, 1804. Here is the suggestion of modern magic.
The imagination of the people strikes fire with the hard facts. 'I'llis brings an
elevation of mind with new visions in enterprise, in arts, in science, and in the
amenities of life. (Page 22) Amid the buildings of the exposition a symbolical
figure of Missouri is seen standing on the sphere supported by the recumbent
figures of the Hast and the West. She is guiding the rearing horse of the Muses,
Pegasus, and is receiving the peoples of the world.

All nations are en fete and at peace. Missouri is “at home” surrounded by
the evidences of her prosperity.

M. Eternal Maternity, the A merican Mother Rearing a Future Citizen. So
this eventful series of panels comes to a close with the endless history of
maternity, the hope of all races and of all commonwealths. (Tage 22)

T &

THE COLUMNS OF THE SENATE
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THOMAS JEFFERSON
By JAMES EARLE FRASER, N. A., of New York (Pages 04, »(>)

This commanding bronze statue, over thirteen feet tall, stands on a
handsome pedestal of Rock Creek granite in the center of the great stairway
leading to the principal entrance to the Capitol.

The task confronting the sculptor of this figure as he began his labors was
indeed a tremendous one. He must adequately portray the author of the
Declaration of Independence, a man thoroughly rounded in nature and in
accomplishments, a writer, a man who was for twenty years the head of the
Philosophical Society of the United States, an architect, a scholar, the great
Democratic statesman of all time, President, the man responsible for the
Louisiana Purchase, the man who so nobly fulfilled all the important
responsibilities which came to him in his notable career.

From its position this monumental figure is a part of the facade of the
Capitol. So it must be adequate in scale, important in volume, with a feeling for
the surrounding architecture conveyed in its form and mass. This must be done,
of course, with all thought for the feeling and character of the individual portrait.
Then the figure must be solid and sculptural, so that it would not be lost and
inadequate against the doorway of the Capitol building. It must be a part of the
whole scheme of this great entrance.

For material for the likeness the artist used the full length portrait by Gilbert
Stuart, the portrait head by Charles Wilson Peale, the life mask of Jefferson by
Brower.

The artist has splendidly accomplished his task. The great statue is
dignified, powerful, with a meditative aspect not only in the head but in the
figure throughout. Absolutely in repose, the statue is yet surcharged with vital
energy and dominates the entire scene. It is unquestionably the finest statute of
Jefferson in existence.

Ascending the steps behind the Jefferson statue, we pass through the great
bronze portal and ascend the State stairway. Over this is a beautiful mosaic glass
window by Sehladermundt. At the right and left of the head of this stairway are
niches containing bronze statues of Lewis and Clark.

= o Dt

STONE CARVINGS OF THE GRAND STAIRWAY
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MERIWETHER LEWIS—WILLIAM CLARK

By JAMES EARLE FRASER, N. A., of New York {Page 58)

The reading of the records of this wonderful expedition n 1804-01) from St.
Louis up the Missouri River, across the Rockies and down the Columbia River to
the Pacific Ocean carries conviction that this was a stupendous undertaking. This
was the first crossing of the North American continent north of the Mexican
border undertaken by white men. Along rivers, across plains, over mountains with
seemingly insuperable difficulties, this little band of thirty-nine men went and re-
turned with a loss ‘n the two years of only two men, one by death and one by
desertion. In all the journey they avoided trouble with the Indians.

The courageous leader with dauntless spirit was Meriwether Lewis.

The artist, using a portrait by Trumbull for the likeness, shows this virile,
peerless leader still in his twenties. The statue is full of character and
personality. The rifle, the powderhorn, the costume are authentic. The attitude,
the gesture are of one whose gaze is on the distant horizon. In his poise is shown
the determination to carry out his vision. A.

In Clark, evidently the spirit of adventure was as deeply rooted as in Lewis.
It is a revelation to see the maps that were drawn by him on this expedition. They
are accurate and can be used to this day in spite of all the difficulties encountered
while they were being made. The statue is after an excellent portrait by Chester
Harding. In Clark the sculptor has shown the mapmaker, the surveyor, in contrast
with Lewis, the leader. Thus he obtained the contrast that was necessary between
statues placed so closely together. B.

In both figures the artist has given the feeling of adventure, the freedom, the
character that one must have felt in actually meeting these men in life, while they
were on their expedition. To both he has given the atmosphere appropriate to
their great achievements in the wilderness.

CAPITALS AND COLUMNS. MAIN ROTUNDA
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THE GREAT DOME
By FraNK BRANGWYN, R. A., of London, England

The decorative painting of this central area of the Capitol which forms
the setting for Brangwyn’s murals was executed by Charles A. W. Rinschede
of New York with Herman Petersen as director of the work. A sectional
drawing of the dome area was sent to Mr. Brangwyn and he was asked to
indicate thereon the color scheme of the various parts. With this as a guide,
for the decorative painting was completed before the murals were in place,
Mr. Petersen has carried out the decorative scheme very successfully.

The twelve stained glass windows of the dome by Thomas Calvert of New
York were also designed and put in place, not with the idea of attracting
attention to the windows as such, but to produce a dome in- perfect harmony
in all its parts.

The mural paintings of the great dome offered to the artist a magnificent
opportunity.

The “eye” of the upper dome is 36 feet in diameter. The four pendentives
are 48 feet wide at the top, 15 feet wide at the bottom, and 24 feet high. The
eight panels of the lower dome are some 16 feet from top to bottom and 28 feet
across.

The Capitol Decoration Commission invited Mr. Frank Brangwyn, one of
the greatest mural painters in the world, to do this important work, well
knowing that they would receive from his hands neither academic prettiness
in his women nor conventional elegance in his men. They assigned as the
subjects for the pendentives: “Missouri in Four Great Historical Periods.”

The artist has solved the historical problem and, what is of far greater
importance, has produced remarkable mural decorations.

The first important consideration in viewing these is to judge them in
relation to the complete dome. What a glow of deep, rich, pulsating color they
add to the whole interior! How the masses of the compositions tune in with
the architectural whole! How convincing the scale of the figures in relation to
the spaces the panels occupy! These considerations are fundamentals of mural
decoration. Brangwyn is nowhere more a master than in the unerring
certainty with which he judges these things. Glance at the dome from floor to
ceiling and the satisfying suitability of the decorated panels is complete.

The first impression is of abundance of color, form, energy and pattern.
Nowhere is there a dull uninteresting passage. Each form is full of purpose
and quiet action. The skies tell of hundreds of moods which play over nature.
The fields and the trees are enticing. The figures are full of the restless urge
which characterized the pioneers.

Brangwyn says of these paintings: “The form of decoration which
has occurred to me is something very light and pure in color. That is why I
have used a color scheme of bright blue and gold with splashes of deep rich
orange.”
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In fact architect and painters have wrought so well that it is difficult to
conceive of the architecture without the paintings or of the paintings in
connection with any other architecture.

Brangwyn is reported to have said that he conceived the four
pendentives as if he had a frieze representing the history of Missouri 24 feet
high, extending all around the base of the dome and then had removed the
sections where the four great arches cut into this continuous composition.

But these panels should not be considered as materialistic representa-
tions of people and things in historical places, but rather as allegories
interpreting the elemental and colorful epoch which Missouri means to any
but a superficial thinker. For example, the Landing of Laclede is not so
important or so wonderful as is the mystery of the unknown which
surrounded him.

THE UPPER DOME
(Page GO)

The Historic Landing. The great story begins in the northeast
pendentive with the landing of Laclede in 1704. The intrepid leader with his
hardy companions was seeking to establish a trading post, but with the eye of
a seer and the genius of the true founder of a state, he selected the site and
laid the corner stone of that city which was to become the metropolis of
Missouri. This is indeed a theme to kindle the imagination . (Page GO)

The resolute voyageurs came up the great river, the “Father of Waters”
to brave the perils and hardships of the trackless wilderness. The boat is
approaching its destination. The foremost figure has leaped overboard and
with appealing gesture is wading ashore. Strong arms are poling the craft to
land. In the stern of the boat Laclede makes a sign of friendship. One of his
companions, however, has his finger on the trigger ready.for any hostile
demonstration. The Indians are watching the approach with curious
vigilance. Against the blue and gold of river, trees and sky the brilliant colors
of their robes form effective contrast.

The Pioneers. The French trader came and accomplished his task.

The next great historical movement is shown in the southeast
pendentive. (Page 62)

The Anglo-Saxon pioneers came from the East, in the main from
Kentucky, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and the Carolinas. They were the
descendants of those resolute souls who dared to leave the conservatism, the
oppression of Europe to found a new state in a new world. In the last years of
the eighteenth century and in the beginning of the nineteenth these hardy
frontiersmen came to Missouri in a never ending stream. Sometimes they
came overland in covered wagons drawn by oxen. Sometimes they floated
down the Ohio River and rowed up the Mississippi and the Missouri to their
new homes. They settled some of Missouri’s most prosperous counties. These
picked men, fearless, determined, brought families, tools, livestock. They
came to acquire lands, to conquer the wilderness, to till the soil, to build
houses, to establish schools, to found a state.
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It was largely their descendants who later pushed on to the winning of
the West. These later Missourians became leaders in the formation of all the
states between Missouri and the Pacific Ocean.

It is eminently fitting that these pioneers to Missouri should be im-
mortalized in this painting.

In the background is the forest primeval. The covered wagon is the most
important mass in the picture. On the front seat is the pioneer mother with
her babe, helpless, timid, but with a lofty courage that casts out fear. Two
sturdy boys complete her brood. One rides one of the oxen which draw the
wagon, one plays near his father’s side, both with the unconscious courage of
childhood. The leader stands by the side of his oxen. He is simply clad with
blanket on his shoulder, powder- horn at his belt, the ever ready rille held
easily in his hand. The grazing oxen show that the little cavalcade has
stopped. A friendly Indian points the way. A companion peers anxiously into
the forest. The pioneer stands calmly alert, resolute, equally prepared for wild
beast or for prowling savage.

The Home Makers. (Pane 6J;) The third step in orderly development is
the building of the home. This is the subject of the southwest pendentive.

The predominance of the trapper and the fur trader in Missouri is over.
The nomadic stage of the pioneer is past. The threatening dangers of frontier
life have been, in some measure, overcome. The fields have been cleared for
cultivation. The time has come to lay the foundations of the permanent state
deep and strong.

With keen discernment, with fine discrimination, the artist chooses as
the corner stone of that foundation the first Missouri home. For as nowhere
else in our country home owning is the characteristic of our Missouri people.

In the background on the right, oxen are ploughing. On the left
lumbermen are felling the trees for the log hou.se in which the early
Missourian lived. In the foreground carpenters are fitting thetimbers
together and the house is already taking shape.

It is a scene of tranquil peace and fruitful industry. Boys are playing
with a goat, a hen scratches for her chickens. At the left a youth is gathering
fruit, a prophecy of Missouri’s famous orchards. A hunter idly gazes on the
busy scene. In the center, dominating the canvas, queen of the home, stands
the mother with her child.

The whole pendentive is a lyric poem celebrating the glories of a
state whose immovable foundation rests upon the home.

The Builders (Page 66). The northwest pendentive represents the climax
of the story and is the masterpiece of the series, magnificent in its balanced
masses, superb in design, splendid in action, glorious in color.

The subject is the manifold activities, the teeming life, the intellectual
power of the modern state. Only a genius could in a single panel express or
even suggest the possibilities of such a theme. As the epitome of his modern
state, the artist goes to the metropolis, St. Louis, whose founding was
portrayed in the first pendentive. Among the countless activities of the city
through the years, the artist selects the building of the Eads Bridge. This, the
first great bridge across the “Father of Waters,”
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was the engineering triumph of its day. It united the East and the
West and made possible the vast commerce which for two generations
and more has passed to and fro over its arches.

In the painting its magnificent arches are rising in the background
spanning the river and binding the entire composition into unity. Work-
men are busy in its construction, smoke and steam of engines float across
the scene, giant cranes lift the girders into place. In the foreground
brawny smiths, naked to the waist, hammer the metal plates into shape.
Stevedores bear the produce of the state in bales and boxes through the
throng to market, suggesting the busy life of these rivers which have
played so important a part in the development of our state.

So the Eads Bridge, with its commerce, the mighty rivers with their
traffic, suggest what is behind and beyond these things. We become
conscious of all the people of this great commonwealth with their farms
and their manufactories, their schools and their churches, their in-
tellectual and their spiritual life, which are at once the cause and the
result of the material activities represented in this great panel.

160 feet above

the third floor in the The Eye of the Dome

center of the dome is
a circular canvas 36
feet in diameter. On
this Brangwyn has
painted four colossal
figures representing
the main-springs of
the prosperity of the
state, agriculture
commerce, science and
education. Each fig-
ure has two small at-
tendants.

They are painted

in soft shades of blue
and gold. Their heads
project into the dark
blue center of the

“eye” on which the
signs of the zodiac are painted s =

Mother Earth typifies Agriculture with the #BIRHI¥MNE of the husbandman and the
products of the soil.

Commerce is a merchant holding the model of a ship. Behind him is a globe over
which ships go sailing.

Science is the draped figure of a man surrounded by cog-wheels and other implements
of applied science.

Behind the draped female figure of Education is a globe. At her feet are, on the one
side a church and on the other a lute, giving pertinent suggestion that Education should
include both religion and art.
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THE LOWER DOME

The paintings of the lower dome can best be examined from the ground
floor of the Capitol.

Through a circular opening in the crown of this dome the great
pendentives above are distinctly visible.

So Brangwyn has used the eight panels of the lower dome as an
allegorical introduction to the historical themes portrayed in the great dome
above.

The four larger panels, to the east, north, south and west, contain
representations of the elements, earth, water, fire, air, realms of nature
which, one by one, man has subdued and made subservient to his will
Between them are Agriculture, Science, Education and Art, by means of
which man has effected this conquest.

Earth. On the eastern side is Earth, an opulent panel, gorgeous in color
and full of exuberant life. A matron bears upon her head a large basket filled
with the fruits of the soil. In the right foreground is seated the muscular
figure of the husband, also with brimming basket. The third of the eternal
triangle of love, faith, and the renewal of life, is the boy leaning forward to
pluck the bunch of grapes which signify his inheritance of joy. On the left a
reaper with a sickle is busy with the ripened grain. In the background the
sheaves are being loaded on the wagon. Poppies are mingled with the grain.
Vegetables are scattered on the ground. The fullness of life, fruitful
production, the prophecy of the continuity of the race, are all here. (Page
68A)

Water. On the north side of this dome is the element water.

In the left foreground fishermen with vigorous effort are hauling in
their well filled net. At the right boys are drying themselves after bathing. In
the background builders are constructing a boat. The central figure again is
the mother with her child.

Transportation, food, health, these come from the “life-giving sea.”

Rushes and flowers, which grow by the water’s edge give a dash of color
to the scene. (Page 68B)

Fire. On the south side is fire. (Page TOC)

Man is the animal which uses fire. Since the time when Prometheus of
old stole fire from heaven and brought it in a hollow tube to earth, by its use
man has slowly become master of earth, of sea, of air.

In the background of this picture laboring smiths are seen appearing
dark against the glowing light of the forge fire. In the right foreground is the
potter with his wheel. Again the family watch the progress of the work as he
prepares the clay for the firing. At the left with modern machinery workmen
are cutting steel threads. Fire is the handmaid of the potter, the smith, the
engineer. So this panel chants a paean of industry.

Air. Air is (he last of nature’s realms to be conquered by man.

(Page TOD)

From the time when Daedalus fashioned the wings by which he and his
son Icarus escaped from the labyrinth of Crete, man has striven to imitate
the flight of the eagle. Today we pass over the kingdoms of the
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earth with the speed of the sun and measure the breadth of the sea by hours.
The world has become so small that the nations must perforce learn to live at
peace.

But the artist has avoided the obvious and the realistic. He has
portrayed neither the balloon of Montgolfier, the aeroplane of Wright, nor the
dirigible of Zeppelin. In the first glory of the springtime with its sunny cloud-
flecked sky, he has wrought in symbolism as beautiful and free as the flight of
the birds winging their way across the scene.

The boy with his toy ship calls to mind the white-sailed vessels which
traverse all seas. The shepherd blowing his simple pipe foretells the vibrating
columns of air that swell in divine harmony under the masterful touch of the
great organist. The man studying the wings of the cockatoo suggests the flight
of Lindbergh and his plane.

The conquest of the fourth of the elements is complete and the romance
and the poetry of the artist’s symbolism is expressed in the simplest terms of
the phenomena of nature.

On each of the four remaining panels is a group of figures under an
archway of flowers. They are not in full color like the paintings of the
elements, but in a pale monochrome, as if to suggest poetically the in-
tellectual and spiritual quality, the symbolical nature of these pictures. They
alternate with the representations of the four elements in the circuit of the
lower dome.

These paintings represent Agriculture, Science, Education and Art, and
suggest the higher powers in man. (Page 22 A-B-C-P)

The greatness of Brangwyn’s conception is at last fully revealed.

In the great eye of the upper dome are the four colossal figures whose
heads touch the heavens. They are genii who preside over the destiny and
reward the labors of mortals.

In the lower dome we see how man has through the long cycles of time
gradually conquered his environment. In the long struggle he has developed
his own God-given powers through the practice of Agriculture, the
experiments of Science, the intellectual power of Education, and the creative
genius of Art.

In the pendentives of the upper dome, in this, the center and most
important portion of the Capitol, Brangwyn has in the most masterful way
shown four great stages in the evolution of our state. He has done this, not by
celebrating the brilliant achievements of distinguished individuals, but by
presenting in each of the four periods the character and characteristics of our
citizens. He has shown to us the worth of the plain people. He has chanted a
noble epic to the dignity of labor.

Romance is there, but it is the romance of reality. Strong sentiment is
there, but no weak sentimentality. Democracy is there, but it is a sturdy
democracy with fine purpose and lofty achievement.

To blend the real and the ideal, the symbolical and the actual in such a
complete and harmonious fashion with such a perfect appreciation of history
and such a complete command of the painter’s technique is the work of a
great artist and a great man.
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THE FOUR SMALL DOMES
By ALLENT. TRUE, of Denver, Colorado

On the third floor of the Capitol, grouped around the massive pillars
which support the great dome, are four small domes. These form an integral
part of the central area and their decorations should be intimately connected
in matter and treatment with Brangwyn’s great pendentives. Therefore this
work was assigned to Allen True, who was not only a pupil of Brangwyn, but
also assisted that artist in preparing his great paintings for the Capitol. True
has therefore selected those subjects for the pendentives of his small domes
which in each case harmonize with the time and the theme of the neighboring
pendentives in the large dome.

The Northeast Dome (Page 72)
From the Landing of Laclede to the Louisiana Purchase

1. The Aborigines. An Indian chief who might have been a friend of the
white man, a man of great honor according to his lights, wise, crafty, perhaps
cruel, but withal of much nobility.

2. The Missionary Explorer. Not representing any particular creed, but
one of the religious zealots whose courage, convictions and hardihood kept
them at the forefront among explorers when the West was a wilderness.

3. Spanish Governors. A representative of his majesty, the King of
Spain, who brought the pomp and authority of the old world to the new, when
the hamlet of St. Louis was seat of authority for a vast yet unpeopled
territory.

4. Early River Men. The hardy, independent and happy men of the
river who were the connecting link between the early settlements and the
outside world via New Orleans.

The Southeast Dome (Page 72)
From the Louisiana Purchase to 1880

1. A Pioneer Mother. One of the sweet and capable pioneer mothers
who made a clearing in the wilderness home. She and her kind for
generations have made possible all that is fine in the history of Missouri.

2. The Free Trapper. One of the hardy fur trappers who roamed the
wilds at will, beholden to no man. Hard living, hard fighting, alert and wary,
he trapped throughout the whole of the unknown west and was better known
to the Indians than to civilization.

3. The Bourgeois or Facteur. The governor of the trading post or fort
who represented the owners of the fur company or was himself part owner, in
the days when the fur trade was at its height. A resourceful and forceful man
of character and vision.

4. The Buffalo Hunter or “Skin Hunter.” The man who hunted the
buffalo when thousands of them roamed the prairies of the West.
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The Southwest Dome—1830-1850 {Page 74)

1.  The Freighter. The man who drove the Conestoga Wagons filled with supplies for
the western settlements when hundreds of wagon trains moved out over the state and the
overland trails were worn deep and dusty.

2. The Railroad Builder. One of the far-seeing, visionary yet practical men who
carried the “iron roads” westward over the prairies and helped to make their vast resources
accessible.

3. 'The Cattle Man. The cavalier of the plains whose saddle was his pillow and
whose song was sung to the vast herds of cattle which fattened on the unfenced prairies of
deep lush grass.

4.  The River Pilot. The most typical Missourian. He piloted those picturesque flat
boats over the tortuous channels and unseen sand bars when the river traffic was in its
heyday.

The Northwest Dome
1950 to the Present (Page 74)

1.  The Miner. A worker of the present day with modern equipment. In time he loo
will be looked back upon as one of the typical historical characters. Meanwhile he is doing
the day’s work and adding to Missouri’s prosperity.

2. 'The Builder, or Construction Engineer, (hie of the men who plan, direct and
oversee the big enterprises of construction.

3. The Scientist. In his laboratory studying and tracking the unseen forces which
are being utilized today. Though inconspicuous he is one of the most typical characters of
modern times.

4. The Machinist. Another of the men who are making, through the medium of
mechanisms and machinery, the modern era so different from that of the pioneers.

ROSTRUM OF THE HOUSE
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THE SENATE {Page 28)

In the painted window and the mural paintings of the Senate Chamber
five periods of Missouri history are represented by the exploits of
distinguished individuals, who in each case sum up important achievements
of their time.

In this chamber the wall decorations were worked out by Charles A. W.
Rinschede of New York, subject to suggestions by the artist of the four
panels, Richard E. Miller, N. A., who also designed the stained- glass
window, made by Paris-Wdey of New York, over the east gallery above the
presiding officer’s chair. This is a painted-glass window (while the stained-
glass windows in other parts of the Capitol are Mosaic), where each piece of
the composition is prepared and the colors burned or fused by heat with the
glass.

This room is a fine example of the highest art in decoration where all
the colors are so aptly managed that their co-ordination brings about the rare
effect of perfect visual harmony. The four panels, the work of Richard E.
Miller, are of the highest type of mural painting. There is quite a difference
between a mural and an easel painting. In the latter the artist, using his
whole palette, leads the eye by realistic touches beyond the flat surface of his
canvas into distances, but in the mural the values and color intensities are
held in check so that only a shorter color scale is used. The vivid color and
dramatic handling are avoided, so that the observer is always conscious that
the painting is limited to the wall and does not project itself beyond it. In
other words, great care should be taken that the decoration, be it color
applied to the walls or the pictorial use of certain spaces, does not take
precedence over the architecture in effect.

This fact is the charm of the Senate Chamber. The pictorial panels were
first put up, the wall colors next, carrying up to the skylight in skillful
gradations the soft notes of the predominating colors in the murals. It w*as
found after all was completed that the' New* Hampshire marble columns,
adjoining the pictures, which carry some cold notes of gray, were not given
due prominence as an architectural feature, because of the peculiar tone
given the wall all around the room in this zone. This was all done over. The
gray was warmed up a bit and the columns now take their accredited place
and the murals next.

The Painted Window {Page 76). The prehistoric period is represented by
this window with a noble composition portraying the landing of DeSoto.

DeSoto was the first white man to tread the soil of Missouri. Under
commission of the Spanish crown, he landed on the eastern coast, led his men
amid innumerable dangers across the trackless wilderness, reached the
Mississippi River, crossed it, spent the winter in what is now known as
Missouri, only to find at least a grave beneath the waters of the great river he
had discovered.

The window represents not the tragic end but the glorious beginning of
his memorable expedition. The Spanish grandee, a stately figure in armor on
horseback, has just landed from the quaint caraval. With the energy born of
high hopes he is pressing forward with his companions. Indians on the shore
await his coming.
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The figures are of rare distinction, the lines and masses of the com-
position are admirably harmonious, the cool blues of the color scheme seem
to suggest the reserved aristocratic quality of old Spain.

The four panels, commencing at the right, are Daniel Boone at the
Judgment Tree; President Jefferson greeting Lewis and Clark upon their
return from exploring the great Northwest territory purchased from France;
Benton’s Speech at St. Louis, 1849, and Frank Blair’s Speech at Louisiana,
Missouri, 1866.

Daniel Boone at the Judgment Tree—The Colonial Period. In the first
panel, Daniel Boone is seen seated at the base of the famous Judgment Tree,
with his gun across his knees, giving heed to the accusers who have brought
the transgressor, a squaw man with hands bound. His wife stands behind
him in blue. Boone holds the position of Syndic, or Commandant of the
Femme Osage District, Missouri being under Spanish rule. Note the Spanish
flag in the background. He was vested with the prerogatives of judge, jury,
and high sheriff, and could order the culprit whipped, banished or killed, but,
from all accounts, his decisions were accepted as just.

It is interesting to note that there were three classes of the very small
population of Missouri at that time (1794 to 1803)—the Indian, the French
adventurers, and traders, who mixed readily and lived on good terms with
the Indians, and the ones in the painting wearing the fur caps who are of the
Anglo-Saxon stock. These came into the land to possess it and dominate it.
They wanted titles to the domain and were ambitious to found homes secure
from molestation. This picture was designed to set forth the value of this
great pioneer character in sha” ing the civic and social life of the first of the
white race to make this territory their heme. The general impression of
Boone is that he was a brave and noted pioneer hunter. This was true, but he
was much more, and a correct view of what he accomplished can only be
understood by a brief survey of conditions when he came to Missouri in 1799
at the solicitation of Trudeau, the then Spanish governor of St. Louis.
Trudeau desired a larger population for the territory to the end that the
English, who had sinister designs for the control of the Mississippi, might be
held off. Boone at this time had moved away from Kentucky, discouraged
because of losing his land-through defect in title. When the invitation
reached him he was living <$n the Kanawha River in West Virginia. His
fame as a pioneer organizer had become international because of the
publication and sale of his biography in Europe. When he departed with all
his household effects and domestic animals for the new land he was given a
great ovation by his neighbors and was greeted by all the settlements along
the Ohio River as his flatboat passed. When he reached St. Louis, the great
pioneer was sixty-five years old, but full of hope and vigor. He accepted a
grant of land, and, directly and indirectly, influenced a large number of
acquaintances from Kentucky, Tennessee, and Virginia and the Carolinas to
migrate to the new realm.

Emigrants were always directed to Daniel Boone’s place on the Femme
Osage west of St. Charles. In this picture Boone is surrounded by the
newcomers. The great unwritten chapter in Boone’s life is the great influence
he exerted in these years on emigration. This sterling
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stock of people furnished the pioneers which in later years made Missouri
the Mother of the West.

These great Capitol decorations are not placed simply for the purpose of
expounding beauty and art, but to inspire in succeeding generations
patriotism. Without a knowledge of history there can be no patriotism.
Without a reverence for our pioneer forbears there can be no respect for the
government they sacrificed to build. Boone loved Missouri. When in 1803 it
became a part of the United States he loved her the more. From the wild-
cherry tree of the forest he built for himself a coffin, and kept it carefully
against the day. In September, 1820, when the territory had practically
passed into statehood, he was placed to rest and the Legislature, then in
session in St. Louis, adjourned a day in his honor.

President Jefferson Greeting Lewis and Clark. The second panel, to the
right of the Lieutenant Governor’s chair, represents the period of the
Louisiana Purchase.

In May, 1804, Lewis and Clark, acting under orders from President
Jefferson, left St. Louis on their memorable journey to the Pacific. They
explored an unknown country, making careful records of the soil, the fauna,
the flora, the Indians of the west. Their first winter was spent at Fort
Mandan in what is now North Dakota. On their return they reached St.
Louis in September, 1806. Then they proceeded to Washington to report to
the President.

The painting shows how dJefferson hastened to greet the intrepid
explorers on the porch of the White House which was burned by the British
in 1814.

In the center of the picture the President grasps the hand of Clark
whom he now meets for the first time. At Jefferson’s left stands Meriwether
Lewis who had formerly been the President’s secretary.

Friends and servants of the President, companions of the explorers,
Indians with the characteristic products of the great west add interest to the
scene. This Lewis and Clark Expedition became famous for revealing the
vast resources of the Louisiana Purchase.

Benton's Speech at St. Louis, 1849. The next panel shows Senator
Thomas H. Benton, the fervid champion of the West, constantly predicting
its future greatness and bringing down the ridicule of the East for his
persistence. For many years he tried to induce Congress to appropriate
funds for building a railroad from St. Louis to the Pacific. The east retaliated
with the argument: “Why bother about the west with its deserts and its
savages? The best interests of this country lie in cultivating the trade of the
east, where we now have a market for our furs and raw materials, and
where in exchange we may obtain the finished products we are not ready to
produce. Far better for us to go to the East, to India.”

Benton, in this picture, is addressing a mass meeting gathered in the
St. Louis Court House, October 17, 1849. On the platform behind him are
seated the Mayor, John M. Krum, and Stephen A. Douglas. In the audience
at Benton’s left with the tall hat, is Isaac H. Sturgeon, the first president of
the North Missouri Railroad, or Wabash. The man with side-whiskers is
Thomas Allen, second president of the Pacific
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Railroad. The one to his right is John O’Fallon, the first president of the
Pacific Railroad. The one with folded arms is Trusten Polk, later governor
and United States Senator from Missouri. The two figures at the left are
inspecting the subscription list, at this time totaling $200,-
0. 00. Benton had in mind the vision of Columbus when he sailed
westward to reach India. Here follows a part of his speech:

“Let us rise to the grandeur of the occasion. Let us complete the grand
design of Columbus by putting Europe and Asia into communication and
that to our advantage, through the heart of the country. Let us give to his
ships, converted into cars, a continued course unknown to all former times.
Let us make the iron road, and make it from sea to sea; states and
individuals making it east of the Mississippi, the nation making it west. Let
us now in this convention rise above everything sectional, personal, local.
Let us beseech the national legislature to build the great road upon the
great national line which united Europe and Asia—San Francisco at one
end, St. Louis in the middle, the national metropolis and great commercial
emporium at the other; and which shall be adorned with its crowning
honor—the colossal statue of the great Columbus—whose design it
accomplished, hewn from a granite mass of a peak of the Rocky Mountains,
overlooking the road—the mountain itself a pedestal and the statue a part of
the mountain—pointing with outstretched arm to the western horizon, and
saying to the flying passengers—There is the East; there is India’.”

The painting shows Benton at the conclusion of this magnificent
peroration. He stands with his hands resting on the rail of the speaker’s
platform serene and confident, looking over that notable audience.

The composition of this panel is especially noteworthy. When the critic
considers that these panels in the Senate Chamber are 19 feet high and only
8 feet wide, he is filled with admiration for the skill of the artist in filling the
spaces so admirably.

Blair's Speech at Louisiana, Missouri, 1866. The last panel is devoted
to Frank P. Blair.

Blair inherited the policies of Benton and to Blair, more than to any
other one man belongs the credit of keeping Missouri in the Union during
the Civil War. He was a Union general and fought for the Union throughout
the war. When Grant was asked to name his bravest and most efficient
fighting generals, he named Blair and Logan. Absolutely fearless he was,
also absolutely just.

In 1865 the famous “Drake Constitution” was adopted in Missouri. This
provided that before a man could vote in this state he must subscribe to a
“test oath” swearing that he had neither directly nor indirectly given aid or
comfort to the Confederate cause. This practically disfranchised one-third of
the voters of the state. Under this constitution also no director of a
corporation could function, no doctor could practice, no lawyer could plead,
no minister could preach unless he subscribed to the same oath.

Blair at once denounced the test oath and declared that he would take
the stump for the Democratic party.

The first speech of his campaign, which was the first Democratic speech
made in Missouri after the Civil War, was announced to be given



S4

COMPLKTK REPORT OF THE

BLAIR AT LOUISIANA i.Ner I'age 83)



CAPITOL DECORATION COMMISSION 85

in Louisiana, Missouri. Word was sent to Blair that he would be shot if he
came to Louisiana for this purpose.

Nevertheless he appeared, ascended the platform, unbuckled a holster,
laid two Colt revolvers on the speaker’s desk, and said: “T
understand that I am to be shot if I speak here today. Perhaps we would
better attend to this ceremony now.” No demonstration was made and he
began to speak. He had not proceeded far before a red faced fellow in the
audience sprang up and shouted: “He’s a damned rebel. Throw
him out.” Crooking his finger at the man, Blair replied* “You come and
throw me out.” This is the incident shown in the painting.

His commanding presence held the crowd in check, so without further
serious interruption Blair finished his speech and later in the campaign
spoke at Moberly, Marshall, and Warrensburg.

Frank P. Blair has a unique distinction. Because of his distinguished
service to the Union in the Civil War, Grand Army posts have been named
for him. Because of his services to the ex-Confederates after the war,
Confederate soldiers named their sons after him.

So Blair may well represent the Missouri of the Civil War Period.

When the Fast asked Missouri to name two of her greatest sons to be
placed in S atuary Hall in Washington, I). C., the unanimous vote of
Missouri was for Benton and Blair.

7 'w'O Paintings by K. L. BLuMENSCHEIN, N. A. of Taos and New York

On the north and south of the Senate Chamber are two spacious and
attractive entrances. In each of these is a niche nine and a half feel high and
five feet wide admirably adapted for the display of works of art.

Here are installed paintings by K. L. Blumenschein.

At the South Entrance GEORGE CALEB BINGHAM

The mosaic at this entrance represents George Caleb Bingham who was
born in Virginia in 1811, but as a boy came to Missouri. He grew up in and
near Old Franklin and Arrow Rock. As a boy he learned the cabinet-makers
trade and learned it well. He also found time to study both law and theology.
Later he entered politics, became a very effective political writer and
speaker and was a member of the Legislature. During the Civil War he
served in the Union Army and became treasurer of Missouri. Later he was
appointed Adjutant General of the State.

In fact, he was active, effective and influential and, apart from his work
as an artist, must be considered one of the notable citizens of our State.

When Bingham was quite young a roving artist, probably Harding,
came to Old Franklin, and inspired the young cabinet-maker to become a
painter.
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Art schools were unknown in Missouri in the early thirties of the
nineteenth century. The young artist made his own brushes, dug many of
his colors from the bluffs along the Missouri River and improvised canvasses
by covering his stretcher with a linen tablecloth. He studied painting in
Philadelphia and later went to Dusseldorf in Germany for further
instructions.

Portraits were in his day the only paintings for which there was an
assured market, and likenesses by Bingham are among the cherished
possessions of old Missouri families.

His claim to fame as a painter however rests upon “The Jolly Flat
Boatman” and “In a Quandary” representing life on the Missouri River, upon
the Election Series: “Canvassing for a Vote,” “Stump
Speaking,” “The County Election,” and “The Verdict of the People,” and upon

“Order Number 11,” portraying an incident in the Civil War.

These paintings are among the most important documents which tell us
vividly and interestingly of Missourians and life in Missouri in the forties
and fifties of the last century. They show that the artist had remarkable
keenness of observation, rare skill in delineation and great ability in
characterization. In his day he had and deserved the title: “The Missouri
Painter.”

Using for the likeness a portrait of himself painted by Bingham when
he was twenty-four years old, Mr. Blumenschein has represented the painter
in the full tide of creative work with brush in hand and pallette on arm. The
background is a prophesy of what the artist was to do in the future for it is
full of suggestions of his “County Election.”

At the North Entrance

GENERAL JOHN JOSEPH PERSHING, Commander in Chief of the American Forces in
the World War

In the Senate Chamber, DeSoto represents the pre-historic period.
Daniel Boone is the outstanding figure of Colonial times. Lewis and Clark
are the heroes of 1804. Benton is the great Missouri statesman of the middle
of the nineteenth century. Blair embodies much that was finest in the Civil
War and in the Reconstruction Period.

We are fortunate indeed that we can add a sixth great Missourian to
this, our Missouri “Hall of Fame.” General Pershing as Commander- in-chief
of the A. E. F. in France, will unquestionably go down in history as one of
the most distinguished Americans and one of the most representative
Missourians of the period of the World War.

Paris was once the capital of the country we now call Missouri. It was
therefore peculiarly appropriate that a Missouri general should, as a
representative of the American people, visit the grave of Lafayette.

“If men see after death what passes here below,” what must have been
the feelings of Lafayette when four score and three years after his bodily
death he looked down from his home in the celestial habitations and saw
France again in dire danger, sorely pressed by foreign foes, fighting for her
life, and a general in an American uniform standing by his grave in Picpu*
and heard him say: “Lafayette, we are here.”
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THE SENATE LOUNGE
{Pages 86, 88)

The Senate Lounge is the large room at the east end of the third floor.
This room was decorated by Charles Rinschede, and the ceiling, which
though ornate is in splendid co-ordination with the carved oak finish, was
the work of A. Flood of Kansas City, Missouri. The four large panels and
several smaller ones are filled with tapestries woven by the Edgewater
Tapestry Looms, Edgewater, New Jersey. The artist, manager, and designer
is Mr. Lorenz Kleiser. It was an unusual and fitting idea to use these fabrics
for a decoration, not only because it was novel but for the reason that the
soft color harmonies of the tapestry are so restful and appropriate for a
lounging room. The ceiling reflects one of the dominant panel tones and with
the furnishings all the color features are successfully tied together. There
are four main panels— five feet by eleven feet, six inches—and six small
spaces. The subjects exploited in these are consistent with a quiet meditative
room and represent peaceful occupations.

River Traffic has as its foreground the husbandman of pioneer days
ploughing with his oxen, while in the middle distance a steamboat wends its
way on the broad Missouri.

The Santa Fe Trail portrays the slow passenger service of the stage and
the covered wagon with a group of hunters in the foreground resting before a
camp fire.

The Fur Trade features the log cabin, the hunter skinning a deer
fastened by the hocks to a tree. In the background some Indians are engaged
in the chase.

Lead Mining gives a view of the early Frenchmen with homemade
windlass hoisting from a prospect hole the lead nuggets of our primitive
commerce.

The smaller spaces depict, in well-balanced design, the flintlock and
powder horn; the candle lantern with pick and shovel; the agriculturist’s
scythe and fork; the anchor and steering wheel of a river steamboat. The
borders of all of these panels are formed of the various wild flowers of the
State.

These tapestries are designed by a drawing in color full size. A warp is
laid over this design and skilled workmen, with the yarns of various hues at
hand, weave and knot in exact form and color of the design. The work is slow
and laborious. The wool composing the fabric is washed and dyed by a
special process. Only tested and fast vegetable dyes are used, as in our best
Oriental rugs.

Four workmen required months to complete one of these panels. This
form of decoration harks back to the Middle Ages in Europe when rough
walls must be hidden and cold drafts of the weather kept out for the comfort
of our first nobility.
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HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES {Page 30)

The decorations of the House are dedicated to the Glory of Missouri.

On the western wall, above the speaker’s desk, is a large mosaic glass
window by H. T. Schladermundt of New York, which in glowing colors
portrays the Glory of Missouri in Peace. {Page 90)

In the center of the window is Missouri enthroned; at her right are
allegorical figures representing Commerce, Mining, and Agriculture. On her
left are Justice, Art and Science. In a circle on the left a river steamboat
suggests the commerce of the great rivers. In the circle on the right the “Old
Columns” of the original State University building at Columbia symbolize
what education has accomplished in the state.

Missouri is well named the “Mother of the West.” From Missouri as
from no other state the tide of migration has gone through all the states
between Missouri and the Pacific. So when the artist of this window asked
for the names of the twelve states whose colonization and development have
been particularly the work of Missourians, their names were not far to seek.

To the southwest, Oklahoma, Texas, New Mexico. To the northwest,
Wyoming, Montana, Idaho. On the far west, California, Washington, Oregon.
Through the center, Kansas, Colorado, Utah. Therefore the names and the
coats of arms of these states are wrought into the border of this beautiful
window to show how in the arts of peace the influence of Missouri has
penetrated and permeated the great West.

On the wall opposite Schladermundt’s window is Charles Hoff- bauer’s
great painting representing the Glory of Missouri in War.

The artist is a Frenchman from Paris whose ancestors came from
Alsace. {Page 92)

For a number of years Hoffbauer had been in this country painting. At
the beginning of the World War, he was at work in Richmond, Virginia,
decorating Battle Abbey with scenes of the Confederacy.

At the call of France he dropped his brush, returned to his country,
enlisted as a common soldier and entered the war. After serving two years in
the ranks his ability as a painter was recognized and he was placed in the
camouflage division. Because of his familiarity with America and his
knowledge of English he was assigned to duly with the American forces.

He served through the war and then returned to complete his work on
Battle Abbey. From his close association with the American troops in France
and because he was one of the greatest painters of battle pictures in the
world, HofThauer was singularly fitted for painting this great mural.

After his sketch had been approved by the Commission he returned to
Paris to paint the canvas.

No studio in France was large enough for his purpose. He importuned
the French Government to allow him the use of an aerodome and inquired
the cost. “For whom are you painting this?” asked the Commandant. “For
the Missouri House of Representatives,” was the
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reply. “Then,” said the General, “it will cost you nothing, for we remember
the Missouri Thirty-fifth who broke the Hindenburg line where we had
spent four years and forty thousand men. You shall have it for nothing. Only
you must put into the faces of those boys the courage that carried them
through.”

In view of the time when the picture was painted and of all the
attendant circumstances, it was inevitable that “The Glory of Missouri in
War” should be a scene in connection with the World War.

However, no particular battle was selected and no enemy troops are
shown. Missouri troops (Missouri models only were used) are passing
through the devastated regions of France. They have just left a shell-torn
village and are approaching the front. Behind them is a glory of light as if
their very presence had brought blessing.

All branches of the service are there—infantry, artillery, Red Cross,
transport, courier, machine gunners. In all alike burns the unquenchable
fire of Missouri courage and the strenuous activity of Missouri efficiency.

In spite of the great size of the painting the composition is so masterful,
the action is so unified, the heroic purpose and spirit are so all pervasive
that the canvas glows with vitality and life.

The wall decorations, carrying twenty-seven different hues, by Charles
A. W. Rinschedeof New York are placed so skillfully as to leave the
impression that the whole room was done by one stroke of the brush.

In the general plan of the capitol decoration, it is evident that the
building is considered as constructed for the transaction of State business
and to be a fitting monument of the State’s progress. It is not, in any sense
of the word, an art gallery, which might contain a variety of whatever great
artists might produce. It is not a place to exploit any school of painting or of
sculpture, but its decorations, in motto, in quotation, in painting, and in
sculpture reflect the fundamental principles upon which the government
was founded.

Pictures and sculpture record events which represent the history and
progress of its people towards the highest ideals in government. This policy
has been sedulously observed by the Decoration Commission, so that their
work has co-ordinated so perfectly with the work of the architect that a
beautiful harmony is the result.

There are two elements to true decoration: visual harmony, which is
the true music of color; and literary harmony, which contemplates subjects
which mentally fit the place. In this room, both these requirements are ably
met. Balancing each other are these two themes—“The Glory of Missouri”—
in Peace and in War.

On each side of this room, at the top, are ten beautiful stained-glass
windows, by Schlatermundt, representing the greatest characteristics of
Democracy. (Page 94)

Commencing at the left on the north side, the following subjects are put
into pictorial form:

A.  Liberty. There is no higher or better conception of Liberty with all
it means to us and to the world than our own Goddess of Liberty. She is
seated upon a high plane, her shoulders draped with Old Glory,
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the eagle at her right hand, and above her left our National motto— “E
Pluribus Unum.”

B. Equality. The two evenly-matched athletes in this window are not
intended to represent that all are equal in ability, but that in our land all
contestants shall have a fair show. That all are equal before the law and that
the good sportsmanship of our people will see to it that no one loyal to the
principles of our government shall be hindered in the pursuit of life, liberty
and happiness.

C. Law. Upon a throne is seated a dignified figure, holding in her right
hand a volume of the law, while in her left is a tablet upon which is inscribed
“Lex et veritas.” The cherub with the fasces calls to mind the Roman lictors
and the power of the law. The cherub who is absorbed in reading a scroll at
the feet of her, who, in this composition, represents the law, suggests that
well-worn phrase, “Ignorance of the law is no excuse.”

D. Justice. This female figure is not blindfolded, as is usual. She
stands firmly upon a rock, a shield under her right hand, and a scepter of
authority in her left. Justice in the affairs of men is a queer mixture of the
human and the divine. Sometimes there is law in it, sometimes there is
mercy in it, and to put into allegory this double ingredient, the shield upon
the left, with the scales is the human, and the shield on the right bearing the
cross is the divine. “Justice tempered with mercy.”

E. Fraternity. Fraternity is friendliness. The tendency of the human-
kind is to mix socially. This urge gradually wanes with advancing years, for
each year we make fewer friends. In children it is the strongest, for race,
color, or social position is no barrier to them. Hence, in this window
Fraternity is represented by two children. The word “Fellowship,” is a good
synonym for and explanation of the title “Fraternity.”

F. Progress. The powerful figure in this window was not posed alert
and standing, because, although power and action are essential to Progress,
the seated pose suggests that great results come from careful plans. He
assumes the garb of Mercury to represent the speed of Progress and salutes
the flying plane as it overcomes the problem of aerial navigation.

G. Honor. This heroic figure, although crowned with the laurel wreath
of fame, herself represents that type of generosity that does not forget the
ones who fought and went down. She holds in each hand a wreath, as a
tribute to their memory, to be laid upon their last resting place. The
pennant, in folds surrounding her, bears the words, “Glory, Renown,
Faithfulness, Victory, Fame.” The shields are designs in our national colors.
The one to the left represents the soldier and citizen; the one to the right,
which includes the eagle and crown, signifies national honor.

H. Truth. A comely matron surrounded by cherubs is viewing herself in
a hand-mirror, which reflects every line with strict accuracy. The truth is
never complete if only a part of the facts are revealed; in fact, “The truth, the
whole truth, and nothing but the truth,” is the
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“Naked Truth,” so, in this composition, notice the cherub pulling back the robe which hides
her form.

L. Virtue. So exalted a human trait
as virtue is here represented by an angel walking upon the earth’s high places. Woven in the
design about her are the following titles: “Right, Morality, Quality, and
Temperance.” Virtue must be consistent and so on each side are shields surmounted by
crowns, one representing Night and the other Day. She yields not to temptation day or
night.

J. Charity. In allegory, what finer examples of real love in action, which is charity,
than the instinct of a mother who will make any sacrifice for her children and who is the
first to pity and take to her bosom the orphan.

All the foregoing human qualities bind into one theme the Glory of Missouri in Peace
and War, because no people completely attain all these virtues unless they are great, in both
Peace and War.

Bronze Flag Standards

The four bronze flag standards, two in the House and two in the Senate, each for two
flags, were designed, modeled, and cast by the Flower City Ornamental Iron Company.

The eight beautiful flags, four United States and four Missouri, were supplied by the
Steiner Engraving Company, St. Louis. Mo.

The House Lounge

The decorations of this room consist of plain and decorative painting and a handsome
tapestry covering for the walls.
This work was done by Trorlicht-Dunker of St. Louis.

BRONZE FLAG STANDARD
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SECOND FLOOR CORRIDOR

In the corridor of the second or Executive floor are twenty-two
lunettes, approximately 12 by 6 feet in size. These are decorated with
paintings portraying interesting incidents in the history of the state.

Over the door to the Governor’s elevator.

1. The Assembly of the Legislature at St. Charles in June, 1821 {Page

98) By RicHARD E. MILLER, N. A., of Provincetown, Mass.

In an admirably balanced composition, the artist has depicted the
moment when these picturesque pioneer legislators are assembling in
the square at St. Charles in front of the building where the legislators
are to convene. The flag designates the room in which the Assembly is to
meet. Costumes and accessories are true to life and to the time.

To the left or west of the Governor’s elevator, the first lunette on
the right.

2. The Assembling of Callaway's Rangers {Page 98)
By BiR.T G. PHILLIPS, of Taos, New Mexico

Captain James Callaway, for whom Callaway county was named, is
a fine representative of the heroic pioneers whose duty it was, in the
early years of the Nineteenth Century, to lead their bands of rangers
from outpost to outpost, wherever it might be necessary to protect the
settlers against the depredations of the Indians.

Callaway was a grandson of Daniel Boone. In the War of 1812 and
in his conflicts with the Indians, he proved himself a worthy descendant
of that great frontiersman.

The incident chosen by the painter occurred on the morning of the
day when Callaway met his death. The panel represents the place of
assembly on the bank of the Missouri. Two women came to the camp of
the rangers and reported that the Indians had stolen their horses and
had committed other depredations. The rangers at once took up the
trail, found and recovered the horses. On their return, as they were
crossing Prairie Fork near its junction with Loutre Creek, they were
ambushed by a large band of Indians and Callaway and several of his
companions were slain.

The next lunette on the left.

3. Early Lead Mining in Washington County {Page 98)
By 0. E. BErnINGHOUS, A. N. A, of St. Louis and Taos
The most important occupation of the settlers in the state in the

early years of the Eighteenth Century was the mining of lead. These
pioneers were French, who, headed by Renault and LaMotte, located in
what is now Washington county about 1720. They brought with them
artificers and several hundred slaves whom they bought in San Domingo
to work the mines. They also supplied themselves with such mining
equipment as picks, shovels, buckets, and windlasses, to enrich them-
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selves with the ore that had proven so plentiful throughout the upper
part of what was then Louisiana, now Missouri. Lead mining in th s
same region has since developed into one of the leading industries of the
state. The operations were in the main “diggings,” for galena ore was
found in a red diluvial marly clay.sometimes extending 10 to 30 feet to
limestone beneath. These “diggings” dotted the hillsides and valleys over
a large part of what is now Washington county and their number reflects
in no small way the activity and industry of those sturdy early settlers.
The ore was transported by ox carts and pack horses across the rolling
hill? to shipping points located on the Mississippi River.

The three following lunettes on the left:
By WALTER UFER, N. A., of Taos, New Mexico

4. Chouteau's Treaty With the Osages {Page 100)

This is again but one example of many similar treaties.

The parley takes place in a fort overlooking the Missouri River.
Through the wide open gate the broad reaches of the river are visible.
The sky is gloriously blue and cloud-flecked. Without the fort stands the
sentinel. Within Chouteau is eloquently and convincingly haranguing
the Indians.

This scene brings vividly before us this phase of colonial life in Mis-
sourdl.

5. The First Circuit Court in Boone County {Page 100)

Such open-air courts were held in many parts of Missouri in the
early twenties of the Nineteenth Century.

The tree under which this particular case was tried still stands near
Columbia. The first case heard in this court was a notable one. A bounty
of $1.50 was offered for each wolf scalp brought in. A shrewd hunter
secured one wolf scalp. Then with a sharp knife he tried to divide it in
such a way as to make two. His fraud was discovered, he was tried,
found guilty, and fined $5.00 for his offense. In the painting the accused
himself is addressing the jury. The presiding judge, Judge David Todd,
sits leaning against the tree, evidently not convinced by the argument.

6. The First Discussion of the Platte Purchase {Page 100)

For sixteen years after Missouri was admitted to the Union, a
triangle of land containing 2,000,000 acres, lying between the Missouri
River and a line extending due north from Kansas City to the Iowa
border was a reservation for three Indian tribes. The presence of Indians
here with no boundary between their reservation and the State of
Missouri but an imaginary line was a constant menace to the settlers.
Then this land, beautiful, well watered, fertile as the valley of the Nile,
was most desirable for the new state.

At a regimental militia muster held at Dale’s farm near Liberty,
Missouri, in the summer of 1835 a movement began which resulted in
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adding six prosperous counties to Missouri soil. At this muster the whole
countryside gathered together. At the noon hour after morning parade a
mass meeting was held. General Andrew S. Hughes proposed the
acquisition of the Platte River country. This plan met with instant
approval. A committee was at once formed consisting of such men as
Judge W. T. Wood, David R. Atchison, former U. S. Senator, and General
Alexander W. Doniphan of Doniphan Expedition fame.

A memorial to Congress was at once drafted praying that the land
in question be added to Missouri.

Through the efforts of Missouri’s delegation in Congress,
particularly through the support of Senators Benton and Linn, the
necessary laws were passed and, at the insignificant cost of some $7,500,
the “Platte Purchase” became a part of our State.

The necessary treaties with the Indians were negotiated by William
Clark of the Lewis and Clark Expedition.

In the painting, General Hughes is addressing the mass meeting at
Dale’s farm. General Doniphan is leaning against a tree, and the entire
assembly is following the speaker with close attention.

Passing across the west corridor to the elevator shaft in the south-
west corridor:

Two lunettes by 0. E. BERNINGHOUS, A. N. A., of St. Louis and Taos

7. Old Ste. Genevieve—First Permanent Settlement {Page 102)

The old town of Ste. Genevieve, the first permanent settlement in
Missouri, was located on the banks of the Mississippi River about three
miles below the present Ste. Genevieve.

It was founded about 1735 by the French, who came to this country
bringing with them many slaves from San Domingo for the purpose of
mining. The constant washing away of the river bank and the great flood
of 1785 forced the inhabitants to seek higher ground. Back of the town
are rolling hills, through which came a branch of what is known as El
Camino Real (Royal Highway), the principal traveled road of the district.
Between the hills and the river were what were known as the Grand
Fields and the Common Fields. These were extensively cultivated by the
community. In 1759, a fort known as Ft. Jochin, was located near the
village, possibly in the hills back of the town.

Several houses belonging to the inhabitants in the old town were
taken down, moved, and rebuilt in the new town and are standing today.
From these we get an idea of the style of architecture in use, especially
by the better classes, during the period preceding the great flood. To the
best of our knowledge, there are no prints or plans showing the manner
in which the town was laid out; and the artist is compelled to draw upon
his imagination in presenting a typical French village of the time,
introducing the landscape as it is today and the style of houses from the
old buildings existing in the new town.

The types of people, their dress, mode of transportation and the
river activity are shown in the foreground. The shipping of lead, pelts,
and furs, was extensively carried on at the time.
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8. Herculaneum—Where Shot-making Was An Industry {Page 102)

In the early years of the Nineteenth Century, the town of Her-
culaneum was a flourishing center engaged in mining and shipping of
furs and pelts. It was a considerable depot for the immense lead mining
country around, and, possessing a good landing for river craft, it became
an important shipping point. The town is located about thirty miles
south of St. Louis, directly on the banks of the river between two lime-
stone bluffs approximately a mile apart. Its claim to historical dis-
tinction is chiefly centered in its early industrial activities in the making
of shot. The first shot tower was established by John Nicholas Maclot, an
exile from France, in 1809. The two limestone cliffs, a hundred or more
feet in height, served as towers, from the top of which the molten lead
was dropped to the level below. The shot made here was shipped to all
parts of the country and practically supplied a large part of the United
States Army at the time. It is said that Andrew Jackson’s victory of New
Orleans in 1815 was won with bullets made at Herculaneum.

Through the activities of the Daughters of 1812, this historic site
has been presented to the state by the St. Joseph Lead Company and
has been marked by a bronze tablet.

Beginning at the west end of the south corridor, three lunettes by
W. Herbert Duncan, of Taos, New Mexico.

9. The Santa Fe Trail (Page 104)

The true romance of this great trail over which, for a generation,
passed the commerce between Missouri and the Southwest, is yet to be
written. Caravans of covered wagons drawn by oxen set out at intervals
from Westport, Missouri, on the long “trek” of 900 miles to Santa Fe.
These wagons were laden with merchandise. They were at all times in
danger from storms, from floods, from Indian attacks. On the return
journey they brought back the products of New Mexico obtained in
barter, and particularly the Mexican silver dollars, for which the out-
going cargo had been exchanged.

These journeys were no holiday trips for weaklings, but were
serious enterprises demanding the highest type of manly strength,
courage and resourcefulness.

The artist has given us a scene full of character. The great “Prairie
Schooner” moves out with the morning sunlight dancing on its canvas
cover. The thoroughly “hard-boiled” leader rides forward, grim, self-
contained and masterful. No one can question his authority with
impunity.

10. The First Missouri Pacific Train at Tipton {Page 104)

Here we are at the beginning of a new era. The “Iron Horse” has
advanced beyond the center of the state. The inhabitants of Tipton,
hitherto accustomed only to the ox-cart, the mule wagon, and the riding
horse, turn out in force to inspect this new marvel.
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11. The Pony Express {Page 104)

When, just before the Civil War, extremely rapid communication
between the east and far west was desired, the “Pony Express,” from St.
Joseph, Missouri, to San Francisco, a distance of 1,080 miles, was
established. Picked men and carefully selected horses were secured.
Night and day through fair weather and foul, over prairies, across
rivers, through mountains, amidst dangers from Indians and
highwaymen, they sped in relays, beating by eight days the time
required for the trip via the Isthmus of Panama. The thrilling
experiences of these riders form a most interesting chapter in the story
of western life. The experiment lasted but eighteen months, for in
October, 1861, telegraphic communication between east and west was
established.

The artist, himself a frontiersman of note, is thoroughly in
sympathy with his subject. He has mastered every detail of horse, of
man, of equipment, and shows us the rider leaving St. Joseph on the
first relay of the long journey.

The three following lunettes are by E. Irving Couse, N. A., of New
York and Taos, New Mexico.

12. Log Cabins {Page 106)

The first white settlers of Missouri were principally of French
extraction, a hardy race of pioneers who built their log cabins in the
heart of a primitive wilderness. The sites of many of these cabins have
become the thriving towns and cities of the state of Missouri. These
early settlers lived by hunting and cultivating small patches of corn and
vegetables.

13. Osage Village {Page 106)

The early Osages lived in wigwams made of the wild rushes
growing in the swamps and usually built their villages along the banks
of the many streams of Missouri. In the painting such a village is
represented in the early evening with the moon rising in the sky and the
evening sun throwing a strong glow over the scene. A group of natives in
the foreground are cooking the evening meal over an outdoor fire.

14. Osage Hunters {Page 106)

The Osages, among the earliest natives found in Missouri, were,
according to Catlin, of the highest type of American Aborigines, being
large and well proportioned. Many were six feet in height. They shaved
their heads, leaving only a scalp-lock to which they attached feathers
and ornaments. They were great hunters and lived in a region which
abounded in game of all kinds.

In the east end of the south corridor, three lunettes by Victor
Higgins of Taos, New Mexico.
15. The First Steamboat on the Missouri River Arriving at New
Franklin in 1819 {Page 108)
This boat marked for Missouri a new era in river navigation and
when this steamer arrived at “Old Franklin,” opposite what is now
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Boonville, it was an event of the first magnitude. Cannon were fired, a
great dinner was given, speeches were delivered, and the local press
proclaimed in staring headlines the glory and significance of the
occasion.

16. Daniel Boone's Sons Making Salt at Boone's Lick (Page 108)

These salt springs in Saline county were discovered by Daniel
Boone and for a long period they were the source of salt for the settlers
down the river. So important were they that this entire central Missouri
region was long known as the “Boone’s Lick Country.”

Boone’s sons manufactured salt here, placed the product in hollow
logs and floated it down to St. Louis. One of the iron kettles used by
them in evaporating the salt is still in existence. The springs still exist,
salt, as they were in Boone’s day, but cheaper methods of procuring salt
have long since put an end to the salt-making industry at this point.

17. Lewis and Clark at the Mouth of the Osage River (Page 108)

When the great explorers went up the Missouri River on their
journey across the continent they transported their party on one keel-
boat and two pirogues, one of which was painted white, the other red.
Such boats were the best means of river transportation up to the time of
the steamboat.

The artist shows them looking at the splendid view up the Missouri
while the keelboat and the two pirogues are moored at the foot of the
bluff.

At the southeast elevator shaft, two lunettes by Bert G. Phillips of
Taos, New Mexico.

18. The Cooper Immigrant Train (Page 110)

As a representative of Anglo-Saxon migration into Missouri, the
well-known Cooper family has been selected.

In February, 1810, Colonel Benjamin Cooper and his associates
came from Kentucky and first settled on Loutre Island in the Missouri
River. Later these families went on and settled in what is now Cooper
county.

The painting represents the train going into camp on a bitter winter
evening. No roads or even trails existed. The guides were also the guards
of the little caravan. Their rifles must be ever ready for protection
against the lurking foe and to bring down wild game for food. These
things suggest the hardships of these early settlers in Missouri.

19. Trail to the Happy Hunting Grounds {Page 110)

The site of St. Joseph is the place where Indian legend says the
“Trail to the Happy Hunting Ground” had its beginning. From all points
of the compass the Indians journeyed thither bearing their sick and
dying that their journey to the “Tepee of the Sun” might be short
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and easy. Here friend and foe met in peace and warring tribes held
armistice. Here they feasted and danced in primitive worship and the
trail across the sky to the great tepee of the Sun Father was made plain
to all beholders.

The center of the painter’s composition shows the sublime grandeur
of the Great Father’s tepee, symbolized by the sun’s rays streaming
down from an opening in the clouds. The gold and silver edges of these
rays suggest the broad pathway leading from earth to paradise.

At the extreme left, a woman with her babe in her arms turns to
make the first step on her way to the unknown. Her husband entreats
her to remain, but neither his words nor the grief of her stricken mother
seem able to detain her.

At the right the Indian braves are holding the Sun Dance, a cere-
monial prayer to the “Great Sun Father.”

It 1s an interesting coincidence that late one afternoon when several
Indians were posing for the artist (the figures were all painted from life)
the sun’s rays formed an almost exact duplicate of the “Tepee of the Sun
Father,” which he had represented in the painting.

Across the east corridor at the east end of the north corridor, three
lunettes by Ernest L. Blumenschein, N. A., of Taos, New Mexico, and
New York.

20. Meeting of Washington Irving and Kit Carson at Arrow Rock Tavern
(Page 112)

Of the famous old hostelries of Missouri, none has a more
interesting history than Arrow Rock Tavern. Located at a well-known
crossing of the Missouri which has been in use from time immemorial,
this old tavern has been the scene of many events of rare interest. So
important has the preservation of Arrow Rock Tavern become that,
through the efforts of the D. A. R., the state has acquired the property
and turned it into a historical museum.

A short time before the transfer of the property to the state, while
the old tavern was still in private hands, the writer inquired of the
landlady, who was deeply versed in the legends and tales which make
the story of this tavern so interesting: “What is the most important
incident in the history of Arrow Rock Tavern?” The reply was un-
expected, for the landlady did not mention some significant political
meeting or some thrilling incident of the Civil War, but said: “The
meeting in this Tavern of Washington Irving and Kit Carson.”

So the painter has chosen the moment when Washington Irving, on
his famous journey through the west, has just stepped from his carriage
and is being greeted by that great Missouri pioneer and scout, Kit
Carson. The old tavern forms the background; the two principal figures
are finely contrasted. The story is convincingly told.

21. The Indian Trader at Fort Carondelet {Page 112)
Fort Carondelet was for a brief period an important trading post in
the Osage Country.
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In the painting the fort is located at the top of a hill. The blue
uniforms of the French soldiers can be seen along the slope.

In the foreground the bewhiskered trader is displaying his wares to
the throng of curious Indians who crowd forward for a closer view. The
rich deep color, the dramatic movement, the well balanced composition,
make this one of the most notable of this entire series of historical
paintings.

22. Return of the French Officer and His Indian Bride to Fort Orleans
(Page 112)

Nearly half a century before Laclede founded St. Louis, de Bourg-
ment, the first white man to ascend the Missouri River, about 1720 built
Fort Orleans near the mouth of the Grand River in the territory occupied
by the Missouri Indians.

After making treaties with many tribes of Indians, he conceived the
idea of taking a band of Indians to Paris to impress them with the great-
ness and glory of the French nation.

With much difficulty he induced the daughter of the chief of the
Missouris and eleven of her tribe to accompany him on this long journey.

They descended the river to New Orleans in pirogues and sailed for
France. The Indian princess and her companions created a great sensa-
tion at the French Court. The princess was converted to Christianity and
was baptized in Notre Dame.

A young French soldier, Du Bois, who had traveled with her from
her wilderness home, had fallen in love with the princess and now
sought her hand in marriage. This marriage was very popular in Paris
and much approved. It was looked upon as an international wedding. So
the young suitor was given promotion and the Indian princess became
Madame Du Bois.

The return voyage of Monsier and Madame Du Bois was most
prosperous. They were duly feted in New Orleans and from there after a
toilsome journey of three months up the great rivers, again reached Fort
Orleans and the tribe of the Missouris. “What a joy,” says du Mont de
Montigny, the historian of that time, “for these Indians to see the return
of their countrymen.”

Madame Du Bois remained in the fort, but went from time to time
to visit her family either because she did not love her husband or
because her own people’s ways suited her better than those of the
French.

The boat which brought her had hardly left when the Indians
massacred Du Bois and butchered the entire garrison, not one escaping.
Madame Du Bois renounced Christianity and returned to her people and
to her former manner of life.

The painter has portrayed the arrival of the wedding party among
the Missouris. Du Bois, in his French uniform, and the princess clad in
the first Parisian gown imported into our state, are the observed of all
observers. The composition is most effective and the color scheme of
subdued harmonies is very attractive.
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RESOURCES MUSEUM

The central area of the west end of the first and second floors of the
Capitol is set apart as a museum in which are displayed the resources of
the state. In size and arrangement it corresponds with the Soldiers’ and
Sailors’ Museum at the east end.

The first floor is devoted to the display of museum material. The
ceiling decorations were executed by Trorlicht-Dunker of St. Louis. In
the medallions above each of the arches are represented the coats of
arms of some of the principal cities of Missouri.

On the mezzanine floor are eight lunettes like those with the battle
pictures in the Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Museum. These are decorated with
paintings illustrating the development and resources of the state and are
arranged in the following order:

Standing in the central gallery by the lower dome and looking
toward the west, the four lunettes in the gallery to the right represent
four scenes in the western part of the state, arranged in order from north
to south. The lunettes in the gallery to the left portray scenes in the
eastern part of the state arranged in the same manner.

The first lunette in the gallery on the left.

1. “The Father of Waters” (Page 11 If)
By R. A. Kissack, of St. Louis and New York

Standing on a bluff 200 feet high on the Illinois side of the
Mississippi three miles north of Alton, we have a vista across the great
river of the Femme Osage country, once presided over by Daniel Boone.
To the right is the location of the historical Portage des Sioux. In the
distance is seen the Missouri River winding along the line of bluffs. To
the right St. Charles would be visible were it not for the trees.

Broad bottom farms now occupy this alluvial area. The view sug-
gests the thousands and thousands of acres of the most fertile land in
the world which has been presented to the state by the action of her
rivers, great and small.

The first lunette in the gallery on the right:

2. Wealth of the North (Page 114)
By F. HUMPHREY WOOLRYCH, of St. Louis

Here is a typical farm in northwest Missouri. The sunny reaches of
rolling fields are bounded by low hills along the horizon. The trees cast
pleasant shadows. There is a bumper crop of golden grain. The growing
corn is a field of waving green. Sleek cattle graze in fertile pastures. The
chickens and the hogs are there. Pleasant farm homes with well filled
barns and silos give evidence of thrift and contentment. Over all is
arched a sky of azure blue with soft masses of fleecy clouds. The artist
has well portrayed the teeming wealth of “God’s Own Country.”
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The second lunette in the gallery on the left:

3. The Artery of Trade (Page 116)
By FRANK B. NUDRRSCIIER, of St. Louis

The artist has given us a splendid picture of the great Eads Bridge
over the Mississippi at St. Louis. We are standing on the Illinois shore.
Beneath the arches of the bridge some of the business blocks of St. Louis
are visible. In the foreground the railway train, the steamboats, the
ferries, the tugs, the barges, the piles of merchandise, give evidence of
the magnitude of the river traffic. Over this bridge through this “Artery
of Trade” for two generations the tide of commerce between the East and
the West has flowed ceaselessly for the development of the boundless
resources of our state.

The second lunette in the gallery on the right:

4. The Gateway of the West (Page 116)
By RoBERT BaLL, of Kansas City and New York

Winding along the bluffs at the left we have glimpses of Kansas
City’s famous Cliff Drive. The river bottoms at the right are filled with
the busy plants of industry and of commerce. The Burlington Railroad
Bridge leads across the river to North Kansas City. In the distance are
the blue hills of Kansas.

Kansas City has ever been the gateway through which has passed a
continuous stream of Missourians and Missouri influence for the
exploration, the development and the upbuilding of the great West.

“Out through this gate in 1817 moved Colonel Sibley, who, with two
other Missourians, located and marked the Santa Fe Trail. Out through
this gate a sixteen-year-old stripling of a lad went into the wilds of New
Mexico—our Missourian, Kit Carson. Out through this gate, in 1846,
went Alphonso Boone, grandson of Daniel Boone, and settled where
Salem, Oregon, now stands. Out through this gate, with a contingent of
settlers, went Albert Gallatin Boone and camped on the ground where
Denver now stands, twenty years before Denver was. Out through this
gate went John C. Boone, son of Nathan Boone, who explored a shorter
route to California. Out through this gate went a party of pioneers under
James Madison Boone, who settled in Texas.”

The third lunette in the gallery on the left:

5. Ha ITa Tonka (Pare 118)
By E. H. WUERPEL, of St. Louis
The most famous of the many beauty spots of Missouri is Ha Ha

Tonka. Though located near the center of the state, it is on a spur of the
Ozarks extending far to the north from the main body of these
mountains. Here with cliff and crag, fair-flowing stream and emerald
lake, with curious caves and crystal springs, with rugged gorges and
fantastic peaks, nature has gathered in the radius of a short half mile
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more and more varied scenic attractions than can be found in a similar
area anywhere in America.

The painting shows the lop of the bluff, a glimpse of the lake and
the Niangua River in the background.

The third lunette in the gallery on the right:

(i. Riches from the Mines (Page It 8)
By Tom P. BARNETT, of St. Louis
Missouri is rich in mineral resources, particularly in zinc, in lead, in
coal, and in iron. The artist has given us a picturesque scene in the zinc
country. Great piles of chat are everywhere. In the right foreground is a
“cave-in.” Beyond is a dumping pier. In the center of the picture is a foul
pool or sluggish stream. Beyond is a nondescript pile of mining
buildings. To their left rise the tall smokestacks of the stamping mills.
This is a scene of bleak desolation in nature. The magic of the
painter’s brush with its glowing colors, its sparkling lights and luminous
shadows, with its balanced masses and wide outlook, has transformed it
into a canvas of dramatic beauty.

The fourth lunette in the gallery on the left:

7. Reclamation of the South (Page J.0)
By CnarLEs F. Garr, of St. Louis

The lowlands of southeast Missouri, for ages covered with water a
greater portion of the year, vast swamps of cypress trees breeding
nothing more valuable than malaria, have now by a great system of
drainage canals, been transformed into one of the garden spots of the
world. The far-famed Valley of the Nile is not more fertile. On this virgin
soil can be grown the cotton of the South and the corn of the North. In
fact, as one enthusiast has said: “Any valuable crop that
can be raised anywhere on earth will grow here more luxuriantly and
more fruitfully than in its native clime.”

The fourth lunette in the gallery on the right:

8. Power from the Hills (Page 40)
By RarpH C. OrT, of Springfield

The great water-power of Missouri is not yet fully harnessed. But at
Forsyth a dam of sixty feet high has been erected across the White River.
This has created beautiful Lake Taneycomo, which winds for twenty-two
miles among the picturesque hills of the Ozarks, rivaling in
attractiveness its famous Italian namesake.

The artist has shown us the foot of the lake. The great dam and
powerhouse are in the foreground. From this source power is trans-
mitted over that entire section of the state. The limestone ledges of the
“rock-ribbed hills” are there. The distant uplands under the autumn sky
suggest the crisp atmosphere of the mountains.
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SOLDIERS* AND SAILORS’ MUSEUM

The central area of the eastern end of the first and second floors of
the Capitol forms the Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Museum.

The ceiling decoration, in low tone and ornate form, in harmony
with the massive architecture, is by Carlo Gino Venanzi, an Italian by
birth and education. In the medallions in the ceiling opposite the
lunettes, he has painted historical characters corresponding with the
scenes represented in the several lunettes. For example, in the medallion
opposite the “Attack on St. Louis,” we find a Continental Soldier. In
order, in the following medallions, are found a Trapper, Colonial Dame,
Ranger, Spanish War Officer, War Nurse, World War Soldier, and Naval
Seaman.

On the second or mezzanine floor of the museum are found eight
lunettes each sixteen feet wide and eight feet high.

In these lunettes is portrayed the epic cycle of the activities of
Missouri in war.

The series begins at the west end of the north side.

Lunettes 1 and 2, by Oscar E. Berninghous, A. N. A., of St. Louis
and Taos.

1. The Attack on St. Lotiis in 1780 {Page 106). The War of the
Revolution was in progress. For more than a year the English had been
planning, with a force of Indians under Canadian leaders, to launch an
attack on St. Louis, well knowing that with this post destroyed nothing
would prevent them from sweeping down the Mississippi River to the
Gulf. Rumors of the proposed attack reached St. Louis. The Spanish
Commandant, De Leyba, tried to allay the fears of the inhabitants to
such an extent that there are grounds for suspecting him of being in
league with the attacking party. To assure the people that there was
nothing to fear, he attempted to sell all the powder in the settlement.

In May, 1780, 150 British and 1,500 Sacs and Foxes came. Landing
near Baden, they made the attack on the 26th of the month. When they
began to fire on the settlers in the fields all the people were summoned
as quickly as possible into the stockade which had been erected the
previous year near what is now Sixth Street and Franklin Avenue.

There were at that time but 600 inhabitants in St. Louis and some
50 of these had been killed and scalped in the preliminary skirmish. But
the strength of the stockade, the vigor of the defense and the roar of the
one cannon owned by the settlers discouraged the Indians so that they
withdrew. St. Louis was saved and an epoch-making battle for the soil of
Missouri had been won.

The artist graphically portrays the attack. In the foreground and at
the right the Indians are skulking beneath the trees and behind the
rough rail fences. In the sunny newly-cleared ground in the middle
distance an Indian interrupts a settler with his plowing. In the back-
ground is the stockade made by standing logs on end and filling the
chinks with mud. Beyond some of the houses of the village may be seen,
while the smoke of the cannon shows that the defenders are aroused.
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2. Surrender of the Miamis to General Dodge, 1814 (-Page 140).
The War of 1812 reached Missouri only indirectly. The English
continued their policy of inciting the Indians to make forays against the
settlers. After General Wayne had decisively beaten the Miami Indians
in Ohio they migrated westward and settled in the Boone’s Lick country
in Missouri. Here, in conjunction with the Sacs and Foxes, they harassed
the border settlements until Colonel (afterwards General) Dodge was
ordered to deal with the situation in a summary manner.

In early times stockades were built on the north side of the Missouri
River from St. Charles to Fort Osage in which the settlers gathered in
times of stress. Bands of rangers, like the famous one of 100 men under
Captain Callaway, were formed whose duty it was to go to the relief of
those who were attacked.

Dodge had under his command a company of regulars. These were
reinforced by rangers and friendly Indians. The Miamis were taken by
surprise at Malta Bend, near what is now known as Miami in Saline
county, and were easily compelled to surrender.

This noble composition shows the river hills near Miami with a wide
view across the great bend of the Missouri. In the center is General
Dodge on horseback. Nearby stands Nathaniel Boone, son of Daniel
Boone. At the extreme right, with his gun on his shoulder, stands Cap-
tain Callaway. At the extreme left, by his horse’s head, is Ben Cooper.
The canvas is well filled with Indians and Rangers.

In this surrender of the Miamis we witness practically the end of
that border warfare which had harassed Missouri for more than a gener-
ation.

Lunettes 3 and 4, by Fred G. Carpenter of St. Louis.

3. Battle of Sacramento, 1847 (Page 122). Doniphan’s expedition to
New Mexico and Old Mexico easily ranks as one of the most remarkable
military achievements in the annals of time.

At the call of the Governor for volunteers for the “Army of the
West,” in the Mexican War, Alexander W. Doniphan of Clay county
recruited 1,358 men from the counties north of the Missouri River and
was elected Colonel. He led his volunteers to Fort Leavenworth. From
that point under command of General S. W. Kearney, also a Missourian,
with 300 regulars, they began the march of 900 miles to Santa Fe, which
they reached in fifty days. The city capitulated without a contest.

General Kearney proceeded overland with his troops to take Cali-
fornia.

Doniphan, after the arrival of Captain Weightman with his artillery
from St. Louis, started on his memorable march of 900 miles into
Mexico. Contrary to all the rules of warfare they ignored a defended base
of supplies and crossed a waterless desert of ninety miles, through an
unknown country in search of the forces of General Wool. After many
hardships they approached the little river Sacramento in the State of
Chihuahua.
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On the strongly fortified heights commanding the road above this
stream a well armed and equipped Mexican army of 4,000 men had for
weeks been awaiting the arrival of the Missourians. So sure were the
Mexicans of victory that they had prepared “strings and handcuffs” to
fetter these presumptuous Americans and drive them as prisoners to the
City of Mexico.

Doniphan’s force numbered hardly 900 effective fighting men. Yet
the victory was won by the men from Missouri, the American loss being
one dead and eleven wounded.

After this memorable battle, the expedition marched to the south of
the Rio Grande and returned home by boat by way of New Orleans.

In the painting, General Doniphan on horseback is in the left
foreground, directing the charge up the hill to the strongly fortified
Mexican position on the heights. In the center of the picture Captain
Weightman, also on horseback, of the famous St. Louis company of
artillery, orders the unlimbering of one of the guns preparatory to a shot
up the hill.

Below are dismounted men, grim and determined, while beyond the
mounted Missourians cover the steep incline, a seething, plunging mass
of men and horses led by Captain Hughes, the historian of the
expedition. In the immediate foreground is a heap of Mexican dead, their
elaborate costume contrasting strongly with the ragged garb of
Doniphan’s men.

4. The Entry into Havana, 1898 {Page 124)- In the Spanish-Amer-
ican War, Missouri troops did not get into action, but the Sixth Missouri
Volunteers was selected for the military occupation of Havana. A diffi-
cult composition, that of marching troops, is handled in a satisfactory
manner. The troops are shown entering the city amid the acclaim of the
grateful Cuban population. In the foreground a group of Cuban ladies,
gentlemen and children, from a veranda facing the Plaza des Armes
review the marching troops. A typical Cuban building in the background
on the left is festooned with flags, American and Cuban, side by side. For
this is the first time in the history of wars when invaders have come, not
to demand indemnity, not to confiscate property, not to extend the
domain of the conquerors, but to proffer to the natives the benefits of
health, of good government, and of peace.

Through the vista of trees at the right is a glimpse of the Governor’s
palace. Colonel Hardeman, on a spirited white horse accompanied by
several of his staff, escorted by a pair of ragged urchins, rides at the
head of his regiment.

Lunettes 5 and 6, by N. C. Wyeth.

5. Battle of Wilson's Creek {Page 126). This, in the early part of the
Civil War, was one of the most important and desperate battles in the
long struggle between the Federals and Confederates, for the control of
Missouri. It was fought August 8, 1861; the opening gun from Totten’s
battery signalled its beginning on the morning of a hot summer’s day,
the battle lasting until well into noon.
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The Union forces, numbering about fifty-five hundred men under
command of General Nathaniel Lyon, had marched out of Springfield to
surprise the Confederates encamped at Wilson’s Creek twelve miles
away. These were under General Ben McCullough with General Sterling
Price as second in command.

Although McCullough was the ranking officer, it was Sterling Price
(on horseback at the right in the painting) who was the outstanding
hero of the victorious Southerners. Wherever the danger was greatest
and the battle most doubtful, thither would he hasten and there he
would remain till the danger was past.

It was the deadly work of the shotguns with which General Price’s
men were armed and the desperate valor of the soldiers on both sides
that made the Battle of Wilson’s Creek one of the bloodiest in history.
The total casualties in five hours’ fighting were two thousand five hun-
dred and forty-seven, this in an engagement of less than twenty
thousand men.

The painting represents a view of the fighting at about 8:30 in the
morning. Bloody Hill, where the casualties were twenty-five per cent, is
in the central background. Over it is the smoke from Totten’s battery. In
the foreground the Blue (on the left) and the Gray (on the right) are
fighting on the natural barrier of the little placid stream from which the
battle gets its name. The smoke hangs low over the battle. The sycamore
at the right casts its pleasant shadow across the quiet water. Behind its
great trunk a soldier has staggered and fallen. The bullet marks in the
bark above him are the soldier’s autograph and his epitaph.

6. Battle of Westport (Page 138). This portrays an event near the
close of the Civil War, and the Battle of Westport has been called the
Gettysburg of the West.

Starting at Fredericktown, General Sterling Price led his forces on
a raid to the north and west to obtain recruits and supplies. He met with
varied fortunes and Westport was nearly reached on October 22. On the
morning of October 23, the Union forces began a general advance along
Blue Creek and were met by the Confederate cavalry. The fighting
became desperate. The Federals brought up several batteries of
artillery, using them with telling effect.

This pictured cavalry charge and countercharge represents the
desperate attempt of the Confederates to rush the Union batteries in
position along the ridge to the right. They were met by the Union
cavalry in one of the most spectacular cavalry engagements of the war.
It happened at noon near the end of a seven-hour battle in the bright
sun of a clear autumn day. The masses of horsemen crashed at full
speed. “The sound of the impact,” says a witness, “was heard above the
roar of the guns.” The action depicted took place on what were the old
golf links of the Kansas City Country Club and represents the critical
and deciding engagement, not only of the Battle of Westport, but for the
control of Missouri. This charge turned the tide of battle disastrously
against General Price and his men. Never again in the Civil War was
Federal control of Missouri in danger.
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In this painting the officer with raised sword in the center of the
Union line is Colonel John F. Phillips, later for many years the judge of
the United States Circuit Court in Kansas City. The officer seen just
below his raised arm is Thomas T. Crittenden, who afterwards became
Governor of Missouri.

Lunette 7, by Adolphe Blondheim of Provincetown, Massachusetts.

7. Vahquois Heights {Page 128). For four long years the French
had struggled to recover this important hill, the most perfect example of
German fortification on the Meuse-Argonne front and had lost 40,000
men in their fruitless efforts.

On the morning of the 26th of September, 1918, after a tremendous
barrage from 2,600 guns, the Thirty-fifth Division of Missouri and
Kansas troops “went over the top” to attack this hill. The fog and the
battle smoke were so dense that the men could hardly see each other
and could not see the German lines. The entire hill was honeycombed
with fortifications, a veritable hell of dugouts, camouflaged guns, and
machine gun nests, but in twenty minutes the Missourians and Kansans
had swept by the hill on either side, then closed in behind the heights.
While the main body of the Division marched forward to new fields,
detachments turned back- to “mop up” the Germans entrapped on the
hill. “This,” says General Pershing, “was the most important battle in
which Missouri troops fought in France. For it was here that the
Americans first demonstrated that they were going forward and that the
war was virtually won.”

The artist was singularly qualified to paint this picture, for he was
in the camouflage division a half a mile away when the attack began.

He shows not the commanding officer, but the “doughboys” of the
356th Division advancing through the fog and the smoke of the bursting
shells.

In the foreground at the left is a barbed wire entanglement. In the
trench at the right the Germans are surrendering. One American is
hurling a hand grenade, another is shooting over the parapet, a third is
using his bayonet, others are coming up.

We follow the communicating trench back up the hill. We see path-
ways leading to the dugouts. To the left of the slope a German camou-
flaged gun is still in action. In the border of the picture are painted the
insignia of the 35th Division.

Lunette 8, by Lieutenant-Commander Henry Reuterdahl, U. S. N.
R.F.

8. The Navy Guarded the Road to France {Page 180). When the
United States entered the World War a destroyer flotilla under
command of Captain J. K. Taussig of the well-known St. Louis family
was sent to England. On their arrival in Irish waters after the storm and
stress of their 3,000 mile voyage, the aid to the British Admiral inquired
of Captain Taussig, “When will your destroyers be ready to go into
action?” In a flash this answer came, “We are ready now.” And this is the
one phrase which has survived the war.
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The painting represents a convoy of transports just arriving in the
fighting zone, where they are guarded by destroyers, yachts and
auxiliary guard ships.

In the foreground is the stern of the destroyer Wadsworth of which
Taussig was commander. He is seen on the conning tower at the left, clad
in an old shooting jacket which he was accustomed to wear over his
uniform when at sea. He is watching the effect of the first shell on the
periscope of a submarine which has just become visible. At the alarm, the
crew, young fellows from the college, the shop, and the farm rush into
position clad in whatever garments they happened to be wearing at the
moment. The loaders of the 4-inch stern gun are on their toes ready to hurl
the flat-nosed projectiles into the breach as fast as the pointers v can fire.
Behind the gun in the very stern are the long rows of the depth bombs, the
“ash cans” shining in their new red paint. If the shells fail, we know the
“ash cans” will finish the submarine.

The ships on the horizon from left to right are as follows:

Galveston (cruiser, Commander D. C. Lewell).

Aphrodite (yacht, Commander R. Z. Craft).

New Orleans (cruiser, Captain E. B. Larimer).

Finland (transport, Commander J. C. Graham).

Kansas (battleship, Captain F. B. Hutchinson).

Susquehanna (transport, Commander A. B. Reed).

Orizaba (transport, Captain R. D. White).

Wainwright (destroyer, Commander F. H. Poteet).

Stockton (destroyer, Commander H. A. Baldridge).

Terry (destroyer, Lieutenant Commander R. E. Rogers).

St. Louis (cruiser, Captain E. F. Lincoln).

These commanding officers were all either born in Missouri or ap-
pointed from Missouri and the camouflage of their vessels is accurately
copied from the camouflage models in possession of the United States
Navy.

The painting is so full of “punch” and power that we must quote the
words of Lieutenant-Commander Reuterdahl: “The keynote of the Navy
is its youth and enthusiasm. This can only be translated by vigorous
painting and powerful colors. The sea surges, the navy is alert, and that
cannot be transcribed for the inland onlooker except by dynamic color
and strong forms. Victory is glorious and powerful and has to be
rendered in a two-fisted way.”

With pride the painter states that this is the first decorative canvas
of the navy and its achievements to be placed in any American public
building. He further states that “as the best men in the service are from
inland states it naturally follows that the painting which honors the
American Navy will not be found in a seaport town, but close to the
prairies.”
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THE GOVERNOR’S RECEPTION ROOM
Paintings by Gart MELCHERS, N. A., of New York (.Page 132)

Adjoining the Governor’s office on the second floor of the Capitol is
the Governor’s reception room. This is an oval chamber, some 50 by 35
feet in size. Its large windows command a fine view across the Missouri
River and the fertile river bottom to the bluffs beyond.

The walls are carved oak, beautifully finished in a soft gray which
harmonizes admirably with the colors of the paintings. In the frieze are
represented the coats of arms of all the states of the Union, picked out
with just enough gold and color to give character to each design. Of the
furnishings of the room the Circassian walnut center table and the
Ispahan rug are worthy of mention.

In the wall opposite the windows are four large panels
corresponding in size and shape to the windows. These contain the
paintings by Gari Melchers and are dedicated to education and
literature—to education in Missouri and to Missouri’s great men of
letters.

At the eastern end cf the oval is the portrait of Major James Sidney
Rollins {Page 134)+ Major Rollins was born at Richmond, Kentucky,
April 19, 1812, and was educated at Washington College, Pennsylvania.
After graduation he removed with his parents to Columbia, Missouri,
where he resided the rest of his life.

He earned his rank of Major in the Black Hawk War of 1832. Major
Rollins was first elected to the State Legislature in 1838. Here he at once
took up the question of establishing the State University. Largely
through his efforts the University of Missouri was chartered and located
at Columbia. Later on he was the leader in organizing the normal school
system of the state, Lincoln University at Jefferson City for colored
students, and the College of Agriculture in connection with the State
University at Columbia. In the course of his active public life he also
served in the State Senate and in Congress.

In recognition of his distinguished services to the University, the
Board of Curators of the University, in 1872, by unanimous vote, con-
ferred upon him the title “Pater Universitatis Missouriensis,” “Father of
the University cf Missouri.” It is eminently fitting, therefore, that he
should be the representative of higher education in the State Capitol.

The artist has given us a fine portrait of Major Rollins standing, a
stately figure, in an open portico. He holds in his hand the charter of the
State University and has risen as if to pronounce an inaugural address.
In the background is seen the “Old University,” whose cornerstone was
laid in 1840.

Susan Elizabeth Blow {Page 134) + At the west end of the line is the
portrait of Susan Elizabeth Blow, born in St. Louis in 1843. Becoming
profoundly interested in the problem of child education, she went to Ger-
many to study the methods and theories of Froebel. With important
changes and additions she formed those theories into a practical and
definite system which was successfully adopted for use in American
schools. Miss Blow then extended her work by establishing in St. Louis a
school for training kindergarten teachers with graduate courses for
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111 health compelled her to abandon active teaching in 1886. She re-
moved to New York and brought out several standard works on symbolic
teaching. As her health improved she began a series of lectures through
which the kindergarten system met with growing favor and adoption.

She is rightfully looked upon and called “The Mother of the Kinder-
garten,” and as such is placed here as the representative of Primary
Education. The painter has represented Miss Blow as an actual teacher
in a kindergarten room, with kindergarten surroundings and with two of
her small charges.

Eugene Field {Page 186). Eugene Field, the children’s poet, was born
in St. Louis in 1850. He was a student at the University of Missouri in
1870 and ’71. Beginning shortly after leaving the University, he had a
notable career as a newspaper man, being at different times connected
with various newspapers in Missouri, with the Denver Tribune, and
with the Chicago Daily News.

Much of his poetry first appeared in the columns of the papers with
which he was connected. Later these poems appeared in several small
volumes such as Trumpet and Drum, Denver Tribune Primer, Culture’s
Garland, and A Little Book of Western Verse.

His fame has ever increased with the passing of the years and he is
internationally known as one of the most delightfully charming of the
poets of childhood.

Mr. Melchers has done well in selecting as the theme of his painting
Field’s most fc...ous poem, “Little Boy Blue.”

The poet, an admirable likeness, is seated in an easy pose on the
edge of his library table looking down on "Little Boy Blue” playing upon

the floor, suggesting the poem:

“The little toy dog is covered with dust,
But sturdy and staunch he stands;

And the little tin soldier is red with rust;
And his musket moulds in his hands.

Time was when the little toy dog was new,
And the soldier was passing fair;

And that was the time when our Little Boy Blue Kissed
them and put them there.”

The little boy used by Mr. Melchers as a model was probably just
such a type of child, for, after posing an unusually long time, and being
asked if he were not tired, he would answer: “No, I'm not tired; I like to
pose.”

Mark Twain {Page 186). Samuel Langhorne Clements was born in
Florida, Missouri, November 30, 1833. His early life is intimately asso-
ciated with his home in Hannibal. As a boy he was engaged in the
printing trade. Then he became a pilot on the Mississippi River. From
his experiences on the river he derived his name, “Mark Twain,” used by
him for the first time in 1863. He went west to Nevada and as a news-
paper correspondent began that long line of publications which brought
him international fame as one of the world’s greatest humorists. The list
of his writings includes: Innocents Abroad, Roughing It, Huckleberry
Finn, Tom Sawyer, Life of Shelly, A Connecticut Yankee in King
Arthur’s Court, Joan of Arc.
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Mr. Melchers is very happy in his choice of the incident in the life of
this great Missourian.

After Mark Twain had achieved universal fame, on the occasion of a
visit to Missouri, he desired to renew some of his early experiences as a
pilot on the “Father of Waters.” So he once more took his place in the
pilot house, this time in a steamer named after him, the “Mark Twain.”
The artist, fortunate in selecting this incident, is also able to give us an
accurate representation of the interior of the pilot house off the “Mark
Twain.”

The blue-clad pilot is at the wheel. Through the windows details of
the river front of St. Louis are visible.. Mark Twain is in his favorite suit
of white flannel holding a pair of binoculars and standing near a stool on
which is his favorite panama hat. He probably held his pipe in his hand
on that historical occasion, but the painter has preferred the binoculars
as more classic. This is a fine portrait in historic setting.

THE STATE SEAL

In many places about the Capitol building will be found the state
seal. This design was authorized by Act of the General Assembly at St.
Charles, Missouri, November 6, 1821. It is supposed that the design was
composed by Judge Nathaniel B. Tucker, and his explanation is set out
in Houck’s History of Missouri, as follows:

“The arms of the State of Missouri and of the United States are
coupled together, yet separated by a pale, denote the connection existing
between the two governments, and shows that, although connected by a
compact, yet we are independent as to internal concerns; the words
surrounding the shield denote the necessity of the Union. Quadrupeds
are the most honorable bearing. The great grizzly bear being almost
peculiar to the Missouri river and its tributaries, and remarkable for its
prodigious size, strength and courage, is borne as the principle charge of
our shield. The color of the shield is red and denotes sturdiness and
valor. The chief (the upper one-third of the escutcheon) is most honorable
of all ordinaries. The color blue signifies vigilance, perseverance and
justice. The crescent, in heraldry is borne on the shield, by the second
son, and on our shield denotes that we are the second state (Louisiana
being the first) formed out of territory not within the original territorial
limit of the United States and admitted to the Union. The crescent also
denotes the growing situation of the state as to its inhabitants, wealth,
power, etc. The color white signifies purity and innocence. The helmet
indicates enterprise and hardihood. The one emblazoned on this coat of
arms is that assigned to sovereigns only. The star ascending from a cloud
to join the constellation shows Missouri surmounting her difficulties and
taking her rank among the other states of the Union. The supporters, the
same powerful animals, borne on the shield, which support the shield, on
which are emblazoned the arms of the State and the United States,
denote that while we support ourselves by our own internal strength we
are also in support of the general government. The motto (salus populi
suprema lex esto) shows that the good of the people is the supreme law of
the state. The numerals under the scroll (MDCCXX) show the date of the
Constitution.”
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THE GOVERNORS* PORTRAITS

On the first floor of the Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Museum around the
wall next the ceiling, are the portraits of the Governors of Missouri,

as follows:

James WilKINnson ......ccoooeovvvviiiieeeeiiiiviinnnnnn. 1805 to 1807
Meriwether Lewis ....coooooovvviiiiieeeiiiiiiiiinnnn. 1807 to 1809
Benjamin Howard ................................. 1809 to 1812
William ClarKk .........oovvvvveeveveeeeiieeeeeeeeeeeeennnns 1812 to 1820
Alexander MceNair ......eveeeveeeeeeeeennnnnns 1820 to 1824
Frederick Bates ..............ccoooool 1824 to 1825
John Miller .......ooovvvviiiiiiiii, 1825 to 1832
Daniel Dunklin......cccooooeiiiiiiiiiiieniiiiiiiinnnnnn. 1832 to 1836
Lilburn W. Boggs.......covvvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiee, 1836 to 1840
Thomas Reynolds ........cccoeeeeiiieiiiiiiinennenn. 1840 to 1844
Meredith M. Marmaduke.........ccccceevvvvveveveeeeeeeennnnnns 1844
John Cummings Edwards...........ccccoee...... 1844 to 1848
Austin A. King .....ovvvvvniiiiccecan 1848 to 1852
Sterling Price......cccooooeieieiiiiiiiiiiiiiicciiccnnn. 1852 to 1856
Trusten PolK ........ooveveeiiiiiiiiiiiieeiiiieeiiin, 1856 to 1857
Hancock Jackson .........oooovvvviviiiiiiiiiiiiiii 1857
Robert M. Stewart 1857
to
1860
Claiborne Jackson 1860
to
1861
Hamilton R. Gamble 1861
to
1863
Willard P. Hall........ccoooeiiiiiiiiiieeeiii, 1863 to 1864
Thomas C. Fletcher........cccccovvveveeiiiiiiiinnnnn. 1864 to 1868
Joseph W. McClurg .....ccccceevieeeeicniiineeeeenn, 1868 to

..................................................................... 1870
B. Gratz Brown 1870
to
1872
Silas WoodSOon....ccoeeeiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeees 1872 to 1874
Charles H. Hardin 1874
to
1876
John S. Phelps 1876
to
1QQN

The first four are territorial governors. James Wilkinson was termed
the “Stormy Petrel,” so mixed was his career with political adventures.
Lewis and Clark were of the famous expedition of that name. All the
portraits from Wilkinson to Joseph W. McClurg, except Sterling Price,
were painted by St. Louis artists from black-and-white crayon likenesses.
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EXPENDITURES OF THE CAPITOL DECORATION COMMISSION
FROM JUNE, 1918, TO DEC. 1, 1928.

Prepared by ARTHUR A. KOCIAN, Secretary of the Commission.

Total of Expenses of Commissioners from June, 1917, toDec. 1, 1928...
$18,203.82

Mural Paintings, Portraits of Governors, Photographs, decorative, and

all Other PAINTINGS .ovveviieiieiieieeieee et s saae s 346,419.82
Furnishings, radiator covers, electric light, brass frames, rails and announcement holders, seats,

FLAGS 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt et et et e et e et et et eeaeesaeesaeerean 41,390.80
Stained-glass WINAOWS .......ccueeriieriieiieeieeieniereesieestee e e e e beebeebesssessaesseesseesseensens 70,200.00
T APESEIIES .cevtieiteeiieeiteeiieetie et et e st et et e et e et e et e et e esbesseesssesseesbeesbeesbeenbeenseenbesnsesssennns 10,700.00
Sculpture, including Friezes, Pediment Figures, Fountains, Flag Poles,

RELIET ...ttt 473,121.71
Necessary repairs and reconditioning of Building for preservation of works

OF ATE 1eveieiiieeciee ettt ettt e e e e e e e tb e e e aa e e e ab e e e eareeeaeeeeabaeenreeeans 41,756.29

Total $1,009,003.10
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Foreword

Persons wanting to gain insight into Missouri’s future must first
explore its past. Our magnificent State Capitol is filled with a wealth
of information about Missouri’s rich ancestry. Its marbled halls and
domed ceilings contain an awesome variety of great artworks,
carved sculptures and interesting architecture. And as a fully
operational seat of Missouri Government, the Capitol provides an
inspirational setting for conducting state business.

To preserve and appreciate the tremendous amount of time and
talent that went into creating this outstanding facility, the Missouri
Senate Committee on Accounts is pleased to provide the following
publication. Included are reproductions of three historically
important documents that preserve complete information about our
Capitol’s architectural and cultural heritage. Two booklets produced
in the mid-1920’s immediately after the Capitol was decorated are
reprinted in their entirety. A 1977 rededication address given by
former State Senator Albert M. Spradling following the complete
renovation of the Senate Chamber also is included.

Since its first publication in 1979, this document has ranked as
one of the most comprehensive descriptions available of the
Missouri State Capitol. The Senate has reprinted and preserved the
material for you —the citizens of Missouri. By sharing in its rich
historical knowledge, we hope you too can appreciate the many
people and events that make Missouri a great place to live.

John E. Scott
President Pro Tem of the Missouri
Senate May 1983
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Rededication Address

given by
Albert M. Spradling, Jr.
April 25, 1977

In the 25 years that I had the pleasure of serving as a member of
the Missouri Senate, I was invited, as a guest, to 34 State Capitols.

As a legislator that had always been impressed with this beautiful
chamber we are rededicating today, I took it upon myself to visit
the Senate Chambers of these 34 states.

Upon returning from each of these trips I, once more, visited our
Missouri Senate Chamber and appreciated, more and more, the
architectural beauty of this room. Almost every visiting legislator
that I have spoken to and who had visited the Missouri Senate,
went away praising the Senate Chamber in our State of Missouri.

Unfortunately, six years ago, the roof of the capitol building
began to leak very badly. Bain water spotted the ceiling and walls
and, six years ago, almost to this day, the Accounts Committee of
the Missouri Senate met and requested that an emergency
appropriation be passed by the General Assembly and signed by the
Governor for work on the roof to prevent further damage to the
chamber. It was to be five years later that the roof would be
repaired. Although appropriation after appropriation was made, the
Executive Branch of Government could not get down to the task of
repairing the roof. Some of you will remember that Senator William
Baxter Waters and Senator A. Clifford Jones did yeoman service in
producing buckets when torrential rains hit the state capitol in
April and May of 1975. Finally, the roof was repaired in 1976.

It then became the duty of the Accounts Committee to obtain an
appropriation adequate to refurbish the chamber as well as to
repair the tremendous damage that had been done.

The first job of the Accounts Committee was to select architects
and interior designers who could reproduce this Senate Chamber as
it existed when this building was dedicated on October 6, 1924, and
The Hoffman Partnership, Inc. of St. Louis, Missouri, who had done
restoration work at the University of Missouri was chosen as the
architect.

It was also discovered that the art work and these 4 beautiful
murals on my right and left had been severely damaged because of
the dampness that had crept into the chamber and because of the



variance in heating and air conditioning over the years. To those of
you who are new here, under each of the 34 desks and behind those
desks of the Sergeant at Arms and the doorkeeper to the rear, there
were, originally, grates and, through these grates, poured cool air
during the late spring and early summer when the Legislature was
in session. As a matter of fact, great blocks of ice were placed in
the basement, fans turned on and your feet remained cool, but the
humidity in this chamber was almost unbearable. Yes, I remember
when the first air conditioning was placed in the chamber. At that
time, Senator Michael Kinney was Chairman of the Senate
Accounts Committee and air conditioning might have become a
reality earlier except that the Senator felt it was a tremendous
waste of the taxpaper’s money to provide a cool space for the
members of the Senate. He was finally prevailed upon by other
members to, at least, obtain bids and bids were finally obtained and
Senator Kinney acquiesced, at long last, to air conditioning in the
chamber. At that time, 3 members of the Senate wore long
underwear 12 months out of the year and they expressed the
feeling that if the rest of us would wear long underwear in the
chamber, that we would not really need air conditioning because
the perspiration would cool us, particularly with the cool air
coming through the ducts. However, those members of the General
Assembly that wore long underwear finally came down with colds
due to the cool air blowing over the blocks of ice (and it might be
added that extra ice during this period was placed in the chambers
for those long underwear members), and the health of the
membership finally dictated an air conditioning system.

There was probably more newspaper space devoted to the
remodeling of this chamber than when the original capitol was
built. Some felt that we should retain none of the old, but should go
ahead with all new fixtures and furnishings. Some desired that the
chamber be kept exactly as it was in 1924, and a compromise was
finally reached.

The desks that you are sitting at today are exactly the same as
they were in 1924. The chairs that you are sitting in are the same
chairs that were in this chamber in 1924. In 1924, however, those
chairs had straight legs and some time around 1926, it was decided
to make them swivel and the legs were replaced with a swivel base.
Because the chairs were never meant to be swivel and because the
persons who did the work were unaware of how to balance the
chairs, there have been many members who have fallen out of the
chairs because of the balance. One of the criteria in rebuilding
these chairs was that (a) they were not to squeak; and (b) they were
to be as solid as possible. At any rate, some $700,000 was spent on
this chamber by your Accounts Committee and I think we can all



the Missouri Senate, in its decorations and the architecture of the
chamber, we found the archives contained only plans for this
chamber and not one word of history. Dr. Stirling Kyd and I had a
long talk about the fact that the history of this capitol is almost
non-existent, and Dr. Kyd who was employed by the Missouri
Senate in a research position agreed to work on weekends, in
Columbia, at the Missouri Historical Society Office, reading old
newspapers, old books, trying to piece together the history of the
capitols of the State of Missouri. Dr. Kyd and I have spent many
hours in gathering the material on all of the Missouri State Capitols
and, I think, it only appropriate this information be preserved and
passed on to you, the Members of the 79th General Assembly.

The number of “capitols” which the State of Missouri has had
depends largely upon how the term “capitol” is defined. If “capitol”
is considered the building in which the Legislative Body meets,
Missouri has had far more than is realized by most citizens of the
state.

To review history for a moment, Missouri became a part of the
United States in 1804 with the consummation of the Louisiana
Purchase. At that time, the fur trade was the principal business of
the territory, and little civil rule existed until Missouri Territory
was organized in 1812.

After becoming the Missouri Territory, Territorial Legislatures
were held on an irregular basis in St. Louis, the principal city.

The first Territorial Legislative Session was held in 1812 in the
home of Pierre Chouteau, Sr.

The second session met in the house of Madame Dubrevill who
lived on Second Street in St. Louis.

On October 26, 1818, a special session to formulate demands and
strategy for gaining Statehood was held at E. Maury’s Hotel on
Second Street.

The Convention to draft a Constitution for the new state was
convened June 12, 1820, in the Mansion House on the corner of
Third and Vine Streets in St. Louis. This building was a three-story
brick building, and was considered to be one of the most
pretentious buildings in the upper Mississippi country. It had been
built in 1816 by General William Rector, who had been U. S.
Surveyor - General for Illinois and Missouri. Originally, the building
was built to serve as his residence and office, but in 1819, he
enlarged it and converted it into a hotel. The dining room in which
the forty-one Constitutional Convention members deliberated for
five weeks, was, for many years, the principal ballroom where the
society of St. Louis held its most fashionable functions.



until October 1826. After that date, it was to be permanently
located at some point on the Missouri River within forty miles of
the mouth of the Osage River.

Following the Constitutional Convention of 1820, the first
session of the Missouri General Assembly was convened on
September 20,1820 at the Missouri Hotel in St. Louis. The Missouri
Hotel was a three-story stone building located on the southwest
corner of Main and Morgan. At that time it was reputed to be the
finest hotel in the whole Mississippi valley.

This first Missouri General Assembly canvassed the election
returns and announced the election of Alexander McNair as
Missouri’s first Governor.

It was also in the Missouri Hotel dining room during this session
where occurred one of the most dramatic incidents in the history
of the Missouri General Assembly. At that time, the United States
Senators were elected by a joint session of the General Assembly.
David Barton was elected unanimously, but a long and bitter
contest developed between Thomas Hart Benton and Judge John B.
C. Lucas. For days, the forty-three House members and fourteen
Senators had been deadlocked with twenty-six votes for each
candidate. One member, Rep. Daniel Ralls, was extremely sick and
had not attended any of the sessions. Knowing that Ralls favored
their candidate, the Benton supporters carried him in his bed, from
his room in the hotel to the dining room where the Joint Session
was meeting. So sick he could scarcely lift his head, and in a voice
so weak it could hardly be heard, he cast his vote and broke the
deadlock. A few days later he died in his room at the Missouri
Hotel. It was for this legislator that Ralls county was later named.

Before it adjourned and after a long fight, the first session of the
General Assembly changed the temporary seat of government from
St. Louis to St. Charles. It also named a five-man commission to
select the location of the permanent capitol site.

Governor McNair called a special session of the General Assembly
to be convened in the new capitol in St. Charles on June 4,1821, to
consider the objection raised by the United States Congress to the
proposed Missouri Constitution. The building used for this Special
Session is the one which has been restored in St. Charles. It was a
plain two-story brick building about twenty feet wide and thirty
feet in length.

On November 5,1821, the General Assembly was again convened
in St. Charles, and for several weeks a battle raged over where the
permanent seat of government should be located.

The act of Congress which provided potential statehood for
Missouri



and which called for a convention to frame a state constitution,
was approved by President Monroe on March 6,1820. One section of
this act provided that “four entire sections of land be, and the
same hereby are granted to said state for the purpose of
reestablishing their seat of government thereon” Consequently the
selection of a site was confined primarily to unclaimed public
lands.

In 1819 the first steamboat had ascended the Missouri River.
This was considered a major transportation and communication
breakthrough at the time. It was because of the potential for travel
and traffic afforded by steamboats that caused the members of the
Constitutional Convention to specify in the 1820 Constitution that
the permanent seat of government must be located upon the banks
of the Missouri River within forty miles of the mouth of the Osage
River.

The Commission appointed to investigate site possibilities spent
weeks going up and down the river. Finally, at the November, 1821
session it presented to the General Assembly two possibilities.

The Commission’s first recommendation was Cote sans Dessein
(Hill without design). This is a long narrow hill almost exactly
opposite the mouth of the Osage. The hill is about 1800 feet long,
surrounded by the Missouri River bottom, which rises gradually
from the west until reaching a height of about 150 feet on the east
end. It was already the center of a considerable settlement—mostly
French. In the war of 1812 there had been a fierce fight there with
the Sac and Fox Indians, and Louis Roi and his wife and his
brother’s wife had stoutly defended their house and the nearby
blockhouse, and caused the death of more than twenty of the
attacking Indians and their gallantry had aroused much sentiment
in favor of locating the capitol at Cote sans Dessein. It was
proposed to place the State House and the Governor’s residence on
this hill. Angus L. Langham claimed to be the owner and he offered
to donate 446 acres embracing the hill and surrounding bottom
lands, to the state, if this were chosen for the site.

The Commissions second recommendation was a site at Howard’s
Bluff which is twelve miles west of the mouth of the Osage. The
primary virtues of this site were the fine view of a long stretch of
the Missouri River, and the fact that the site was still public land.

After much discussion and debate, the General Assembly finally
voted, on December 31, 1821, to reject the Commission’s
recommendations and to establish the “City of Jefferson” on four
sections of land in the Howard’s Bluff vicinity. At the time, there
were only two houses in the area, but the commissioners admitted
that this site “affords the best view of the Missouri River of any
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were (1) the heighth of the bluff above the river being “rather too
elevated to admit any easy communication by ascent from, or
descent to, the river... ”, and (2) “There is no spring of consequence
(at the site) the one at the bluff affords but little water and it is not
easily accessible.”

The following is taken from the January 21,1823 issue of the
Missouri Intelligencer, which was printed in St. Louis:

“City of Jefferson, the permanent seat of government

was located at the mouth of Weirs Creek, about 12 miles
above the mouth of the Osage River, by five
commissioners appointed by the state legislature for that
purpose—and on act of the legislature passed December
31, 1821, authorized the said commissioners to lay off a
town in the four sections by them before selected. They
accordingly met in March, 1822, and together with Mr.
Bancroft, of Howard, the surveyor appointed by the
Governor, proceeded to lay off a town. The principal street
to be 100 ft. wide, and the other streets are 80 feet; the
alleys 20 feet. There are 1,000 in-lots, and the remaining
part of the four sections are laid off into out-lots of
5,10,20, and 40 acres which are divided by alleys, so as to
give free communication to the town from any of them.
The lots are to be sold on the first Monday of May, next;
one third of the purchase to be paid in hand, and the other
two thirds in annum installments. The site is a very
handsome one, and the town will in all probability, become
a considerable place. Although the immediate
neighborhood of the town, on the south side of the river,
is not very rich, yet the counties of Boone and Calloway,
on the north side, will afford many wealthy settlements
for the support of the City of Jefferson.”

It was hoped that sufficient revenue would be raised from the
selling of lots to at least partially finance the building of the first
capitol building in the City of Jefferson. Early in 1822, an act was
passed which called for the building of such a structure, using
bricks, consisting of two stories, and not to exceed the over-all
dimensions of forty by sixty feet. The act further stated that this
building was to serve as the residence of the Governor, but that it
should contain two large rooms which would be suitable for use by
the two houses of the General Assembly. A large fireplace on each
end of the large rooms was specified, and the total cost was not to
exceed $25,000.

The Commission appointed to develop the City of Jefferson chose
as the site for this building the hill overlooking the Missouri River
upon which today is located the Governor’s Mansion. The building,
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the contractors who had constructed the “Governor’s House and
State Capitol”.

In 1829, the Ninth General Assembly passed an act which
provided for improvements at the State Capitol. In addition to the
construction of a log stable, the act called for the adding of a brick
kitchen, one-story high, and measuring sixteen by thirty feet. The
kitchen had to be partitioned, however, so that one end could be
used as a smokehouse.

The Ninth General Assembly passed an act approved February 2,
1837, which created a Commission and appropriated $75,000 to
plan a new capitol to be located on the hill which is the site of the
present capitol. Before the work was begun, however, fire destroyed
the existing capitol on November 17, 1837. The building was
completely consumed, and nothing was saved.

Following this fire, the General Assembly met in the Cole County
Court House until 1840 when it moved into the new building.
Although occupied relatively quickly (3 years), great controversy
was involved in the construction of this building — (claims of pay-
offs and kickbacks) which eventually cost nearly $350,000. This
building was 85 by 192 feet, had two floors and a basement, and a
dome 130 feet high. The walls were of brick and stone, with the
stone taken from bluffs in the immediate vicinity. The exception
was the stone in the rotunda columns, which were quarried in
Calloway County.

This building was considered one of the three handsomest and
most classical public buildings in the U. S. The other two were the
state capitol on “Capitol Hill” in Boston, and the County Court
House in the City of St. Louis.

This building served the purposes of the state until 1887 when it
was remodeled and enlarged, with the work being completed in
1888. North and south wings were added, each 76 by 109 feet, the
central portion was modified, the height of the dome increased to
185 feet to make the lines of the building more proportionate.
Total cost was $220,000. The total square footage was
approximately 49,718.

On the night of February 5,1911, the State Capitol was destroyed
by fire. A freakish thunderstorm moved in that evening, and at
about eight o’clock a bolt of lightning hit the capitol dome.

At first it looked as though only a small portion of the building
would be damaged, but the fire spread rapidly, and within two
hours the entire building was a mass of flames.

With the equipment and personnel our fire departments have
today, the building would have been saved. However, in those days
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department to get on the scene. The equipment they had was very
meager, so much so, in fact, that it could not throw a stream of
water to the top of the building.

A newspaper account of the fire which was written on February 6,
1911, stated: “Fire Chief Gray, with an escort of about a dozen
men, climbed the stairway in the dome while the cupola was
burning, and turned the hose on the flames. He was driven back
down the stairway, however, because of a lack of water-power. Had
he been equipped like the firefighters are in St. Louis, he would
have extinguished the blaze before it destroyed the dome.”

This newspaper listed only six names as members of the fire
department. Governor Hadley called out the National Guard to fight
the fire, and the penitentiary also sent its thirteen-man firefighting
crew to help.

Governor Hadley was entertaining a group of newsmen at the
Mansion when the lightning struck, and the entire group went
immediately to the Capitol and started moving out records and
furniture. It was estimated that at one time there were 600
volunteers removing valuables from the building. Great masses of
records which were dumped or stacked outside in the rain,
eventually were loaded into railroad boxcars and sent to Columbia.
For the next several years, Dr. Jonas Viles of the State Historical
Society, spent virtually all of his time sorting out the records
which had been saved.

In a St. Louis Post Dispatch story printed the day after the fire,
more space was given to pushing the idea of moving the capitol to
St. Louis than was devoted to details of the fire. In fact, during the
next several weeks, virtually every town and city of any size, made
a pitch to have the capitol moved there. You would be interested to
know that Sikeston made an offer of donating 35 acres of land and
$3,000,000 in cash if the capitol were moved there.

The 46th General Assembly was in session at the time of the fire,
and the legislative session continued in other quarters. The Senate
met in the new Supreme Court Building, and the House used St.
Peters Hall, a block west of the old capitol. Executive offices were
set up in the old Supreme Court Building, the State Armory and in
rented offices.

Governor Hadley strongly opposed the idea of moving the capitol.
In his address before a joint session of the Senate and House, he
cited several reasons for this stand and emphasized that as the
move would delay construction by at least two years. The
Constitution provided that the capitol should be located in the City
of Jefferson, and to change this would require a vote of the people.
The proposition could not be submitted before the next general
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Legislation was immediately introduced which proposed the
authorizing of $3,500,000 in bonds, of which amount $3,000,000
would be used to erect a new building, $300,000 to furnish the
building, and $200,000 to acquire additional grounds. This
proposition was submitted at a special election held August 1,
1911, and was ratified by a vote of 144,644 for to 45,468 against.

The primary opposition involved a clause in the Constitution
which permitted bond proposals to be submitted at special
elections, but also provided that indebtedness incurred at a special
election must be retired in not more than thirteen years. Bonding
proposals submitted at a regular general election could run for fifty
years.

Legislation was passed which set up a State Capitol Commission
Board which would administer the planning and construction of the
new capitol. In several instances, this legislation was far too
specific. In fact, a good many problems later encountered by the
Capitol Commission Board resulted from overly restrictive
provisions in the legislation.

For example, the legislation required that the bonds bear a 3
1/2% rate of interest. This rate was too low for the bonds to be
marketable, and sale of the bonds had to be delayed until after the
General Assembly convened in 1913 and passed a refunding act.

It was also specified that the plans for the new structure must be
selected “by a competitive architectural contest”. The American
Institute of Architects objected to the first draft of the proposed
contest claiming among other things that complete anonymity of
contestants was not provided, that the Board was not obligated to
select the author of the winning plan as the architect for the
building, and that it was proposed to pay only 5% of the cost of the
building—rather than 6% as the A.I. A. considered to be standard—
as the architectural fee. The A.I. A. further informed the Board that
unless these objections were corrected, no A.I.A. member could
enter the contest and remain a member.

There is no doubt that these provisions were intentional. The
board definitely wanted to use a Missouri architectural firm, and
thus wanted to be able to identify the contestants. And, despite the
state from which the architect might come, the Board considered a
5% fee as completely adequate.

However, the Board was forced to modify its competition plans so
as to make, as the Board later reported, “the selection of an
architect wholly anonymous and render it impossible for the Board
to give any preference to a Missouri architect”.

There were actually two contests. Sixty-nine firms from
throughout the countrv entered pnlans in the preliminarv contest.



eleven were selected for final consideration. The winning plans
were selected on October 6,1912, and were submitted by the firm
of Tracy and Swartwout of New York City.

On May 6, 1913, ground breaking ceremonies were held. Again,
progress had been delayed because of a restriction in the enabling
legislation. A provision had been included which prohibited a
contract for any part of the building to be let until a contract for
the entire building could be bid. The General Assembly also
corrected this error during the early part of the 1913 session, and a
contract for the foundation was awarded on April 21, 1913.

Detailed architectual plans were completed in mid-summer, 1913
and the contract for the superstructure was awarded to John Gill
and Sons Company of Cleveland, Ohio, on November 18, 1913. The
total bid, including alternates, was $2,944,409.

Almost immediately a conflict with the contractor developed. The
act providing for a new capitol expressly stated that it should be
constructed with the best quality native Missouri granite and
stone. To familiarize itself with the various Missouri stones, the
Board visited quarries in Warrensburg, Carthage, Roaring River,
Phoenix Rocheport, Ste. Genevieve, Union and the several quarries
near Graniteville.

However, immediately after being awarded the contract, the
contractor opened up and developed a quarry at Spergen Hill, in
Ste. Genevieve County. In January, he submitted a sample of this
stone— which was oolitic limestone—to the Board for its approval
for use as the exterior stone of the capitol. The Board refused to
give its approval. It maintained that the law requiring the Board to
select the best stone in the state had been made a part of the
contract, and that Burlington limestone was superior and must be
used. A little over six months later the controversy was resolved
with some concessions made by both sides. As a result, the stone
used for the exterior and the interior with the exception of the
third floor, was Burlington limestone from the quarries at Carthage.
The interior stone on the third floor came from the Phoenix Quarry
in Greene County.

The present capitol is built on the same grounds upon which the
old structure stood, except that it is located further to the south. It
stands on 285 concrete piers which extend to bed-rock at depths
ranging from twenty to fifty feet. It is 437 feet long by 200 feet
wide in the wings and 300 feet wide through the center. It is 88
feet from the floor of the basement to the top of the exterior wall.
The apex of the dome is 262 feet from the basement floor. The
building covers abproximatelv three acres and has aboroximatelv



Although the capitol building itself is a most outstanding architectural
accomplishment, the decorations and art work in and on the building make it
particularly distinctive, both artistically and historically. And to a great extent,
this came about by accident.

In 1911—when the bonding proposal was submitted for approval by the
people—the state’s primary source of revenue was the property tax. In order to
pay off the bonds in the required thirteen years, a special levy was passed which
was earmarked for the Capitol Building Fund.

As work in the Capitol progressed, however, it became obvious about 1917
that more money would be generated by the special levy than would be needed
to pay the costs of construction. The Attorney General ruled that the money
generated by the special levy could be used only on the Capitol, and could not
be diverted for other uses. Consequently, the 49th General Assembly enacted
legislation which established the Capitol Decoration Commission, and
authorized this Commission to proceed with the decoration of the Capitol. For a
period of nearly twelve years the Decoration Commission planned, contracted
and supervised the outstanding decorations which now grace this building. The
only decorations of any note which have been added since the Decoration
Commission ceased to exist are the Thomas Hart Benton murals in the House
Lounge.

The Decoration Commission had slightly over a million dollars to spend upon
decorations. Because of this unexpected windfall of funds— a million dollars to
decorate a building which cost three million to construct—the statutary, the
stained-glass, the murals, the carvings of both wood and stone, and the bronze
castings are truly remarkable. Outstanding artists and sculptors of that time
were engaged and the results were magnificient.

There are far too many outstanding works of art to begin to describe them.
The four murals in the Senate Chamber, however, have long been the especial
favorite of the people who have served in that body.

An outstanding Missouri artist of that time was Richard E. Miller of St. Louis.
The Decorations Commission particularly wanted some works of his in the
Capitol and had decided upon two 8 by 18 foot panels at the front of the Senate
Chamber. The problem they confronted, however, was the usual one of being
short of money—funds were appropriated to the Commission by each session of
the General Assembly. Therefore, the Commission prevailed upon a friend of
Millers to ask the artist if he would be willing to paint these murals.

The friend had dinner one evening with Miller and his wife and brought up
the subject. At first Miller was not too enthusiastic, but finally did agree—if the
fee was right. Then told that the most the Commission could pay for the two
murals was $12,000, Miller exploded.
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His usual fee was larger than that for only one of the paintings and
he insisted he would have nothing to do with the project.

But Miller’s wife, who had been listening but saying little, is said
to have joined the conversation at this point. She told Miller that
the state of Missouri was his native state and his home, it had been
good to them, that the new capitol was of outstanding beauty, and
that she wanted paintings of his to be a part of the permanent
decorations of the building.

The end result was that Miller not only painted those two murals
for the $12,000 the Commission could pay, but he also later agreed
to do two more for the same price.

It is these Miller murals that at this time, the Senate is having
cleaned and restored as a vital part of renovating and restoring the
Senate Chamber.

Of course much more can be said about this great building. But
Governor Arthur M. Hyde at the Capitol dedication ceremonies held
on October 6, 1924, said it this way:

“Here today are the persons who conceived the idea,
which they are so ably translating into actuality, of
adorning this capitol with noble works of art, thus making
it a memorial of the history, the achievements and the
aspirations of a great people, and creating here, not alone
a building which is the seat of government, but a shrine
for the lovers of history and art.

“And here is the building itself, noble in proportion,

beautiful in design, dignified and well poised in
architecture.
It seems to be not merely a pile of inanimate stone and
steel, but a living thing which speaks of the hopes of the
explorers and pioneers in homespun and leather, whose
feet first pressed the soil of this country and whose hands
wrought from the wilderness the magnificent domain
which is Missouri.

“It speaks of our history, of the record of service written
by our fathers in every field of human endeavor. It speaks
of these adventurous and intrepid sons of Missouri, who
have peopled the mountains and the plains of the West,
and have made Missouri known as “The Mother of States.”
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